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ADIENT PLC
DIRECTORS' REPORT

For the Financial Year Ended September 30, 2018

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended September 30, 
2018, which are set out on pages 52 to 114, and audited parent company financial statements for the financial year ended September 
30, 2018, which are set out on pages 115 to 123.

The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements of Adient plc and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred 
to as "Adient") in accordance with Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014 (the "Act"), which provides that a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs and profit or loss may be given by preparing the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), as defined in Section 279 of the Act, to the extent that the 
use of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements does not contravene any provision of the Act or of any 
regulations made thereunder.

The directors have elected to prepare the Adient plc parent company ("Parent Company") financial statements in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Ireland" ("FRS 102"), together 
with the Act.

DIRECTORS' COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

The directors acknowledge that they are responsible for securing the Parent Company’s compliance with its relevant 
obligations.

The directors confirm that the Parent Company has;

1. Drawn up a compliance policy statement setting out the Parent Company’s policies respecting compliance by the Parent 
Company with its relevant obligations.

2. Put in place appropriate arrangements or structures that are designed to secure material compliance with the Parent 
Company’s relevant obligations.

3. Conducted a review during fiscal 2018 of the arrangements and structures, referred to at 2 above.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with Irish law.

Irish law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year giving a true and fair view of Adient’s assets, 
liabilities and financial position at the end of the financial year and the profit or loss of Adient for the financial year. Under that 
law, the directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. accounting standards, as defined 
by Section 279(1) of the Act, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements does not 
contravene any provision of the Companies Act or of any regulations made thereunder and the Parent Company financial statements 
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and Irish law).

Under Irish law, the directors shall not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of Adient’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year and the profit or loss of Adient for the financial 
year.
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In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and identify 
the standards in question, subject to any material departures from those standards being disclosed and explained in the 
notes to the financial statements;

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that Adient will continue 
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to:

correctly record and explain the transactions of Adient;

enable, at any time, the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of Adient to be determined with reasonable 
accuracy; and

enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Act and enable those financial statements to 
be audited.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of Adient and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on Adient’s 
website. Legislation in Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.
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BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in United States dollars and reflect the consolidated operations of 
Adient. Unless otherwise indicated, references to 2018 and 2017 are to Adient's financial years ending September 30, 2018 (fiscal 
2018) and 2017 (fiscal 2017), respectively.

On October 31, 2016, Adient became an independent company as a result of the separation of the automotive seating and interiors 
businesses (the "separation") of Johnson Controls International plc ("the former Parent"). Adient was incorporated under the laws 
of Ireland on June 24, 2016 for the purpose of holding these businesses. Adient's ordinary shares began trading "regular-way" 
under the ticker symbol "ADNT" on the New York Stock Exchange on October 31, 2016. Upon becoming an independent company, 
the capital structure of Adient consisted of 500 million authorized ordinary shares and 100 million authorized preferred shares 
(par value of $0.001 per ordinary and preferred share). The number of Adient ordinary shares issued on October 31, 2016 was 
93,671,810.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Adient is a global leader in the automotive seating supply industry with leading market positions in the Americas, Europe and 
China and maintains longstanding relationships with the largest global automotive original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). 
Adient's proprietary technologies extend into virtually every area of automotive seating solutions, including complete seating 
systems, frames, mechanisms, foam, head restraints, armrests, trim covers and fabrics. Adient is a global seat supplier with the 
capability to design, develop, engineer, manufacture, and deliver complete seat systems and components in every major automotive 
producing region in the world. Adient also participates in the automotive interiors market, which includes production of instrument 
panels, floor consoles, door panels, overhead consoles, cockpit systems, decorative trim and other automotive interior products, 
primarily through its joint venture in China, Yanfeng Global Automotive Interior Systems Co., Ltd. (YFAI).

Adient designs, manufactures and markets a full range of seating systems and components for passenger cars, commercial vehicles 
and light trucks, including vans, pick-up trucks and sport/crossover utility vehicles. Adient also supplies high performance seating 
systems to the international motorsports industry through its award winning RECARO brand of products. Adient operates in 234 
wholly- and majority-owned manufacturing or assembly facilities, with operations in 34 countries. Additionally, Adient has 
partially-owned affiliates in China, Asia, Europe and North America. Through its global footprint, vertical integration and 
partnerships in China, Adient leverages its capabilities to drive growth in the automotive seating industry.  

Adient's business model is focused on developing and maintaining long-term customer relationships, which allows Adient to 
successfully grow with leading global OEMs. Adient and its engineers work closely with customers as vehicle platforms are 
developed, which results in close ties with key decision makers at OEM customers.

Business Organization and Strategy

Reportable Segments  Adient has three reportable segments: Seating, Seat Structures and Mechanisms ("SS&M") and Interiors. 
The Seating segment produces complete seat systems for automotive and other mobility applications, as well as certain components 
of complete seat systems, such as foam, trim and fabric. The SS&M segment produces seat structures and mechanisms for inclusion 
in complete seat systems that are produced by Adient or others. The Interiors segment, derived from Adient's global automotive 
interiors joint ventures, produces instrument panels, floor consoles, door panels, overhead consoles, cockpit systems, decorative 
trim and other products. These segments reflect the way Adient evaluates its business performance and manages its operations. 
Further information regarding Adient's reportable segments may be found in Note 21, "Segment Information," of the notes to 
consolidated financial statements.

Global Manufacturing Footprint  Adient is a global leader in automotive seating. With 85,000 employees operating in 234 
manufacturing and assembly plants in 34 countries worldwide, Adient produces and delivers automotive seating for all vehicle 
classes and all major OEMs. From complete seating systems to individual components, Adient’s manufacturing capabilities span 
every aspect of the automotive seat-making process. Integrated, in-house skills allows Adient to take products from research and 
design all the way to engineering and manufacturing and into more than 25 million vehicles every year.
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Operational Efficiencies  Adient intends to maintain high capacity utilization and increase its efficiency through continued use 
of standardized manufacturing processes, which represent a core competency. These standardized manufacturing processes allow 
Adient to deliver high quality levels and minimize waste. Adient achieves scale advantages through a global manufacturing footprint 
and an integrated supply chain. Adient fosters an environment of continuous improvement and identifies best business practices 
through the analysis of process and cost metrics, which are then shared globally throughout Adient's manufacturing network.

To ensure appropriate service levels, minimal inventory and optimal factory utilization, Adient employs a Sales & Operational 
Planning, or S&OP, process. A well-executed S&OP process provides two strategic advantages: focused customer service and on-
time delivery which result in both customer retention and the opportunity for market share gain.

Longstanding Customer Relationships with Leading Global OEMs  Adient works with OEMs to develop complete seating 
solutions to meet consumer expectations for performance, safety and comfort. Adient does business with all major global OEM 
customers, and in many cases, works closely with those customers to develop a seating solution integrated into the overall vehicle 
appearance and architecture. 

Through dedicated customer teams, Adient maintains close relationships with its global OEM customers. These relationships 
enable Adient to clearly understand its customers' needs so that it is positioned to meet its customers' requirements. Adient's 
customer teams also lead the new business acquisition process, which ensures alignment with Adient's product, process and 
manufacturing strategies.

Product Innovation and Process Leadership  Adient has a strong record for developing winning product and process technologies 
over many years, which has created a competitive advantage for Adient and its customers. Management expects to increase 
investment in innovation. 

Adient utilizes a Global Core Product Portfolio, or CPP, strategy for part and design reuse in all of its product applications. Adient 
intends to continue investing in its CPP to sustain and expand its market success and to leverage its existing modular and scalable 
systems and interchangeable components. Through the CPP strategy, Adient provides high quality products for its customers with 
market competitive cost and mass (low weight to improve fuel economy) while meeting their performance requirements. Adient 
continues to use its CPP to advance Adient's lean manufacturing initiatives by providing standard, flexible processes that reduce 
complexity, inventory and floor space. This will yield reductions in development time, product cost and investment.

Global Development Network  Adient participates in innovating and developing key competitive differentiators in the automotive 
seating business. In the development process, key downstream elements of the product are locked in, including material costs, 
plant conversion costs, quality characteristics and certain technical requirements. Adient uses a common product development 
process globally that ensures that these elements are correct at the outset of the development process, reflects the best practices 
of Adient's operations worldwide and meets the expectations of Adient's diverse customer base. Its product launch system is 
customizable and scalable based on customer and product requirements.

Adient's worldwide engineering network includes ten core development centers. These development centers utilize a globally 
consistent approach to the process for developing seating products. By leveraging a network of subject matter technical experts, 
Adient efficiently implements best practices and improves product cost and quality. Adient's product development practices also 
entail leveraging low cost country development centers in India, China and Slovakia.

Development Centers
Plymouth (USA) Trencin (Slovakia)

Burscheid (Germany) Yokohama (Japan)
Solingen (Germany) Shanghai (China)

Kaiserslautern (Germany) Changchun (China)
Ansan (South Korea) Pune (India)

Leadership Position in China  Adient has an advantaged  position in China established through strategic partnerships it developed 
as an early market entrant. Adient is a leading supplier of "just-in-time" seating in China. It operates through 21 joint ventures 
with 79 manufacturing locations in 41 cities, which are supported by additional technical centers. Adient's strong position with 
European and American automakers is complemented by partnerships with all major auto groups in China, which has resulted in 
Adient's broad market penetration relative to seating competitors and market leadership in the industry's largest market. Adient 
leverages its operating expertise and innovation capabilities developed worldwide to further support its growth in China.
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Platform for Global Growth  Adient's current global platform creates multiple opportunities for growth, such as:

• Market share expansion in seating and seating components. Adient has relationships with global OEM customers. These 
relationships, combined with Adient's product offerings, enhance Adient's ability to expand its business with regional 
customers who are growing and expanding globally and also with new entrants to the automotive market.

• Regional growth opportunities. Adient is able to leverage its position as the market leader in Europe, North America and 
China to grow in other markets, such as Southeast Asia.

• Vertical integration. Adient's operations provide opportunities for continued vertical integration in areas that could enhance 
Adient's capabilities, expand profit margins and grow revenues with customers who employ component sourcing 
strategies.

Research and Development Costs

Expenditures for research activities relating to product development and improvement (other than those expenditures that are 
contractually guaranteed for reimbursement from the customer) are charged against income as incurred and included within selling, 
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income. Such expenditures for the years ended September 
30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $513 million, $488 million and $460 million, respectively. A portion of these costs associated with 
these activities are reimbursed by customers and, for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $298 million, 
$350 million and $308 million, respectively.

Product/Systems

Adient designs and manufactures a full range of seating systems and components for passenger cars, commercial vehicles and 
light trucks, including vans, pick-up trucks and sport/crossover utility vehicles. Adient's technologies extend into virtually every 
area of automotive seating solutions including complete seating systems, frames, mechanisms, foam, head restraints, armrests, 
trim covers and fabrics. Adient also supplies high performance seating systems to the international motorsports industry through 
its award winning RECARO brand of products.

Customers

Adient is a supplier to all of the global OEMs and has longstanding relationships with premier automotive manufacturers, including 
BMW, Daimler AG, Fiat Chrysler Automobiles, Ford Motor Company, General Motors Company, Honda Motor Company, Hyundai 
Motor Company, Jaguar Land Rover, Kia Motor Company, Mazda Motor Company, Mitsubishi Motors, Nissan Motor Company, 
PSA Peugeot Citroen, Renault, Suzuki, Toyota Motor Corporation, Volkswagen AG and Volvo. Adient also supplies most of the 
growing regional OEMs such as BAIC Motor Co., Ltd., Brilliance Auto Group, Changan Automobile (Group) Co., Ltd., FAW 
Group Corporation, Great Wall Motors Company Limited, SAIC Motor Corporation Limited, Tata Motors Limited and Zhejiang 
Geely Holding Group Co., Ltd and newer auto manufacturers such as Tesla Motors, Inc. Additionally, Adient has more than 20 
joint venture partnerships with key OEMs, including SAIC Motor Corporation Limited, Beijing Automobile Works Co., Ltd. and 
FAW Group Corporation. Further details regarding Adient's customers is provided in Note 1, "Basis of Presentation and Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies," of the notes to consolidated financial statements.

Industry

The Automotive Seating industry provides OEMs with complete seats on a "just-in-time" or "in-sequence" basis. Seats are 
assembled to specific order and delivered on a predetermined schedule directly to an automotive assembly line. The components 
for these complete seat assemblies such as seating foam, metal structures, fabrics, seat covers and seat mechanisms are shipped 
to Adient or competitor seating assembly plants. Adient is a global leader in complete seat assembly and one of the largest in all 
major seating components, operating manufacturing plants that produce seating foam, metal structures, fabrics, seat covers and 
seat mechanisms.

Demand for automotive parts in the OEM market is generally a function of the number of new vehicles produced, which is primarily 
driven by macro-economic factors such as credit availability, interest rates, fuel prices, consumer confidence, employment and 
other trends. Although OEM demand is tied to actual vehicle production, participants in the automotive supplier industry also 
have the opportunity to grow through increasing product content per vehicle by further penetrating business with existing customers 
and in existing markets, gaining new customers and increasing their presence in global markets. Adient believes that, as a company 
with a global presence and advanced technology, engineering, manufacturing and customer support capabilities, it is well positioned 
to benefit from these opportunities. 
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Sourcing Patterns by OEMs Most OEMs have adopted global vehicle platforms to increase standardization, reduce per unit cost 
and increase capital efficiency and profitability. In seating, three sourcing patterns have emerged over the past five years:

1. Core seat structures: By developing common front seat frames and mechanisms across multiple vehicle platforms, 
OEMs are reducing costs. 

2. Component sourcing: Several OEMs have shifted from sourcing a complete seating system to a components approach 
where the OEM sources each of the different components of the seat and seating assembly as separate business awards. 

3. Engineering "in-sourcing": Some OEMs are conducting the design and engineering internally and are selecting suppliers 
that have the capability to manufacture products on a worldwide basis and adapt to regional variations. 

As a supplier with global scale and strong design, engineering and lean manufacturing capabilities in both complete seat systems 
and components Adient is well-positioned to accommodate each of these three sourcing pattern developments. 

Shorter Product Development Cycles  As a result of new safety and environmental regulations, as well as a trend of more rapid 
customer preference changes, OEMs are requiring suppliers to respond faster with new designs and product innovations. Although 
these trends are more significant in mature markets, emerging markets are moving rapidly towards the regulatory standards and 
consumer preferences of the more mature markets. Suppliers with strong technologies, robust global engineering and development 
capabilities will be best positioned to meet OEM demands for rapid innovation.

Autonomous Driving As the industry moves towards autonomous driving and alternative usage models such as car sharing and 
urban mobility, Adient has developed an interiors concept for autonomous driving which addresses major seating and other interior 
trends that are expected to drive the automotive industry of the future. Adient will continue to partner with OEMs and other 
customers in the development of autonomous driving concepts.

Competition

Adient faces competition from other automotive suppliers and, with respect to certain products, from the automobile OEMs who 
produce or have the capability to produce certain products the business supplies. The automotive supply industry competes on the 
basis of technology, quality, reliability of supply and price. Design, engineering and product planning are increasingly important 
factors. The competitive landscape for seating and components can be categorized into three segments: (1) traditional seating 
suppliers, (2) component specialists and (3) competitors who are partnered with an OEM through ownership or interlocking 
business relationships. Independent suppliers that represent the principal competitors of Adient include Lear Corporation, 
Faurecia SA and Magna International Inc. The businesses operated through YFAI primarily compete with Faurecia SA, Grupo 
Antolin-Irausa SA and International Automotive Components Group SA. Adient's deep vertical integration, global footprint and 
broad product offering make it well positioned to compete against the traditional global Tier-1's and component specialists.

Raw Materials

Raw materials used by Adient in connection with its operations, including steel, aluminum, polyurethane chemicals, fabrics, leather, 
vinyl and polypropylene, were available during fiscal 2018, and Adient expects such availability to continue. During fiscal 2019, 
commodity prices could fluctuate throughout the year and significantly affect Adient's results of operations.

Intellectual Property

Generally, Adient seeks statutory protection for strategic or financially important intellectual property developed in connection 
with its business. Certain intellectual property, where appropriate, is protected by contracts, licenses, confidentiality or other 
agreements.

Adient owns numerous U.S. and non-U.S. patents (and their respective counterparts), the more important of which cover those 
technologies and inventions embodied in current products or which are used in the manufacture of those products. While Adient 
believes patents are important to its business operations and in the aggregate constitute a valuable asset, no single patent, or group 
of patents, is critical to the success of the business. Adient, from time to time, grants licenses under its patents and technology and 
receives licenses under patents and technology of others.

Adient's trademarks, certain of which are material to its business, are registered or otherwise legally protected in the United States 
and many non-U.S. countries where products and services of Adient are sold. Adient, from time to time, becomes involved in 
trademark licensing transactions.
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Most works of authorship produced for Adient, such as computer programs, catalogs and sales literature, carry appropriate notices 
indicating Adient's claim to copyright protection under U.S. law and appropriate international treaties.

Regulation

Adient operates in a constantly evolving global regulatory environment and is subject to numerous and varying regulatory 
requirements for its product performance and material content. Adient's practice is to identify potential regulatory and quality risks 
early in the design and development process and proactively manage them throughout the product lifecycle through use of routine 
assessments, protocols, standards, performance measures and audits. New regulations and changes to existing regulations are 
managed in collaboration with the OEM customers and implemented through Adient's global systems and procedures designed 
to ensure compliance with existing laws and regulations. Adient demonstrates material content compliance through the International 
Material Data System, or IMDS, which is the automotive industry material data system. In the IMDS, all materials used for car 
manufacturing are archived and maintained, in order to meet the obligations placed on the car manufacturers-and thus on their 
suppliers-by national and international standards, laws and regulations.

Adient works collaboratively with a number of stakeholder groups including government agencies (e.g., National Highway Traffic 
Safety Administration), its customers and its suppliers to proactively engage in federal, state and international public policy 
processes.

Environmental, Health and Safety Matters

Adient is involved in various lawsuits, claims and proceedings incident to the operation of its businesses, including those pertaining 
to product liability, environmental, safety and health, intellectual property, employment, commercial and contractual matters, and 
various other matters. Although the outcome of such lawsuits, claims and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and some 
may be disposed of unfavorably to Adient, it is management's opinion that none of these will have a material adverse effect on 
Adient's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Costs related to such matters were not material to the periods 
presented. Further details regarding Adient's commitments and contingencies is provided in Note 23, "Commitments and 
Contingencies," of the notes to consolidated financial statements.

Employees

As of September 30, 2018, Adient employed approximately 85,000 employees, of whom approximately 70,000 were hourly and 
15,000 were salaried.

Seasonal Factors

Adient's principal operations are directly related to the automotive industry. Consequently, Adient may experience seasonal 
fluctuations to the extent automotive vehicle production slows, such as in the summer months when many customer plants close 
for model year changeovers and in December when many customer plants close for the holidays.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS FOR FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This document contains forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, 
that involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events based on certain 
assumptions and include any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Forward-looking statements 
can also be identified by words such as "future," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "plans," "predicts," 
"will," "would," "could," "can," "may," or similar terms. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance 
and Adient's actual results may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Adient cautions 
that these statements are subject to numerous important risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors, some of which are 
beyond Adient’s control, that could cause Adient’s actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements, including, among others, risks related to: effectively launch new business at forecasted and profitable 
levels, the impact of tax reform legislation through the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, uncertainties in U.S. administrative policy regarding 
trade agreements, tariffs and other international trade relations, the ability of Adient to execute turnaround actions, the ability of 
Adient to identify, recruit and retain key leadership, the ability of Adient to meet debt service requirements, the ability and terms 
of financing, general economic and business conditions, the strength of the U.S. or other economies, automotive vehicle production 
levels, mix and schedules, energy and commodity prices, the availability of raw materials and component products, currency 
exchange rates, the ability of Adient to fully integrate the Futuris business, cancellation of or changes to commercial arrangements, 
and the ability of Adient Aerospace to successfully implement its strategic initiatives or realize the expected benefits of the joint 
venture. Factors that might cause differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed under the heading "Principal Risks 
and Uncertainties," which are incorporated herein by reference. All information presented herein is based on the Adient's fiscal 
calendar. Unless otherwise stated, references to particular years, quarters, months or periods refer to Adient's fiscal years ended 
in September and the associated quarters, months and periods of those fiscal years. Adient assumes no obligation to revise or 
update any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as required by law. 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks Related to Adient's Business

Adient operates in the highly competitive automotive supply industry.

The global automotive component supply industry is highly competitive. Competition is based primarily on price, technology, 
quality, delivery and overall customer service. There can be no assurance that Adient's products will be able to compete successfully 
with the products of Adient's competitors. Furthermore, the rapidly evolving nature of the markets in which Adient competes, 
including as a result of the autonomous vehicle market and consumer preferences for mobility on demand services, such as car- 
and ride-sharing, may attract new entrants. Additionally, consolidation in the automotive industry may lead to decreased product 
purchases from Adient. 

As a result, Adient's sales levels and margins could be adversely affected by pricing pressures from OEMs and pricing actions of 
competitors. These factors may lead to selective resourcing of business to competitors. Adient's competitors may develop, design 
or duplicate technologies that compete with Adient's owned or licensed intellectual property. Developments or assertions by or 
against Adient relating to intellectual property rights, or any inability to protect Adient's rights, could have an adverse impact on 
its business and competitive position. In addition, any of Adient's competitors may foresee the course of market development more 
accurately than Adient, develop products that are superior to Adient's products, produce similar products at a lower cost than 
Adient, or adapt more quickly than Adient to new technologies or evolving customer requirements. As a result, Adient's products 
may not be able to compete successfully with its competitors' products and Adient may not be able to meet the growing demands 
of customers. These trends may adversely affect Adient's sales as well as the profit margins on Adient's products.

Unfavorable changes in the condition of the global automotive industry may adversely affect Adient's results of operations.

Adient's financial performance will depend, in part, on conditions in the automotive industry. If automakers experience a decline 
in the number of new vehicle sales, Adient may experience reductions in orders from these customers, incur write-offs of accounts 
receivable, incur impairment charges or require additional restructuring actions beyond its current restructuring plans, particularly 
if any of the automakers cannot adequately fund their operations or experience financial distress. Such adverse changes likely 
would have a negative impact on Adient's business, financial condition or results of operations.
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General economic, credit and capital market conditions could adversely affect Adient's financial performance, Adient's ability 
to grow or sustain its businesses and Adient's ability to access the capital markets. 

Adient competes around the world in various geographic regions and product markets. Global economic conditions affect Adient's 
business. As discussed in greater detail below, any future financial distress in the industries and/or markets where Adient competes 
could negatively affect Adient's revenues and financial performance in future periods, result in future restructuring charges, and 
adversely impact Adient's ability to grow or sustain its businesses.

The capital and credit markets provide Adient with liquidity to operate and grow its business beyond the liquidity that operating 
cash flows provide. A worldwide economic downturn and/or disruption of the credit markets likely would reduce Adient's access 
to capital necessary for its operations and executing its strategic plan. If Adient's access to capital were to become constrained 
significantly, or if costs of capital increased significantly, due to lowered credit ratings, prevailing industry conditions, the volatility 
of the capital markets or other factors, Adient's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows likely would be adversely 
affected.

The U.K.'s June 2016 referendum to leave the European Union, which we refer to as "Brexit," has caused and may continue to 
cause disruptions to capital and currency markets worldwide. On March 29, 2017, the U.K. invoked Article 50 of the Treaty of 
the European union, which provides a two-year time period through March 2019 for the U.K. and the remaining European Union 
countries to negotiate a withdrawal agreement. As the exit date of March 29, 2019 approaches, significant uncertainty remains as 
to the terms of the U.K.'s withdrawal from the European Union and the effects of Brexit, as discussions between relevant stakeholders 
continue. Adient's results of operations and access to capital may be negatively affected by interest rate, exchange rate and other 
market and economic volatility, as well as regulatory and political uncertainty. Brexit may also have a detrimental effect on Adient's 
customers and suppliers, which would, in turn, adversely affect Adient's revenues and financial condition. In addition, Brexit may 
result in legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as new legal relationships between the U.K. and 
the European Union are established.

Changes in U.S. administrative policy, including changes to existing trade agreements and any resulting changes in 
international trade relations, may have a material adverse effect on Adient. 

As a result of changes to U.S. administrative policy, there may be changes to existing trade agreements, like the North American 
Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) and its anticipated successor agreement, the U.S.-Mexico-Canada Agreement (“USMCA”) which 
is still subject to approval by the U.S., Mexico and Canada, greater restrictions on free trade generally, and significant increases 
in tariffs on goods imported into the U.S., particularly tariffs on products manufactured in Mexico, among other possible changes. 
It remains unclear what the U.S. administration or foreign governments, including China, will or will not do with respect to tariffs, 
NAFTA, USMCA or other international trade agreements and policies. A trade war, other governmental action related to tariffs 
or international trade agreements, changes in U.S. social, political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws and policies 
governing foreign trade, manufacturing, development and investment in the territories and countries where Adient currently 
manufactures and sells products, and any resulting negative sentiments towards the U.S. as a result of such changes, likely would 
have an adverse effect on Adient's business, financial condition or results of operations.

Adient's profitability and results of operations may be adversely affected by a significant failure or inability to comply with the 
specifications and manufacturing requirements of its OEM customers. 

Adient's business faces the production demands and requirements of its OEM customers, as described in Business Organization 
and Strategy above. A significant failure or inability to comply with customer specifications and manufacturing requirements or 
delays or other problems with existing or new products (including program launch difficulties, as discussed below) could result 
in financial penalties, increased costs, loss of sales, loss of customers or potential breaches of customer contracts, which could 
have a material adverse effect on Adient's profitability and results of operations. 

Adient's profitability and results of operations may be adversely affected by program launch difficulties. 

The launch of new business is a complex process, the success of which depends on a wide range of factors, including the production 
readiness of Adient's and its suppliers' manufacturing facilities and manufacturing processes, as well as factors related to tooling, 
equipment, employees, initial product quality and other factors. Adient's failure to successfully launch material new or takeover 
business, or Adient's inability to accurately estimate the cost to design, develop and launch new or takeover business, likely would 
have an adverse effect on Adient's profitability and results of operations. During recent periods, Adient had significant product 
launches including many complex global product launches, which burdened the organization from both a time and cost perspective 
and resulted in a diversion of resources to address product launches.
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To the extent Adient is not able to successfully launch material new or takeover business, vehicle production at Adient’s customers 
could be significantly delayed or shut down. Such situations could result in significant financial penalties to Adient, a diversion 
of personnel and financial resources to improving launches rather than investment in continuous process improvement or other 
growth initiatives, and could result in Adient’s customers shifting work away from Adient to a competitor, all of which could result 
in loss of revenue, loss of market share and likely would have an adverse effect on Adient’s profitability and cash flows.

Adient may not be able to successfully negotiate pricing terms with its customers, which may adversely affect its results of 
operations. 

Adient negotiates sales price adjustments periodically with its automotive customers. There is no guarantee that Adient will be 
able to successfully negotiate pricing terms that are favorable or beneficial to Adient. Further, any cost-cutting initiatives that its 
customers adopt generally result in increased downward pressure on pricing. If Adient is unable to generate sufficient production 
or supply chain cost savings in the future to offset price reductions, Adient's results of operations may be adversely affected. In 
particular, large commercial settlements with Adient's customers likely would adversely affect Adient's results of operations.

Adient's inability to achieve product cost reductions that offset customer-imposed price reductions could adversely affect 
Adient's financial performance. 

Downward pricing pressure by automotive manufacturers is a characteristic of the automotive industry. Adient's financial 
performance is largely dependent on its ability to achieve product cost reductions through product design enhancement and supply 
chain management, as well as manufacturing efficiencies and restructuring actions. Adient's inability to achieve product cost 
reductions that offset customer-imposed price reductions likely would adversely affect Adient's financial condition, operating 
results and cash flows.

A variety of other factors could adversely affect Adient's results of operations. 

Any of the following could adversely impact Adient's results of operations: the inability of Adient to execute turnaround actions 
to improve profitability; the loss of, or changes in, automobile supply contracts, sourcing strategies or customer claims with Adient's 
major customers or suppliers; lack of commodity availability and unfavorable commodity pricing; start-up expenses associated 
with new vehicle programs or delays or cancellations of such programs; underutilization of Adient's manufacturing facilities, 
which are generally located near, and devoted to, a particular customer's facility; inability to recover engineering and tooling costs; 
market and financial consequences of any recalls that may be required on products that Adient has supplied or sold into the 
automotive aftermarket; delays or difficulties in new product development and integration; quantity and complexity of new program 
launches, which are subject to Adient's customers' timing, performance, design and quality standards; interruption of supply of 
certain single-source components; the potential introduction of similar or superior technologies; changing nature and prevalence 
of Adient's joint ventures and relationships with its strategic business partners; and global overcapacity and vehicle platform 
proliferation.

Adient may be unable to realize the expected benefits of its restructuring actions, which could adversely affect its profitability 
and operations.

In order to align Adient's resources with its strategies, operate more efficiently and control costs and to realign its businesses, with 
customer and market needs and operating conditions, Adient may periodically announce restructuring plans, which may include 
workforce reductions, global plant closures and consolidations, asset impairments and other cost reduction initiatives. In each of 
the last three fiscal years, Adient announced restructurings related to cost reduction initiatives, which included workforce reductions, 
plant closures and asset impairments. Adient may undertake additional restructuring actions, including plant closures and workforce 
reductions in the future. As these plans and actions are complex, unforeseen factors could result in expected savings and benefits 
to be delayed or not realized to the full extent planned (if at all), and Adient's operations and business may be disrupted, and likely 
would adversely affect Adient's financial condition, operating results and cash flow.

Risks associated with Adient's non-U.S. operations could adversely affect Adient's business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Adient has significant operations in a number of countries outside the United States, some of which are located in emerging 
markets. Long-term economic uncertainty in some of the regions of the world in which Adient operates, such as Asia, South 
America and Europe and other emerging markets, could result in the disruption of markets and negatively affect cash flows from 
Adient's operations to cover its capital needs and debt service requirements.
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In addition, as a result of Adient's global presence, a significant portion of its revenues and expenses is denominated in currencies 
other than the U.S. dollar. Adient is therefore subject to foreign currency risks and foreign exchange exposure. While Adient 
employs financial instruments to hedge some of its transactional foreign exchange exposure, these activities do not insulate Adient 
completely from those exposures. Exchange rates can be volatile and could adversely impact Adient's financial results and the 
comparability of results from period to period.

There are other risks that are inherent in Adient's non-U.S. operations, including the potential for changes in socio-economic 
conditions, laws and regulations, including import, export, labor and environmental laws, and monetary and fiscal policies; 
protectionist measures that may prohibit acquisitions or joint ventures, or impact trade volumes; unsettled political conditions; 
government-imposed plant or other operational shutdowns; backlash from foreign labor organizations related to Adient's 
restructuring actions; corruption; natural and man-made disasters, hazards and losses; violence, civil and labor unrest; and possible 
terrorist attacks.

These and other factors may have an adverse effect on Adient's non-U.S. operations and therefore on Adient's business and results 
of operations.

The regulation of Adient's international operations, and any failure of Adient to comply with those regulations, could adversely 
affect its business, results of operations and reputation. 

Due to Adient's global operations, Adient is subject to many laws governing international relations and its international operations, 
including laws that prohibit improper payments to government officials and commercial customers and that restrict where Adient 
can do business, what information or products Adient can import and export to and from certain countries and what information 
Adient can provide to a non-U.S. government. These laws include but are not limited to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act 
(FCPA), the Irish Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, the U.S. Export Administration Act and U.S. 
and international economic sanctions and money laundering regulations. Adient has internal policies and procedures relating to 
compliance with such regulations; however, there is a risk that such policies and procedures will not always protect Adient from 
the improper acts of employees, agents, business partners, joint venture partners or representatives, particularly in the case of 
recently acquired operations that may not have significant training in applicable compliance policies and procedures. Violations 
of these laws, which are complex, may result in criminal penalties, sanctions and/or fines that could have an adverse effect on 
Adient's business, financial condition and results of operations and reputation. In addition, Adient is subject to antitrust laws in 
various countries throughout the world. Changes in these laws or their interpretation, administration or enforcement may occur 
over time. Any such changes may limit Adient's future acquisitions, divestitures or operations. Violations of antitrust laws may 
result in penalties, sanctions and/or fines, and may also result in costly and time-consuming governmental investigations, any or 
all of which could have an adverse effect on Adient's business, financial condition and results of operations and reputation.

Adient's business in China is subject to aggressive competition and is sensitive to economic and market conditions. 

Maintaining a strong position in the Chinese market is a key component of Adient's strategy. Adient's business in China is conducted 
primarily through joint ventures. The automotive supply market in China is highly competitive, with competition from many of 
the largest global manufacturers and numerous smaller domestic manufacturers. As the size of the Chinese market evolves, Adient 
anticipates that market participants will act aggressively to increase or maintain their market share. Increased competition may 
result in price reductions, reduced margins and Adient's inability to gain or hold market share. Adient's business in China is sensitive 
to economic, political and market conditions that drive automotive sales volumes in China. If Adient is unable to maintain its 
position in the Chinese market or if vehicle sales in China decrease or do not continue to increase, then Adient's business and 
financial results may be adversely affected.

A failure of Adient's information technology (IT) and data security infrastructure could adversely impact Adient's business, 
operations and reputation.

Adient relies upon the capacity, reliability and security of its IT and data security infrastructure, as well as its ability to expand 
and continually update this infrastructure in response to the changing needs of its business. If Adient experiences a problem with 
the functioning of an important IT system or a security breach of Adient's IT systems, including during system upgrades and/or 
new system implementations, the resulting disruptions could have an adverse effect on Adient's business.

Adient and certain of its third-party vendors receive and store personal information in connection with Adient's human resources 
operations and other aspects of Adient's business. Despite Adient's implementation of security measures, Adient's IT systems, like 
those of other companies, are vulnerable to damages from computer viruses, natural disasters, unauthorized access, cyber-attack 
and other similar disruptions. Any system failure, accident or security breach could result in disruptions to Adient's operations. A 
material network breach in the security of Adient's IT systems could include the theft of Adient's intellectual property, trade secrets, 
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customer information, human resources information or other confidential information. To the extent that any disruptions or security 
breach results in a loss or damage to Adient's data, or an inappropriate disclosure of confidential, proprietary or customer 
information, it could cause significant damage to Adient's reputation, affect Adient's relationships with its customers, lead to claims 
against Adient and ultimately harm its business. In addition, Adient may be required to incur significant costs to protect against 
damage caused by these disruptions or security breaches in the future.

In addition, legislators and/or regulators in countries in which we operate are increasingly adopting or revising privacy, information 
security and data protection laws. In particular, the European Union's General Data Protection Regulation, which became effective 
on May 25, 2018, has extra-territorial scope and substantial fines for breaches. Violations of such regulations may result in penalties, 
sanctions and/or fines, and may also result in costly and time-consuming governmental investigations, any or all of which could 
have an adverse effect on Adient's business, financial condition and results of operations and reputation.

Negative or unexpected tax consequences could adversely affect Adient's results of operations.

Adverse changes in the underlying profitability and financial outlook of Adient's operations in several jurisdictions could lead to 
additional changes in Adient's valuation allowances against deferred tax assets and other tax reserves on Adient's statements of 
financial position. Additionally, changes in tax laws in Ireland, the U.S. or in other countries where Adient has significant operations 
could materially affect deferred tax assets and liabilities on Adient's statements of financial position and income tax provision on 
Adient's statements of income.

Adient is also subject to tax audits by governmental authorities on a worldwide basis. Negative unexpected results from one or 
more such tax audits could adversely affect Adient's results of operations.

Adient may be unable to complete or integrate acquisitions or joint ventures effectively, which may adversely affect its growth, 
profitability and results of operations.

Adient expects acquisitions of businesses and assets, as well as joint ventures (or other strategic arrangements) to play a role in 
its future growth. Adient cannot be certain that it will be able to identify attractive acquisition or joint venture targets, obtain 
financing for acquisitions on satisfactory terms, successfully acquire identified targets or form joint ventures, or manage the timing 
of acquisitions due to other capital obligations across its businesses. Additionally, Adient may not be successful in integrating 
acquired businesses or joint ventures into its existing operations and achieving projected synergies. Specifically, on September 
22, 2017, Adient completed its acquisition of automotive seating manufacturing Futuris Global Holdings, LLC. Among other risks, 
failure to fully integrate Futuris, the possibility that the expected synergies and value creation from the acquisition of Futuris will 
not be realized or will not be realized at expected levels or within the expected time period, or the likelihood that consummation 
of the acquisition of Futuris will make it difficult for Adient to consummate other material and/or strategically advantageous 
acquisitions or investments in the near term may have an adverse impact on Adient's growth, profitability, financial position and 
results of operations. Furthermore, competition for acquisition opportunities in the various industries in which Adient operates 
may rise, thereby increasing Adient's costs of making acquisitions or causing Adient to refrain from making further acquisitions. 
If Adient were to use equity securities to finance a future acquisition, Adient's then-current shareholders would experience dilution. 
Adient is also subject to applicable antitrust laws and must avoid anticompetitive behavior. These and other factors related to 
acquisitions and joint ventures may negatively and adversely impact Adient's growth, profitability and results of operations.

Adient may pursue strategic transactions and investments that have risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect its 
results of operations and financial condition.

Adient has completed an acquisition, made investments and entered into other strategic initiatives and may pursue additional 
transactions and initiatives. Although management believes that these transactions and initiatives will provide financial, operational 
and other benefits to Adient and Adient's shareholders, they may not provide such results on the scope or scale management 
anticipates, and Adient may not realize any or all of the intended benefits. These transactions and initiatives involve risks and 
uncertainties and could divert management’s attention from Adient's business or cause a temporary interruption of or loss of 
momentum in Adient's business and the loss of key personnel.  If the intended benefits of these transactions and investments are 
not realized, Adient's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows could be adversely impacted.
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Increases in the costs and restrictions on the availability of raw materials, energy, commodities and product components 
could adversely affect Adient's financial performance.

Raw material, energy and commodity costs can be volatile. Although Adient has developed and implemented strategies to mitigate 
the impact of higher raw material, energy and commodity costs, these strategies, together with commercial negotiations with 
Adient's customers and suppliers, typically offset only a portion of the adverse impact. Certain of these strategies also may limit 
Adient's opportunities in a declining commodity environment. In addition, the availability of raw materials, commodities and 
product components fluctuates from time to time due to factors outside of Adient's control. If the costs of raw materials, energy, 
commodities and product components increase or the availability thereof is restricted, it could adversely affect Adient's financial 
condition, operating results and cash flows.

Risks associated with joint venture partnerships may adversely affect Adient's business and financial results.

Adient has entered into several joint ventures worldwide and may enter into additional joint ventures in the future. Adient's joint 
venture partners may at any time have economic, business or legal interests or goals that are inconsistent with Adient's goals or 
with the goals of the joint venture. Adient may compete against its joint venture partners in certain of its markets and certain 
negotiations with its customers may negatively impact its joint venture business with those same customers. Disagreements with 
Adient's business partners may impede Adient's ability to maximize the benefits of its partnerships. Adient's joint venture 
arrangements may require Adient, among other matters, to pay certain costs or to make certain capital investments or to seek its 
joint venture partner's consent to take certain actions. Adient does not control the ability to collect cash dividends from its 
nonconsolidated joint ventures. Delays in the collection of dividends, even by a few days, could adversely effect Adient's financial 
position and cash flows. Adient's joint venture partners may be unable or unwilling to meet their economic or other obligations 
under the operative documents, and Adient may be required to either fulfill those obligations alone to ensure the ongoing success 
of a joint venture or to dissolve and liquidate a joint venture. Further, joint venture partnerships are subject to renewal or expiration 
at various times, specifically including the need to renew the Yanfeng Adient Seating Co., Ltd. joint venture by the end of 2022. 
While Adient maintains good relationships with its partners, at the time of any required renewal Adient may not be able to negotiate 
a renewal or extension of the terms of the joint venture partnership on terms favorable to Adient or at all. The above risks, if 
realized, could result in an adverse effect on Adient's business and financial results.

If Adient does not respond appropriately, the evolution of the automotive industry towards autonomous vehicles and 
mobility on demand services could adversely affect Adient’s business.

The automotive industry is increasingly focused on the development of advanced driver assistance technologies, with the goal of 
developing and introducing a commercially-viable, fully automated driving experience. There has also been an increase in consumer 
preferences for mobility on demand services, such as car- and ride-sharing, as opposed to automobile ownership, which may result 
in a long term reduction in the number of vehicles per capita. These evolving areas have also attracted increased competition from 
entrants outside the traditional automotive industry. If Adient does not continue to innovate to develop or acquire new and compelling 
products that capitalize upon new technologies in response to OEM and consumer preferences, this could have an adverse impact 
on Adient’s results of operations.

The cyclicality of original equipment automobile production rates may adversely affect Adient's results of operations.

The financial performance of Adient's business is directly related to automotive production by its customers. Automotive production 
and sales are highly cyclical and depend on general economic conditions and other factors, including consumer spending and 
preferences. An economic decline that results in a reduction in automotive production by Adient's customers likely would have 
an adverse impact on Adient's results of operations.

Adient may incur material losses and costs as a result of warranty claims and product liability actions that may be brought 
against Adient.

Adient faces an inherent business risk of exposure to warranty claims and product liability in the event that its products fail to 
perform as expected and, in the case of product liability, such failure of its products results, or is alleged to result, in bodily injury 
and/or property damage. If any of Adient's products are or are alleged to be defective, Adient may be required to participate in a 
recall involving such products. As suppliers become more integrally involved in the vehicle design process and assume more of 
the vehicle assembly functions, auto manufacturers are increasingly looking to their suppliers for contribution when faced with 
recalls and product liability claims. A recall claim brought against Adient, or a product liability claim brought against Adient in 
excess of its available insurance, could have an adverse impact on Adient's results of operations. In addition, a recall claim could 
require Adient to review its entire product portfolio to assess whether similar issues are present in other product lines, which could 
result in significant disruption to Adient's business and could have an adverse impact on Adient's results of operations.
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Auto manufacturers are also increasingly requiring their suppliers to guarantee or warrant their products and bear the costs of 
repair and replacement of such products under new vehicle warranties. Depending on the terms under which Adient supplies 
products to an auto manufacturer, an auto manufacturer may attempt to hold Adient responsible for some or all of the repair or 
replacement costs of defective products under new vehicle warranties, when the vehicle manufacturer asserts that the product 
supplied did not perform as warranted. 

Although Adient cannot assure that the future costs of warranty claims by its customers and product liability claims will not be 
material, Adient believes its established reserves are adequate to cover potential settlements. Adient's reserves are based on Adient's 
best estimates of amounts necessary to settle future and existing claims. Adient regularly evaluates the level of these reserves, and 
adjusts them when appropriate. However, the final amounts determined to be due related to these matters could differ materially 
from Adient's recorded estimates.

Any changes in consumer credit availability or cost of borrowing could adversely affect Adient's business.

Declines in the availability of consumer credit and increases in consumer borrowing costs have negatively impacted global 
automotive sales and resulted in lower production volumes in the past. Substantial declines in automotive sales and production 
by Adient's customers likely would have an adverse effect on Adient's business, results of operations and financial condition.

Global climate change could negatively affect Adient's business.

Increased public awareness and concern regarding global climate change may result in more regional and/or federal requirements 
to reduce or mitigate the effects of greenhouse gas emissions. There continues to be a lack of consistent climate legislation, which 
creates economic and regulatory uncertainty. Such regulatory uncertainty extends to future incentives for energy efficient vehicles 
and costs of compliance, which may impact the demand for Adient's products and Adient's results of operations.

There is a growing consensus that greenhouse gas emissions are linked to global climate changes. Climate changes, such as extreme 
weather conditions, create financial risk to Adient's business. For example, the demand for Adient's products and services may be 
affected by unseasonable weather conditions. Climate changes could also disrupt Adient's operations by impacting the availability 
and cost of materials needed for manufacturing and could increase insurance and other operating costs. These factors may impact 
Adient's decisions to construct new facilities or maintain existing facilities in areas most prone to physical climate risks. Adient 
could also face indirect financial risks passed through the supply chain, and process disruptions due to physical climate changes 
could result in price modifications for Adient's products and the resources needed to produce them.

Risks related to Adient's defined benefit retirement plans may adversely impact Adient's results of operations and cash flow.

Significant changes in actual investment return on defined benefit plan assets, discount rates, mortality assumptions and other 
factors could adversely affect Adient's results of operations and the amounts of contributions Adient must make to its defined 
benefit plans in future periods. Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States require that Adient calculate income 
or expense for the plans using actuarial valuations. These valuations reflect assumptions about financial markets and interest rates, 
which may change based on economic conditions. Funding requirements for Adient's defined benefit plans are dependent upon, 
among other factors, interest rates, underlying asset returns and the impact of legislative or regulatory changes related to defined 
benefit funding obligations.

Legal proceedings in which Adient is, or may be, a party may adversely affect Adient.

Adient is currently and may in the future become subject to legal proceedings and commercial,  contractual or other disputes. 
These are typically lawsuits, claims and proceedings that arise in the normal course of business including, without limitation, 
claims pertaining to product liability, product safety, environmental, safety and health, intellectual property, employment, 
commercial, contractual and various other matters. The outcome of such lawsuits, claims or proceedings cannot be predicted with 
certainty and some may be disposed of unfavorably to Adient. There exists the possibility that such claims may have an adverse 
impact on Adient's results of operations that is greater than Adient anticipates, and/or negatively affect Adient's reputation.
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Adient is also subject to a risk of product liability or warranty claims if its products actually or allegedly fail to perform as expected 
or the use of its products results, or is alleged to result, in bodily injury and/or property damage. While Adient will maintain 
reasonable limits of insurance coverage to appropriately respond to such exposures, large product liability claims, if made, could 
exceed Adient's insurance coverage limits and insurance may not continue to be available on commercially acceptable terms, if 
at all. Adient may incur significant costs to defend these claims or experience product liability losses in the future. In addition, if 
any of Adient's designed products are, or are alleged to be, defective, Adient may be required to participate in recalls and exchanges 
of such products. The future cost associated with providing product warranties and/or bearing the cost of repair or replacement of 
Adient's products could have an adverse effect on Adient's business, financial condition and results of operations.

A downgrade in the ratings of Adient's debt capital could restrict Adient's ability to access the debt capital markets and 
increase Adient's interest costs.

Unfavorable changes in the ratings that rating agencies assign to Adient's debt may ultimately negatively impact Adient's access 
to the debt capital markets and increase the costs Adient incurs to borrow funds. Future tightening in the credit markets and a 
reduced level of liquidity in many financial markets due to turmoil in the financial and banking industries could affect Adient's 
access to the debt capital markets or the price Adient pays to issue debt. A downgrade in Adient's ratings or volatility in the financial 
markets causing limitations to the debt capital markets could have an adverse effect on Adient's business or Adient's ability to 
meet its liquidity needs.

Additionally, an increase in the level of Adient's indebtedness may increase Adient's vulnerability to adverse general economic 
and industry conditions and may affect Adient's ability to obtain additional financing.

Adient's debt obligations could adversely affect Adient's business, profitability and the ability to meet its obligations.

As of September 30, 2018, Adient's total consolidated indebtedness approximated $3.4 billion. This significant amount of debt 
could potentially have important consequences to Adient and its debt and equity investors, including:

• requiring a substantial portion of Adient's cash flow from operations to make interest payments on this debt;
• making it more difficult to satisfy other obligations;
• increasing the risk of a future credit ratings downgrade of its debt, which could increase future debt costs and limit the 

future availability of debt financing;
• increasing Adient's vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
• reducing the cash flow available to fund capital expenditures and other corporate purposes and to grow Adient's business;
• limiting Adient's flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in its business and the industry;
• placing Adient at a competitive disadvantage relative to its competitors that may not be as highly leveraged with debt; 

and
• limiting Adient's ability to borrow additional funds as needed or take advantage of business opportunities as they arise, 

pay cash dividends or repurchase ordinary shares.

In addition, Adient's term loan and revolving credit facilities require Adient to maintain compliance with a maximum total net 
leverage ratio tested on a quarterly basis. Events beyond Adient's control, including changes in general business and economic 
conditions, may affect its ability to meet this requirement. A breach of the restrictive covenants in Adient's credit facilities or 
Adient's inability to comply with the maximum total net leverage ratio could result in an event of default under Adient's debt 
agreements. If an event of default occurs and is continuing under such agreements, the lenders thereunder could elect to declare 
all amounts outstanding, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable, which could result in acceleration of 
Adient's other debt. If Adient was unable to repay any borrowings under the credit facilities when due, the lenders thereunder 
could proceed against their collateral.

To the extent that Adient incurs additional indebtedness, the risks described above could increase. In addition, Adient's actual cash 
requirements in the future may be greater than expected. Adient's cash flow from operations may not be sufficient to repay all of 
the outstanding debt as it becomes due, and Adient may not be able to borrow money, sell assets or otherwise raise funds on 
acceptable terms, or at all, to refinance Adient's debt.
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The potential insolvency or financial distress of third parties could adversely impact Adient's business and results of operations.

Adient is exposed to the risk that third parties to various arrangements who owe Adient money or goods and services, or who 
purchase goods and services from Adient, will not be able to perform their obligations or continue to place orders due to insolvency 
or financial distress. If third parties fail to perform their obligations under arrangements with Adient, Adient may be forced to 
replace the underlying commitment at current or above-market prices or on other terms that are less favorable to Adient. In such 
events, Adient may incur losses, or Adient's results of operations, financial condition or liquidity could otherwise be adversely 
affected.

Adient's business success depends on attracting and retaining qualified personnel.

Adient's ability to sustain and grow its business requires it to hire, retain and develop a highly skilled and diverse management 
team and workforce. Failure to ensure that Adient has the leadership capacity with the necessary skill set and experience could 
impede Adient's ability to deliver its growth objectives and execute its strategic plan. Organizational and reporting changes as a 
result of any future leadership transition and corporate initiatives, including restructuring actions, could result in increased turnover. 
Additionally, any unplanned turnover or inability to attract and retain key employees could have a negative effect on Adient's 
results of operations.

Adverse developments affecting, or the financial distress of, one or more of Adient's suppliers could adversely affect Adient's 
financial performance.

Adient obtains components and other products and services from numerous automotive suppliers and other vendors throughout 
the world. Adient is responsible for managing its supply chain, including suppliers that may be the sole sources of products that 
Adient requires, which Adient's customers direct Adient to use or which have unique capabilities that would make it difficult and/ 
or expensive to re-source. In certain instances, entire industries may experience short-term capacity constraints. Additionally, 
Adient's production capacity, and that of Adient's customers and suppliers, may be adversely affected by natural disasters. Any 
such significant disruption could adversely affect Adient's financial performance. Unfavorable economic or industry conditions 
could also result in financial distress within Adient's supply chain, thereby increasing the risk of supply disruption. Although 
market conditions generally have improved in recent years, uncertainty remains and another economic downturn or other 
unfavorable industry conditions in one or more of the regions in which Adient operates could cause a supply disruption and thereby 
adversely affect Adient's financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

The loss of business with respect to, or the lack of commercial success of, a vehicle model for which Adient is a significant 
supplier could adversely affect Adient's financial performance.

Although Adient receives purchase orders from its customers, these purchase orders often provide for the supply of a customer's 
annual requirements for a particular vehicle model and assembly plant, or in some cases, for the supply of a customer's requirements 
for the life of a particular vehicle model, rather than for the purchase of a specific quantity of products. In addition, it is possible 
that Adient's customers could elect to manufacture its products internally or increase the extent to which they require Adient to 
utilize specific suppliers or materials in the manufacture of its products. The loss of business with respect to, the lack of commercial 
success of or an increase in directed component sourcing for a vehicle model for which Adient is a significant supplier could 
reduce Adient's sales or margins and thereby adversely affect Adient's financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

Shifts in market shares among vehicles, vehicle segments or shifts away from vehicles on which Adient has significant 
content or overall changes in consumer demand could have an adverse effect on Adient's profitability.

While Adient supplies parts for a wide variety of vehicles produced globally, Adient does not supply parts for all vehicles produced, 
nor is the number or value of parts evenly distributed among the vehicles for which Adient does supply parts. Shifts in market 
shares among vehicles or vehicle segments, including as a result of the autonomous vehicle market, particularly shifts away from 
vehicles on which Adient has significant content and shifts away from vehicle segments in which Adient's sales may be more 
heavily concentrated, could have an adverse effect on Adient's profitability. Increases in energy costs or other factors (e.g., climate 
change concerns) may also shift consumer demand away from motor vehicles that typically have higher interior content that Adient 
supplies, such as light trucks, crossover vehicles, minivans and sports utility vehicles, to smaller vehicles having less interior 
content. The loss of business with respect to, or a lack of commercial success of, one or more particular vehicle models for which 
Adient is a significant supplier could reduce Adient's sales and harm Adient's profitability, thereby adversely affecting Adient's 
results of operations.
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Work stoppages and similar events could significantly disrupt Adient's business.

Because the automotive industry relies heavily on just-in-time delivery of components during the assembly and manufacture of 
vehicles, a work stoppage at one or more of Adient's manufacturing and assembly facilities could have adverse effects on the 
business. Similarly, if one or more of Adient's customers were to experience a work stoppage, that customer would likely halt or 
limit purchases of Adient's products, which could result in the shutdown of the related manufacturing facilities. A significant 
disruption in the supply of a key component due to a work stoppage at one of Adient's suppliers or any other supplier could have 
the same consequences, and accordingly, have an adverse effect on Adient's financial results.

Adient's internal controls around accounting and financial reporting may not be adequate to ensure complete and accurate 
reporting of Adient's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Exchange Act requires that Adient file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to its business and financial condition. 
Under the Sarbanes Oxley Act, Adient is required to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls 
over financial reporting. Any failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls could have an adverse effect on Adient's 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

Potential indemnification liabilities to the former Parent pursuant to the separation agreement could adversely affect 
Adient.

The separation agreement with the former Parent provides for, among other things, the principal corporate transactions required 
to effect the separation, certain conditions to the separation and provisions governing the relationship between Adient and the 
former Parent with respect to and resulting from the separation. Among other things, the separation agreement provides for 
indemnification obligations designed to make Adient financially responsible for substantially all liabilities that may exist relating 
to its business activities, whether incurred prior to or after the separation, as well as those obligations of the former Parent assumed 
by Adient pursuant to the separation agreement. Adient may be subject to substantial liabilities under these indemnifications.

Risks Related to Adient Ordinary Shares

Adient's share price may fluctuate significantly.

Adient cannot predict the prices at which shares of its ordinary shares may trade. The market price of Adient ordinary shares may 
fluctuate significantly due to a number of factors, some of which may be beyond Adient's control, including:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in Adient's operating results;
• changes in earnings estimated by securities analysts or Adient's ability to meet those estimates;
• the operating and stock price performance of comparable companies;
• changes to the regulatory and legal environment under which Adient operates;
• the trading volume and liquidity of Adient ordinary shares; and
• domestic and worldwide economic conditions.

In addition, when the market price of a company's shares drops significantly, shareholders often institute securities class action 
lawsuits against Adient. A lawsuit against Adient could cause it to incur substantial costs and could divert the time and attention 
of its management and other resources.

Adient cannot guarantee the timing, amount or payment of dividends on its ordinary shares.

Adient has announced that it does not have near term plans to pay dividends on its ordinary shares following the dividend paid in 
the first quarter of fiscal 2019. The timing, declaration, amount and payment of future dividends to shareholders will fall within 
the discretion of Adient's board of directors. The board's decisions regarding the payment of dividends will depend on many factors, 
such as Adient's financial condition, earnings, sufficiency of distributable reserves, capital requirements, debt service obligations, 
legal requirements, regulatory constraints and other factors that the board deems relevant. Adient's ability to pay dividends will 
depend on its ongoing ability to generate cash from operations and access capital markets. Adient cannot guarantee that it will pay 
dividends in the future. For more information, see "Dividends." 
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Adient shares may be diluted in the future.

In the future, per share ownership percentage in Adient may be diluted because of equity issuances for acquisitions, capital market 
transactions or otherwise, including equity awards that Adient has granted and may grant in the future to Adient's directors, officers 
and employees. Adient's employees have options to purchase its ordinary shares as a result of the conversion in the distribution 
of their the former Parent stock options (in whole or in part) to Adient share options. Adient's compensation committee has granted 
stock-based awards to employees in Adient ordinary shares, and Adient anticipates its compensation committee will continue to 
do so. Such awards have a dilutive effect on Adient's earnings per share, which could adversely affect the market price of Adient 
ordinary shares.

In addition, Adient's articles of association authorize Adient to issue, without the approval of Adient's shareholders, one or more 
classes or series of preferred shares having such designation, powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other 
special rights, including preferences over Adient ordinary shares respecting dividends and distributions, as Adient's board of 
directors generally may determine. The terms of one or more classes or series of preferred shares could dilute the voting power 
or reduce the value of Adient ordinary shares. For example, Adient could grant the holders of preferred shares the right to elect 
some number of Adient's directors in all events or on the happening of specified events or the right to veto specified transactions. 
Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences Adient could assign to holders of preferred shares could 
affect the residual value of the ordinary shares.

Certain provisions in Adient's articles of association, among other things, could prevent or delay an acquisition of Adient, 
which could decrease the trading price of Adient ordinary shares.

The Adient articles of association include measures that may be found in the charters of U.S. companies and that could have the 
effect of deterring coercive takeover practices, inadequate takeover bids and unsolicited offers. These provisions include, among 
others: (i) the power for the board of directors to issue and allot preferred shares or implement a shareholder rights plan without 
shareholder approval in certain circumstances; (ii) a provision similar to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, 
which provides that, subject to limited exceptions, persons that acquire, or are affiliated with a person that acquires, more than 15 
percent of the outstanding ordinary shares of Adient shall not engage in any business combination with Adient, including by 
merger, consolidation or acquisitions of additional shares, for a three-year period following the date on which that person or its 
affiliates becomes the holder of more than 15 percent of Adient's outstanding ordinary shares; (iii) rules regarding how shareholders 
may present proposals or nominate directors for election at shareholder meetings; and (iv) the ability of the Adient board of directors 
to fill vacancies on the board of directors in certain circumstances.

It could be difficult for Adient to obtain shareholder approval for a merger or negotiated transaction because the shareholder 
approval requirements for certain types of transactions differ, and in some cases are greater, under Irish law than under U.S. state 
law.

In addition, several mandatory provisions of Irish law could prevent or delay an acquisition of Adient. For example, Adient will 
be subject to various provisions of Irish law relating to mandatory bids, voluntary bids, requirements to make a cash offer and 
minimum price requirements, as well as substantial acquisition rules and rules requiring the disclosure of interests in Adient 
ordinary shares in certain circumstances. Also, Irish companies, including Adient, may only alter their memorandum of association 
and articles of association with the approval of the holders of at least 75% of Adient's shares present and voting in person or by 
proxy at a general meeting of Adient (and certain provisions of Adient's memorandum of association and articles of association 
may only be amended with the approval of at least 80% of Adient's shares present and voting in person or by proxy at a general 
meeting of Adient).

As an Irish public limited company, certain capital structure decisions require shareholder approval, which may limit 
Adient's flexibility to manage its capital structure.

Irish law provides that a board of directors may allot shares (or rights to subscribe for or convertible into shares) only with the 
prior authorization of shareholders, such authorization for a maximum period of five years, each as specified in the articles of 
association or relevant shareholder resolution. This authorization would need to be renewed by Adient's shareholders upon its 
expiration (i.e., at least every five years). The Adient articles of association authorize the allotment of shares (subject to the limits 
provided for in the NYSE Listed Company Manual) for a period of five years from the date of their adoption, which authorization 
will need to be renewed by ordinary resolution, being a resolution passed by a simple majority of votes cast, upon expiration but 
may be sought more frequently for additional five-year terms (or any shorter period). Should this authorization not be approved, 
our ability to issue equity could be limited and thereby adversely affect our securities holders.
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Irish law also generally provides shareholders with preemptive rights when new shares are issued for cash; however, it is possible 
for the Adient articles of association, or shareholders in general meeting, to exclude preemptive rights. Such an exclusion of 
preemptive rights may be for a maximum period of up to five years from the date of adoption of the articles of association, if the 
exclusion is contained in the articles of association, or from the date of the shareholder resolution, if the exclusion is by shareholder 
resolution; in either case, this exclusion would need to be renewed by Adient's shareholders upon its expiration (i.e., at least every 
five years). The Adient articles of association exclude preemptive rights for a period of five years from the date of adoption of the 
Adient articles of association, which exclusion will need to be renewed by special resolution, being a resolution passed by not 
less than 75% of votes cast, upon expiration but may be sought more frequently for additional five-year terms (or any shorter 
period). Should this authorization not be approved, our ability to issue equity could be limited and thereby adversely affect our 
securities holders.

Irish law requires that Adient meet certain additional financial requirements before it declares dividends.

Under Irish law, Adient will be able to declare dividends and make distributions only out of "distributable reserves." Distributable 
reserves are the accumulated realized profits of Adient that have not previously been utilized in a distribution or capitalization 
less accumulated realized losses that have not previously been written off in a reduction or reorganization of capital, and include 
reserves created by way of a reduction of capital, including the share premium account. In addition, no distribution or dividend 
may be paid or made by Adient unless the net assets of Adient are equal to, or exceed, the aggregate of Adient's called up share 
capital plus non-distributable reserves and the distribution does not reduce Adient's net assets below such aggregate. 
Nondistributable reserves include the share premium account, the capital redemption reserve fund and the amount by which 
Adient's accumulated unrealized profits that have not been previously utilized by any capitalization exceed Adient's accumulated 
unrealized losses that have not previously been written off in a reduction or reorganization of capital.

The Adient articles of association permit Adient by ordinary resolution of the shareholders to declare dividends, provided that the 
directors have made a recommendation as to its amount. The dividend may not exceed the amount recommended by the directors. 
The directors may also decide to continue to pay interim dividends if it appears to them that the profits available for distribution 
justify the payment. When recommending or declaring the payment of a dividend, the directors will be required under Irish law 
to comply with their duties, including considering Adient's future financial requirements.

The laws of Ireland differ from the laws in effect in the United States and may afford less protection to holders of Adient 
securities.

It may not be possible to enforce court judgments obtained in the United States against Adient in Ireland based on the civil liability 
provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws. In addition, there is some uncertainty as to whether the courts of Ireland 
would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained against Adient or its directors or officers based on the civil liabilities 
provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws or hear actions against Adient or those persons based on those laws. The 
United States currently does not have a treaty with Ireland providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments 
in civil and commercial matters in Ireland. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any U.S. federal or 
state court based on civil liability, whether or not based solely on U.S. federal or state securities laws, would not automatically be 
enforceable in Ireland.

A judgment obtained against Adient will be enforced by the courts of Ireland if the following general requirements are met: (i) 
U.S. courts must have had jurisdiction in relation to the particular defendant according to Irish conflict of law rules (the submission 
to jurisdiction by the defendant would satisfy this rule) and (ii) the judgment must be final and conclusive and the decree must be 
final and unalterable in the court which pronounces it. A judgment can be final and conclusive even if it is subject to appeal or 
even if an appeal is pending. Where however the effect of lodging an appeal under the applicable law is to stay execution of the 
judgment, it is possible that in the meantime the judgment may not be actionable in Ireland. It remains to be determined whether 
final judgment given in default of appearance is final and conclusive. However, Irish courts may refuse to enforce a judgment of 
the U.S. courts which meets the above requirements for one of the following reasons: (i) if the judgment is not for a definite sum 
of money; (ii) if the judgment was obtained by fraud; (iii) the enforcement of the judgment in Ireland would be contrary to natural 
or constitutional justice; (iv) the judgment is contrary to Irish public policy or involves certain U.S. laws which will not be enforced 
in Ireland; or (v) jurisdiction cannot be obtained by the Irish courts over the judgment debtors in the enforcement proceedings by 
personal service in Ireland or outside Ireland under Order 11 of the Ireland Superior Courts Rules.

As an Irish company, Adient is governed by the Irish Companies Act 2014, which differs in some material respects from laws 
generally applicable to U.S. corporations and shareholders, including, among others, differences relating to interested director and 
officer transactions and shareholder lawsuits. Likewise, the duties of directors and officers of an Irish company generally are owed 
to Adient only. Shareholders of Irish companies generally do not have a personal right of action against directors or officers of 
Adient and may exercise such rights of action on behalf of Adient only in limited circumstances. Accordingly, holders of Adient's 
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securities may have more difficulty protecting their interests than would holders of securities of a corporation incorporated in a 
jurisdiction of the United States.

In addition, the Adient articles of association provide that the Irish courts have exclusive jurisdiction to determine any and all 
derivative actions in which a holder of Adient ordinary shares asserts a claim in the name of Adient, actions asserting a claim of 
breach of a fiduciary duty of any of the directors of Adient and actions asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of Irish 
law or Adient's articles of association. Under Irish law, the proper claimant for wrongs committed against Adient, including by 
the Adient directors, is considered to be Adient itself. Irish law permits a shareholder to initiate a lawsuit on behalf of a company 
such as Adient only in limited circumstances, and requires court permission to do so.

The IRS may not agree that Adient is a foreign corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes.

For U.S. federal tax purposes, a corporation is generally considered to be a tax resident of the jurisdiction of its organization or 
incorporation. Because Adient is a company incorporated under the laws of Ireland, it would be classified as a foreign corporation 
under these rules. However, Section 7874 of the Code, or Section 7874, provides an exception to this general rule under which a 
foreign incorporated entity may, in certain circumstances, be classified as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes. The 
rules under Section 7874 are relatively new and complex and there is limited guidance regarding their application.

Under Section 7874, a corporation created or organized outside the U.S. (i.e., a foreign corporation) will nevertheless be treated 
as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes if (i) the foreign corporation directly or indirectly acquires substantially all of 
the properties held directly or indirectly by a U.S. corporation (including through an acquisition of the outstanding shares of the 
U.S. corporation), (ii) the former shareholders of the acquired U.S. corporation hold at least 80% (by either vote or value) of the 
shares of the foreign acquiring corporation after the acquisition by reason of holding shares in the acquired U.S. corporation 
(including the receipt of the foreign corporation's shares in exchange for the U.S. corporation's shares), or the 80% Ownership 
Test, and (iii) the foreign corporation's "expanded affiliated group" does not have substantial business activities in the foreign 
corporation's country of organization or incorporation relative to such expanded affiliated group's worldwide activities. For purposes 
of Section 7874, acquisitions of multiple U.S. corporations (and/or substantially all of the assets of multiple U.S. corporations) 
by a foreign corporation, if treated as part of a plan or series of related transactions, may be treated as a single acquisition, in which 
case all shares of the foreign acquiring corporation received by the shareholders of the U.S. corporations would be aggregated for 
purposes of the 80% Ownership Test. Where, pursuant to the same transaction, stock of the foreign acquiring corporation is received 
in exchange for stock of a U.S. corporation as well as other property, the portion of the stock of the foreign acquiring corporation 
received in exchange for the stock of the U.S. corporation is determined based on the relative value of the stock of the U.S. 
corporation compared with the aggregate value of such stock and such other property.

As part of the separation, Adient indirectly acquired assets, including stock of U.S. subsidiaries, from the former Parent, which is 
a U.S. corporation. It is currently not expected that Section 7874 will cause Adient or any of its affiliates to be treated as a U.S. 
corporation for U.S. tax purposes as a result of such acquisitions because, among other things, based on the rules for determining 
ownership under Section 7874 and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and certain factual assumptions, (i) the assets 
acquired from the former Parent are not expected to constitute "substantially all" of the properties held directly or indirectly by 
the former Parent and (ii) the shares received by reason of holding stock in the U.S. subsidiaries of the former Parent transferred 
in the separation are not expected to represent at least 80% (by either vote or value) of the relevant shares. The law and Treasury 
Regulations promulgated under Section 7874 are relatively new, complex and somewhat unclear, and there is limited guidance 
regarding the application of Section 7874 in circumstances similar to the separation. For example, there is currently no guidance 
that expressly defines what constitutes "substantially all" of the properties of a U.S. corporation for purposes of Section 7874 and 
it is possible that the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") may assert that "substantially all" of the properties of the former Parent 
(or of a U.S. subsidiary of the former Parent) were acquired in the separation. In addition, there is limited guidance on the application 
of the 80% Ownership Test in circumstances similar to the separation, and the IRS may not agree that the shares held by reason
of holding shares in U.S. subsidiaries that (or substantially all of the assets of which) were transferred in the separation represent 
less than 80% (by either vote or value) of the relevant shares for purposes of Section 7874. Moreover, the percentage represented 
by such shares will depend on the relative valuation of the various assets (including stock of subsidiaries) that were transferred in 
connection with the separation. Valuation matters can be subjective, and the IRS may also seek to challenge the valuation of such 
assets.

In addition, on April 4, 2016, the U.S. Department of Treasury (the "U.S. Treasury") and the IRS issued temporary Treasury 
Regulations under Section 7874 (the "Temporary 7874 Regulations"), which generally increase the likelihood that the relevant 
ownership percentages under Section 7874 will be exceeded. Although it is presently not expected that the Temporary 7874 
Regulations will adversely affect the U.S. federal tax status of Adient or any of its foreign affiliates as a foreign corporation (and 
although it is possible that the Temporary 7874 Regulations could cause certain exceptions to the application of Section 7874 to 
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apply to the separation), the Temporary 7874 Regulations are complex, and there is limited guidance regarding their application. 
The Temporary 7874 Regulations were finalized, with certain modifications, on July 11, 2018.

Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge the status of Adient or any of its foreign affiliates as a 
foreign corporation under Section 7874 or that such challenge would not be sustained by a court. If the IRS were to successfully 
challenge such status under Section 7874, Adient and its affiliates could be subject to substantial additional U.S. tax liability. 
Adient estimates that if it were treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes, its effective tax rate could be substantially 
greater than currently contemplated. In addition, Adient and certain of its foreign affiliates are expected, regardless of any application 
of Section 7874, to be treated as tax residents of countries other than the U.S. Consequently, if Adient or any such affiliate is treated 
as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes under Section 7874, Adient or such affiliate could be liable for both U.S. and 
non-U.S. taxes, which could have an adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations.

Section 7874 may limit the ability of Adient's U.S. affiliates to use certain tax attributes or otherwise increase such U.S. affiliates' 
U.S. taxable income.

Following the acquisition of a U.S. corporation by a foreign corporation, Section 7874 of the Code can limit the ability of the 
acquired U.S. corporation and its U.S. affiliates to use U.S. tax attributes (including net operating losses and certain tax credits) 
to offset U.S. taxable income resulting from certain transactions. Specifically, Section 7874 can apply in this manner if (i) the 
foreign corporation acquires, directly or indirectly, substantially all of the properties held directly or indirectly by a U.S. corporation 
(including through an acquisition of the outstanding shares of the U.S. corporation), (ii) after the acquisition, the former shareholders 
of the acquired U.S. corporation hold at least 60% (by either vote or value) but less than 80% (by vote and value) of the shares of 
the foreign acquiring corporation by reason of holding shares in the acquired U.S. corporation (including the receipt of the foreign 
corporation's shares in exchange for the U.S. corporation's shares), or the 60% Ownership Test, and (iii) the foreign corporation's 
"expanded affiliated group" does not have substantial business activities in the foreign corporation's country of organization or 
incorporation relative to such expanded affiliated group's worldwide activities. For purposes of Section 7874, acquisitions of 
multiple U.S. corporations (and/or substantially all of the assets of multiple U.S. corporations) by a foreign corporation, if treated 
as part of a plan or series of related transactions, may be treated as a single acquisition, in which case all shares of the foreign 
acquiring corporation received by the shareholders of the U.S. corporations would be aggregated for purposes of the 60% Ownership 
Test. Where, pursuant to the same transaction, stock of the foreign acquiring corporation is received in exchange for stock of a 
U.S. corporation as well as other property, the stock of the foreign acquiring corporation that was received in exchange for the 
stock of the U.S. corporation is determined based on the relative value of the stock of the U.S. corporation compared with the 
aggregate value of such stock and such other property.

As part of the separation, Adient indirectly acquired assets, including stock of U.S. subsidiaries, from the former Parent, which is 
a U.S. corporation, in exchange for Adient ordinary shares. It is currently not expected that Section 7874 will limit the ability of 
Adient's U.S. affiliates to use certain tax attributes because, among other things, based on the rules for determining ownership 
under Section 7874 and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and certain factual assumptions, (i) the assets acquired 
from the former Parent are not expected to constitute "substantially all" of the properties held directly or indirectly by the former 
Parent and (ii) the shares received by reason of holding stock in the U.S. subsidiaries transferred in the separation are not expected 
to represent at least 60% (by either vote or value) of the relevant shares. However, as discussed above, the Treasury Regulations 
promulgated under Section 7874 are relatively new, complex and somewhat unclear and there is limited guidance regarding the 
application of Section 7874 in circumstances similar to the separation. Moreover, the percentage of shares held by reason of holding 
stock of relevant U.S. subsidiaries of the former Parent will depend on the relative valuation of the assets transferred in connection 
with the separation and valuation matters can be subjective.

In addition, the Temporary 7874 Regulations generally increase the likelihood that the relevant ownership percentages under 
Section 7874 will be exceeded and limit or eliminate certain tax benefits to so-called inverted corporations and groups, including 
with respect to access to certain foreign earnings, post-inversion restructuring transactions and the ability to use certain attributes 
and deductions. Although it is presently not expected that the Temporary 7874 Regulations will adversely affect the benefits of 
the separation or the ability of Adient's U.S. affiliates to use certain U.S. tax attributes or deductions (and although it is possible 
that the Temporary 7874 Regulations could cause certain exceptions to the application of Section 7874 to apply to the separation), 
the Temporary 7874 Regulations are complex, and there is limited guidance regarding their application.

Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS would not assert that Section 7874 applies to limit the ability of the U.S. 
subsidiaries and affiliates of Adient to use certain U.S. tax attributes or that such challenge would not be sustained by a court. If 
the relevant tests under Section 7874 are satisfied for any reason, or if changes in applicable law adversely affect the application 
of the above rules to Adient, Adient's U.S. affiliates could be limited in their ability to use their U.S. tax attributes, if any, to offset 
taxable income resulting from certain transactions, or could otherwise have their U.S. taxable income increased.
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Adient's status as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes could be affected by a change in law.

Under current law, Adient is expected to be treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes and Section 7874 is not 
otherwise expected to apply to Adient or its affiliates as a result of the separation. However, changes to the rules contained in 
Section 7874 and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, or other changes in law, could adversely affect Adient's and/ 
or its affiliates' status as foreign corporations for U.S. federal tax purposes, the ability of Adient's U.S. affiliates to use certain 
attributes or deductions, the Adient group's effective tax rate and/or future tax planning for the Adient group, and any such changes 
could have prospective or retroactive application to Adient, its shareholders and affiliates, and/or the separation and distribution.

Recent legislative and other proposals have aimed to expand the scope of U.S. corporate tax residence, including in such a way 
as could cause Adient and/or its affiliates to be treated as U.S. corporations if the management and control of Adient or such 
affiliates were determined to be located primarily in the U.S. In addition, recent legislative and other proposals have aimed to 
expand the scope of Section 7874, or otherwise address certain perceived issues arising in connection with so-called inversion 
transactions. Such proposals, if made retroactively effective to transactions completed during the period in which the separation 
occurred, could cause Adient and/or its affiliates to be treated as U.S. corporations for U.S federal tax purposes. In such case, the 
Adient group would be subject to substantially greater U.S. tax liability than currently contemplated.

The IRS may assert that Section 7874 applies to the separation as a result of the merger and Adient's ability to use stock in 
future strategic transactions may be limited.

For purposes of Section 7874, if two or more foreign corporations directly or indirectly acquire, in the aggregate, substantially all 
of the properties of a U.S. corporation, and such acquisitions are treated as part of a plan or a series of related transactions, then 
each such foreign corporation may be treated as acquiring substantially all of the properties of such U.S. corporation. However, 
there is no specific guidance regarding how the percentage ownership of the former shareholders of such U.S. corporation in each 
such foreign corporation is determined for purposes of Section 7874 in such circumstances. The IRS may assert that, even though 
the Tyco merger is a separate transaction from the separation, the merger should be integrated with the separation and that Adient 
and/or its affiliates should therefore be treated as having acquired substantially all of the properties of the former Parent in the 
separation. In the event the IRS were to prevail with such assertion, the application of Section 7874 to the separation is not entirely 
clear. It is possible that the determination of whether the 60% Ownership Test or the 80% Ownership Test is met with respect to 
the separation would be made by reference to the percentage of shares of the former Parent held by the former shareholders of the 
former Parent after the Tyco merger by reason of holding shares in the former Parent. Under this approach, based on certain factual 
assumptions and current provisions of U.S. federal income tax law, it is expected that Adient would be respected as a foreign 
corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes. However, there can be no assurance that the IRS would not assert a different methodology 
and conclude that either the 60% Ownership Test or the 80% Ownership Test is satisfied. If the IRS were to prevail with such 
assertion, the ability of Adient's U.S. affiliates to use certain U.S. tax attributes could be limited and/or Adient or its foreign affiliates 
could be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes. If Adient or its affiliates were to be subject to such limitations 
or to be so treated, significant adverse tax consequences would result. In addition, if Adient were treated as acquiring substantially 
all of the assets of a U.S. corporation then the applicable rules would exclude the shares of Adient stock attributable to that 
acquisition for purposes of the 60% Ownership Test and 80% Ownership Test in a subsequent acquisition, although the validity 
of such applicable rules has been challenged and this challenge has been sustained by at least one court. In such case, Adient's 
ability to use its stock in a future acquisition could be limited. As discussed above, these rules are new and complex, and there is 
limited guidance regarding their application.

Recent and future changes to U.S. and non-U.S. tax laws could adversely affect Adient.

The U.S. Congress, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development and other government agencies in jurisdictions 
where Adient and its affiliates do business have had an extended focus on issues related to the taxation of multinational corporations. 
One example is in the area of "base erosion and profit shifting," including situations where payments are made between affiliates 
from a jurisdiction with high tax rates to a jurisdiction with lower tax rates. As a result, the tax laws in the U.S. and other countries 
in which Adient and its affiliates do business could change on a prospective or retroactive basis, and any such changes could 
adversely affect Adient and its affiliates, including potential adverse effects to Adient's tax rate.
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In particular, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “TCJA”) was enacted on December 22, 2017. The TCJA is comprehensive tax 
reform legislation that contains significant changes to corporate taxation, including a base erosion minimum tax calculated on a 
base equal to the taxpayer’s income determined without tax deductions or other tax benefits arising from “base erosion” payments; 
a shift of the U.S. taxation of multinational corporations from a tax on worldwide income to a partial territorial system (along with 
rules that create a new U.S. minimum tax on earnings of foreign subsidiaries); and a partial limitation on the deductibility of 
business interest expense. There is very limited guidance with respect to the application of these provisions, and it is possible that 
the application of these provisions or other provisions of the TCJA could adversely affect Adient. It is also possible that provisions 
of the TCJA could be subsequently amended in a way that is adverse to Adient.

Changes to the U.S. Model Income Tax Treaty could adversely affect Adient.

On February 17, 2016, the U.S. Treasury released a newly revised U.S. model income tax convention (the "model"), which is the 
baseline text used by the U.S. Treasury to negotiate tax treaties. The revisions made to the model address certain aspects of the 
model by modifying existing provisions and introducing entirely new provisions. Specifically, the new provisions target "expatriated 
entities" subject to Section 7874.

Because, as described above, Adient does not believe it is an "expatriated entity" as defined in Section 7874, payments of interest, 
dividends, royalties and certain other items of income by or to Adient's U.S. affiliates to or from non-U.S. persons would not be 
expected to become subject to full U.S. withholding tax, even if applicable treaties were subsequently amended to adopt the new 
model provisions. The new model treaty provisions pertaining to expatriated entities fix the definition of "expatriated entity" to 
the meaning ascribed to such term under Section 7874(a)(2)(A) as of the date the relevant bilateral treaty is signed. As discussed 
above, the rules under Section 7874 are relatively new, complex and are the subject of current and future legislative and regulatory 
changes. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS will agree with the position that the separation does not result in the 
creation of an "expatriated entity" (within the meaning of Section 7874) under current law or law as in effect at the time the 
applicable treaty were amended or that any such challenge by the IRS would not be sustained by a court, or that such position 
would not be affected by future or regulatory action which may apply retroactively to the separation.

Legislative and other proposals that would deny governmental contracts to U.S. companies that move their corporate location 
abroad may affect Adient if adopted.

Various U.S. federal and state legislative and other proposals that would deny governmental contracts to U.S. companies (and 
subsidiaries of U.S. companies) that move (or have moved) their corporate location abroad may affect Adient and/or its affiliates 
if adopted. It is difficult to predict the likelihood that any such proposals might be adopted, the nature of the regulations that might 
be promulgated, or the effect such adoptions and increased regulatory scrutiny might have on Adient's business.

Ordinary shares of Adient received by means of a gift or inheritance could be subject to Irish capital acquisitions tax.

Irish capital acquisitions tax, or CAT (currently levied at a rate of 33% above certain tax free thresholds), could apply to a gift or 
inheritance of Adient ordinary shares irrespective of the place of residence, ordinary residence or domicile of the parties. This is 
because Adient ordinary shares are regarded as property situated in Ireland for CAT purposes. The person who receives the gift 
or inheritance has primary liability for CAT.

Transfers of Adient ordinary shares, other than by means of the transfer of book-entry interests in the Depository Trust Company, 
may be subject to Irish stamp duty.

It is expected that, for the majority of transfers of Adient ordinary shares, there will not be any Irish stamp duty. Transfers of Adient 
ordinary shares effected by means of the transfer of book-entry interests in the Depository Trust Company, which we refer to as 
DTC, are not subject to Irish stamp duty. But if Adient ordinary shares are held directly rather than beneficially through DTC, any 
transfer of Adient ordinary shares could be subject to Irish stamp duty (currently at the rate of 1% of the higher of the price paid 
or the market value of the shares acquired). A shareholder who directly holds Adient ordinary shares may transfer those shares 
into his or her own broker account to be held through DTC (or vice versa) without giving rise to Irish stamp duty provided that 
there is no change in the beneficial ownership of the shares as a result of the transfer and the transfer is not in contemplation of a 
sale of the shares by a beneficial owner to a third party.

Payment of Irish stamp duty is generally a legal obligation of the transferee. The potential for stamp duty could adversely affect 
the price of Adient ordinary shares.
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In certain circumstances, dividends paid by Adient may be subject to Irish dividend withholding tax.

In certain circumstances, Irish dividend withholding tax ("DWT") (currently at a rate of 20%) may arise in respect of dividends 
paid on Adient ordinary shares. A number of exemptions from DWT exist pursuant to which shareholders resident in the United 
States and shareholders resident in certain countries may be entitled to exemptions from DWT.

Please note the requirement to complete certain relevant Irish Revenue Commissioners DWT forms ("DWT Forms") in order to 
qualify for many of the exemptions.

Any dividends paid in respect of Adient ordinary shares that are owned by a U.S. resident and held through DTC will not be subject 
to DWT provided the address of the beneficial owner of such shares in the records of the broker holding such shares is recorded 
as being in the United States (and such broker has further transmitted the relevant information to a qualifying intermediary appointed 
by Adient). Similarly, any dividends paid in respect of Adient ordinary shares that are held outside of DTC and are owned by a 
resident of the United States will not be subject to DWT if such shareholder satisfies the conditions of one of the exemptions 
including the requirement to furnish a completed IRS Form 6166 or a valid DWT Form to Adient's transfer agent to confirm U.S. 
residence and claim an exemption. Adient shareholders resident in other countries may also be eligible for exemption from DWT 
on dividends paid in respect of their Adient ordinary shares provided they satisfy the conditions of one of the exemptions including 
the requirement to furnish valid DWT Forms to their brokers (in respect of such shares held through DTC) (and such broker has 
further transmitted the relevant information to a qualifying intermediary appointed by Adient) or to Adient's transfer agent (in 
respect of such shares held outside of DTC). Other Adient shareholders may be subject to DWT, which could adversely affect the 
price of Adient ordinary shares.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Risk Management

Adient regularly reviews its underlying foreign exchange and interest rate exposures, both on a stand-alone basis and in conjunction 
with applicable derivative hedge positions. Given the effective horizons of Adient's risk management activities and the anticipatory 
nature of the exposures, there is no assurance the "derivative hedge" positions will offset more than a portion of the financial 
impact resulting from movements in Adient's underlying foreign exchange or interest rate exposures. Further, the recognition of 
the gains and losses related to these instruments may not coincide with the timing of gains and losses related to the underlying 
economic exposures and, therefore, may adversely affect Adient's financial condition and operating results. 

Adient selectively uses derivative instruments to reduce market risk associated with changes in foreign currency. All hedging 
transactions were authorized and executed pursuant to clearly defined policies and procedures, which strictly prohibit the use of 
financial instruments for speculative purposes. At the inception of the hedge, Adient assessed the effectiveness of the hedge 
instrument and designates the hedge instrument as either (1) a hedge of a recognized asset or liability or of a recognized firm 
commitment (a fair value hedge), (2) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid 
related to an unrecognized asset or liability (a cash flow hedge) or (3) a hedge of a net investment in a non-U.S. operation (a net 
investment hedge). Adient performed hedge effectiveness testing on an ongoing basis depending on the type of hedging instrument 
used. All other derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815, "Derivatives and Hedging," are revalued in the 
consolidated statements of income. 

For all foreign currency derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, retrospective effectiveness is tested on a monthly 
basis using a cumulative dollar offset test. The fair value of the hedged exposures and the fair value of the hedge instruments are 
revalued, and the ratio of the cumulative sum of the periodic changes in the value of the hedge instruments to the cumulative sum 
of the periodic changes in the value of the hedge is calculated. The hedge is deemed as highly effective if the ratio is between 80% 
and 125%. 

For all designated net investment hedges, Adient assessed its net investment position in non-U.S. operations and compared it with 
the outstanding net investment hedge principal on a quarterly basis. All hedges were deemed effective if the aggregate outstanding 
principal of the hedge instrument designated as the net investment hedge in a non-U.S. operation did not exceed its net investment 
position in respective non-U.S. operations.

Further details are provided in the notes to consolidated financial statements. A discussion of Adient's accounting policies for 
derivative financial instruments is included in Note 1, "Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," 
of the notes to consolidated financial statements, and further disclosure relating to derivatives and hedging activities is included 
in Note 13, "Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," and Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements."

Interest Rate Risk 

Adient's exposure to changes in global interest rates relates primarily to Adient's investment portfolio and outstanding debt. While 
Adient is exposed to global interest rate fluctuations, Adient's interest income and expense are most sensitive to fluctuations in 
U.S. interest rates. Changes in global interest rates affect the interest earned on Adient's cash, cash equivalents and marketable 
securities and the fair value of those securities, as well as costs associated with hedging and interest paid on Adient's debt. 

Adient's investment policy and strategy are focused on preservation of capital and supporting Adient's liquidity requirements. 
Adient uses a combination of internal and external management to execute its investment strategy and achieve its investment 
objectives. Adient typically invests in highly-rated securities, and its investment policy generally limits the amount of credit 
exposure to any one issuer. The policy requires investments generally to be investment grade, with the primary objective of 
minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. 

Further details regarding Adient's debt and financing arrangements are provided in Note 9, "Debt and Financing Arrangements," 
of the notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Foreign Currency Risk

Adient has manufacturing, sales and distribution facilities around the world and thus makes investments and enters into transactions 
denominated in various foreign currencies. In order to maintain strict control and achieve the benefits of Adient's global 
diversification, foreign exchange exposures for each currency are netted internally so that only its net foreign exchange exposures 
are, as appropriate, hedged with financial instruments. 

On an annual basis, Adient hedges 70% to 90% of the nominal amount of each of its known foreign exchange transactional 
exposures. Adient primarily enters into foreign currency exchange contracts to reduce the earnings and cash flow impact of the 
variation of non-functional currency denominated receivables and payables. Gains and losses resulting from hedging instruments 
offset the foreign exchange gains or losses on the underlying assets and liabilities being hedged. The maturities of the forward 
exchange contracts generally coincided with the settlement dates of the related transactions. Realized and unrealized gains and 
losses on these contracts are recognized in the same period as gains and losses on the hedged items. During fiscal 2018, Adient 
had hedge contracts outstanding with the aim of hedging balance sheet items, or with the aim of hedging forecasted commitments. 
Foreign exchange contracts hedging balance sheet items are marked-to-market through the income statement, while foreign 
exchange contracts to hedge forecasted commitments are designated in a hedge relationship as a cash flow hedge. These are 
marked-to-market through other comprehensive income when effective. 

Adient's euro-denominated bond has been designated to selectively hedge portions of Adient's net investment in Europe. The 
currency effects of its euro-denominated bond is reflected in the accumulated other comprehensive income account within 
shareholders' equity attributable to Adient where they offset gains and losses recorded on Adient's net investment in Europe. 

At September 30, 2018 and 2017, Adient estimates that an unfavorable 10% change in all applicable exchange rates versus the 
U.S. Dollar would have decreased net unrealized gains or increased net unrealized losses by approximately $26 million and $34 
million, respectively.

Commodity Risk

Adient's exposures to market risk from changes in the price of production material are managed primarily through negotiations 
with suppliers and customers, although there can be no assurance that Adient will recover all such costs. Adient continues to 
evaluate derivatives available in the marketplace and may decide to utilize derivatives in the future to manage select commodity 
risks if acceptable hedging instruments and counterparties are identified for its exposure level at that time, as well as the effectiveness 
of the financial hedge among other factors.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Consolidated Results of Operations

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Net sales $ 17,439 8% $ 16,213
Cost of sales 16,528 12% 14,805

Gross profit 911 -35% 1,408
Selling, general and administrative expenses 694 —% 691
Restructuring and impairment costs 1,181 * 46
Equity income (loss) (13) * 522

Earnings before interest and income taxes (977) * 1,193
Net financing charges 144 9% 132

Income before income taxes (1,121) * 1,061
Income tax provision 480 * 99

Net income (loss) (1,601) * 962
Income attributable to noncontrolling interests 84 -1% 85

Net income (loss) attributable to Adient $ (1,685) * $ 877

* Measure not meaningful

Net Sales

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Net sales $ 17,439 8% $ 16,213

Net sales increased by $1.2 billion, or 8%, in fiscal 2018 primarily due to the full year impact of the Futuris operations (acquired 
in September 2017) and the full year impact of the consolidation of a China affiliate (consolidated in July 2017) of $877 million, 
favorable foreign currency impact of $497 million and higher volumes in Europe, partially offset by lower volumes in North 
America and Asia. Refer to the segment analysis below for a discussion of segment net sales.

Cost of Sales / Gross Profit

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Cost of sales $ 16,528 12% $ 14,805
Gross profit 911 -35% 1,408

% of sales 5.2% 8.9%

Cost of sales increased by $1.7 billion, or 12%, and gross profit decreased by $497 million, or 35%,in fiscal 2018 primarily as a 
result of business performance issues related to launch inefficiencies, including freight and operational waste, higher commodity 
costs, the full year impact of Futuris operations and the full year impact of the consolidation of a China affiliate of $764 million 
and an unfavorable foreign currency impact of $455 million. Cost of sales was impacted favorably by a year over year reduction 
in Becoming Adient charges ($46 million in fiscal 2018 compared to $55 million in fiscal 2017). Refer to the segment analysis 
below for a discussion of segment profitability.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 694 —% $ 691

% of sales 4.0% 4.3%

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) increased by $3 million in fiscal 2018. SG&A was unfavorably impacted 
by $93 million of growth investments to support new business wins, the full year impact of Futuris operations and the full year 
impact of the consolidation of a China affiliate of $19 million and the unfavorable impact of foreign currency of $24 million, an 
unfavorable impact from pension mark-to-market of $19 million (a $22 million benefit in fiscal 2018 compared to a $41 million 
benefit in fiscal 2017), the prior year initial funding of the Adient foundation of $12 million and prior year Futuris transaction 
costs of $3 million, partially offset by $135 million of lower overall administrative expenses and $34 million of lower Becoming 
Adient and separation costs. Certain of the lower administrative expenses in fiscal 2018 related to reduced discretionary spending 
and lower incentive compensation levels are not anticipated to recur as part of the annual run rate of SG&A. Refer to the segment 
analysis below for a discussion of segment profitability.

Restructuring and Impairment Costs

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Restructuring and impairment costs $ 1,181 * $ 46

* Measure not meaningful

Refer to Note 18, "Restructuring and Impairment Costs," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for information related 
to Adient's restructuring plans.

Net Financing Charges

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Net financing charges $ 144 9% $ 132

Net financing charges increased in fiscal 2018 primarily due to the increased use of Adient's revolving credit facility during fiscal 
2018. Net financing charges increased in fiscal 2017 as a result of the debt incurred and maintained in connection with the separation 
from the former Parent.

Equity Income

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Equity income $ (13) * $ 522

* Measure not meaningful

Equity loss was $13 million for fiscal 2018, compared to equity income of $522 million for fiscal 2017. The decrease during fiscal 
2018 was primarily attributable to overall lower profitability at YFAI during the current year, along with a $366 million pre-tax 
current year charge related to YFAI ($358 million impairment of the YFAI investment and $8 million related to U.S. tax reform 
legislation) and a prior year gain of $151 million on a previously held interest in a China affiliate, partially offset by higher income 
at non-consolidated Seating and SS&M affiliates and the favorable impact of foreign currency translation of $17 million. Refer 
to Note 22, "Nonconsolidated Partially-Owned Affiliates," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for further disclosure 
related to Adient's nonconsolidated partially-owned affiliates.
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Income Tax Provision

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Income tax provision $ 480 * $ 99

* Measure not meaningful

The fiscal 2018 income tax expense of $480 million was higher than the Irish statutory rate of 12.5% primarily due to the charge 
to recognize the impact of U.S. tax reform legislation, repatriation of foreign earnings, and changes in uncertain tax positions and 
valuation allowances, partially offset by benefits from global tax planning, losses in jurisdictions subject to state and local taxation, 
notional interest deductions, foreign tax rate differentials, and impairment deductions.
  
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was signed and enacted into law, and is effective for tax years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with the exception of certain provisions. As a fiscal year taxpayer, Adient will not be subject 
to the majority of the provisions until fiscal year 2019, however the statutory tax rate reduction is effective January 1, 2018. The 
Act reduces the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%. Adient’s fiscal 2018 income tax expense reflects the benefit from the 
reduced rate of 24.5% resulting from the application of Internal Revenue Code, Section 15 which provides for a proration of the 
newly enacted rate during fiscal 2018. This benefit is offset by a non-cash tax expense of $106 million related to the remeasurement 
of Adient’s net deferred tax assets at the lower statutory rate,  a non-cash estimated tax expense of $100 million related to recording 
a valuation allowance to reflect the reduced benefit Adient expects to realize as a result of being subject to the Base Erosion and 
Anti-avoidance Tax ("BEAT"), and  tax expense of $4 million related to the transition tax imposed on previously untaxed earnings
and profits. Adient is projecting that it will be subject to BEAT, a parallel tax system, for the foreseeable future.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient refined its estimate of the impact of the income tax effects of the Act from the 
previously disclosed $258 million to $210 million as discussed above, based on new information, including the full year fiscal 
2018 results. Adient has completed its accounting for the deferred remeasurement and transition tax aspects of the Act. In accordance 
with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Adient is disclosing the estimated income tax impact for the BEAT valuation allowance. 
Although the $100 million tax expense represents what Adient believes is a reasonable estimate of the impact of the income tax 
effects of the Act on its consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2018, it is a provisional amount and will be impacted 
by the forthcoming BEAT regulatory guidance and Adient’s on-going analysis of the legislation. Adient will continue to assess 
the provisions of the Act and the anticipated impact to income tax expense and will disclose the impact on its consolidated financial 
statements in future financial filings. Any adjustment to the provisional amount will be offset by the U.S. valuation allowance 
resulting in no net impact to income tax expense (benefit) in the first quarter of fiscal 2019.

Adient reviews the realizability of its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis, or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that a review is required. In determining the requirement for a valuation allowance, the historical and projected financial 
results of the legal entity or combined group recording the net deferred tax asset are considered, along with any other positive or 
negative evidence. Since future financial results may differ from previous estimates, periodic adjustments to Adient's valuation 
allowances may be necessary. If Adient's operating performance continues to be negatively impacted and actual results differ 
significantly from current or prior estimates, Adient may conclude that it is more likely than not that a material portion of our 
deferred tax assets will not be realized.  As such, it is possible that a change to valuation allowances in certain jurisdictions may 
result in a material increase to income tax expense during the next twelve months. In addition, the effective tax rate in subsequent 
periods would also increase.

As a result of Adient's fiscal 2018 analysis of the realizability of its worldwide deferred tax assets, and after considering tax 
planning initiatives and other positive and negative evidence (including the SS&M long-lived asset impairment recorded in the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2018), Adient determined that it was more likely than not that deferred tax assets within the following 
jurisdictions would not be realized and recorded net valuation allowances as income tax expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal 
2018:  Belgium ($12 million), Canada ($6 million), Germany ($175 million), Hungary ($14 million), Mexico ($117 million), 
Poland ($8 million), Romania ($9 million), and the U.S. ($281 million).  Germany, Hungary, Mexico, Poland, Romania, and the 
U.S. cumulative loss positions were all adversely impacted by the SS&M performance issues and resulting long-lived asset 
impairment. 
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In addition, as a result of Adient's fiscal 2018 analysis, Adient determined that it was more likely than not that deferred tax assets 
within Brazil would be realized. Therefore, Adient released $76 million of valuation allowance as an income tax benefit in the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2018.  Adient continues to record valuation allowances on certain deferred tax assets in Australia, Czech 
Republic, Mexico, Poland, Spain and other jurisdictions as it remains more likely than not that they will not be realized. 

Refer to Note 20, "Income Taxes" of the notes to consolidated financial statements for further disclosure related to Adient's income 
tax provision.

Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Income attributable to noncontrolling interests $ 84 -1% $ 85

The decrease in income attributable to noncontrolling interests for fiscal 2018 was primarily attributable to the impact of the U.S. 
tax reform at one of Adient's consolidated affiliates ($4 million) and lower income at certain Seating affiliates, partially offset by 
the consolidation of a Seating affiliate in China ($10 million) in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Adient

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Net income (loss) attributable to Adient $ (1,685) * $ 877

* Measure not meaningful

Net loss attributable to Adient was $1,685 million for fiscal 2018, compared to $877 million of net income attributable to Adient 
for fiscal 2017. The net loss for fiscal 2018 is primarily attributable to overall lower profitability within Seating, SS&M and at 
YFAI along with $881 million of current year net-of-tax impairment charges in the SS&M business ($602 million related to 
longlived assets and $279 million related to goodwill), $330 million current year net-of-tax charges related to YFAI ($322 million 
impairment of our YFAI investment and $8 million related to U.S. tax reform legislation), current year income tax charges of $765 
million ($555 million to establish valuation allowances and $210 million for the impact of U.S. tax reform legislation) and a netof-
tax asset impairment charge of $35 million for assets held for sale.

Comprehensive Income Attributable to Adient

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Adient $ (1,819) * $ 756

* Measure not meaningful

Comprehensive loss attributable to Adient was $1,819 million for fiscal 2018 compared to comprehensive income attributable to 
Adient for fiscal 2017 of $756 million. The comprehensive loss attributable to Adient for fiscal 2018 was primarily due to lower 
net income attributable to Adient ($2,562 million) and the favorable impact of foreign currency ($13 million). The year-over-year 
favorable foreign currency impact was primarily driven by the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against other major currencies.



33

SEGMENT RESULTS

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient restructured certain of its management organization in response to the challenges 
faced in the seat structures and mechanisms business, resulting in a realignment of its reportable segments. Adient also began 
using an adjusted EBITDA metric to assess the performance of its segments and ceased allocating certain corporate-related costs 
to its segments. Prior period segment information has been recast to align with this change in organizational structure, the use of 
a new performance metric and to reflect unallocated corporate-related costs. Pursuant to this change, Adient operates in the 
following three reportable segments for financial reporting purposes: 

• Seating: This segment produces complete seat systems for automotive and other mobility applications, as well as certain 
components of complete seat systems, such as foam, trim and fabric.

• Seat Structures & Mechanisms (SS&M): This segment produces seat structures and mechanisms for inclusion in complete 
seat systems that are produced by Adient or others.

• Interiors: This segment, derived from Adient's global automotive interiors joint ventures, produces instrument panels, 
floor consoles, door panels, overhead consoles, cockpit systems, decorative trim and other products.

Adient evaluates the performance of its reportable segments using an adjusted EBITDA metric defined as income before income 
taxes and noncontrolling interests, excluding net financing charges, qualified restructuring and impairment costs, restructuring 
related-costs, incremental "Becoming Adient" costs, separation costs, net mark-to-market adjustments on pension and 
postretirement plans, transaction gains/losses, purchase accounting amortization, depreciation, stock-based compensation and 
other non-recurring items ("Adjusted EBITDA"). Also, certain corporate-related costs are not allocated to the segments. The 
reportable segments are consistent with how management views the markets served by Adient and reflect the financial information 
that is reviewed by its chief operating decision maker.   

Financial information relating to Adient's reportable segments is as follows: 

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Net sales

Seating $ 15,704 $ 14,742
SS&M 3,003 2,810
Eliminations (1,268) (1,339)

Total net sales $ 17,439 $ 16,213
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Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Adjusted EBITDA

Seating $ 1,411 $ 1,578
SS&M (168) 82
Interiors 62 93

Corporate-related costs (1) (105) (148)
Becoming Adient costs (2) (62) (95)
Separation costs (3) — (10)
Restructuring and impairment costs (4) (1,181) (46)
Purchase accounting amortization (5) (69) (43)
Restructuring related charges (6) (61) (37)
Pension mark-to-market (7) 24 45
Impairment of nonconsolidated partially owned affiliate (8) (358) —
Gain on previously-held interest (9) — 151
Depreciation (10) (393) (332)
Stock based compensation (11) (37) (29)
Other items (12) (40) (16)

Earnings (loss) before interest and income taxes (977) 1,193
Net financing charges (144) (132)

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (1,121) $ 1,061
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(1) Corporate-related costs not allocated to the segments include executive office, communications, corporate development, 
legal, finance and marketing. The lower levels of corporate-related costs in fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017 primarily 
relate to reduced discretionary spending and lower levels of incentive compensation. These lower levels of expenses are 
not anticipated to recur as part of the annual run rate of SG&A.

(2) Reflects incremental expenses associated with becoming an independent company.
(3) Reflects expenses associated with and incurred prior to the separation from the former Parent. 
(4) Reflects qualified restructuring charges for costs that are directly attributable to restructuring activities and meet the 

definition of restructuring under ASC 420 and non-recurring impairment charges. Fiscal 2018 restructuring and impairment 
costs includes a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $1,086 in the SS&M business ($787 million related to long-lived 
assets $299 million related to goodwill), a $49 million non-cash impairment charge related to assets held for sale and a $46 
million qualified restructuring charge. Refer to Note 3, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," Note 4, "Property, Plant 
and Equipment," Note 18, "Restructuring and Impairment Costs," and Note 19, "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets," of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements for more information. The FY2017 amount relates primarily to qualified 
restructuring.

(5) Reflects amortization of intangible assets including those related to partially owned affiliates recorded within equity income.
(6) Reflects restructuring related charges for costs that are directly attributable to restructuring activities, but do not meet the 

definition of restructuring under ASC 420. 
(7) Reflects net mark-to-market adjustments on pension and postretirement plans.
(8) Reflects a non-cash impairment charge related to Adient's YFAI investment balance, which has been recorded within the  

equity income line in the consolidated statements of income.  See  Note 22, "Nonconsolidated Partially-Owned Affiliates," 
for more information.

(9) An amendment to the rights agreement of a seating affiliate in China was finalized in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017 giving 
Adient control of the previously non-consolidated affiliate. Adient began consolidating the entity in July 2017 and was 
required to apply purchase accounting, including recognizing a gain on our previously held interest, which has been recorded 
in equity income.

(10) For the twelve months ended September 30, 2018, depreciation excludes $7 million, which is included in restructuring 
related charges discussed above. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2017, depreciation excludes $5 million which 
is included in Becoming Adient costs discussed above. 

(11) For the twelve months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, stock based compensation excludes $10 million and $16 
million, respectively. These amounts are included in Becoming Adient costs discussed above.

(12) The twelve months ended September 30, 2018 primarily includes $22 million integration costs associated with the acquisition 
of Futuris, $11 million of non-recurring consulting fees related to SS&M, and a $8 million charge related to the impact of 
the U.S. tax reform on YFAI. The twelve months ended September 30, 2017 primarily includes $3 million of transaction 
costs associated with the acquisition of Futuris and $12 million of initial funding of the Adient foundation. 

Seating

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Net sales $ 15,704 7% $ 14,742
Adjusted EBITDA 1,411 -11% 1,578

Net sales increased for fiscal 2018 by $962 million due to the full year impact of Futuris operations and the full year impact of 
the consolidation of a China affiliate ($877 million) and the favorable impact of foreign currency ($423 million), partially offset 
by overall lower volumes ($256 million) and net pricing reductions ($82 million). The volume decrease was attributable to North 
America and Asia, partially offset by an increase in Europe.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased for fiscal 2018 by $167 million due to an increase in operating costs including increased freight, 
operational waste and net pricing reductions ($212 million), growth investments to support new business wins ($95 million), lower 
volumes in certain regions ($41 million) and unfavorable net material economics ($36 million), partially offset by the full year 
impact of  Futuris operations and the full year impact of the consolidation of a China affiliate ($94 million), lower administrative 
expenses ($81 million), the favorable impact of foreign currency ($37 million) and higher equity income ($5 million).
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SS&M

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Net sales $ 3,003 7% $ 2,810
Adjusted EBITDA (168) * 82

* Measure not meaningful

Net sales increased for fiscal 2018 by $193 million due to higher volumes ($103 million), the favorable impact of foreign currency 
($74 million) and certain material economic recoveries ($41 million), partially offset by net pricing reductions ($25 million). The 
volume increase was attributable to Europe, partially offset by decreases in North America and Asia.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased for fiscal 2018 by $250 million due to an increase in operating costs related to launch inefficiencies, 
premium freight, steel supply constraints and cost of customer interruptions ($200 million), unfavorable material economics, net 
of recoveries ($23 million), the impact of net pricing reductions ($23 million), unfavorable product mix ($7 million) and the 
unfavorable impact of foreign currency ($5 million), partially offset by higher equity income ($6 million) and lower administrative 
expenses ($2 million).

Interiors

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 Change 2017
Net sales $ — * $ —
Adjusted EBITDA 62 -33% 93

* Measure not meaningful

Adjusted EBITDA decreased for fiscal 2018 by $31 million, primarily attributable to operational issues within the YFAI business 
($34 million), unfavorable product mix and net price reductions, partially offset by the favorable impact of foreign currency ($3 
million).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Adient's primary liquidity needs are to fund general business requirements, including working capital, capital expenditures, 
restructuring costs, debt service requirements, share repurchases and dividends. Adient's principal sources of liquidity are cash 
flows from operating activities, the revolving credit facility and other debt issuances, and existing cash balances. Funding also 
previously came from the former Parent through October 31, 2016 and as part of the separation agreement. Adient actively manages 
its working capital and associated cash requirements and continually seeks more effective uses of cash. Working capital is highly 
influenced by the timing of cash flows associated with sales and purchases, and therefore can be difficult to manage at times. See 
below and refer to Note 9, "Debt and Financing Arrangements," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for discussion 
of financing arrangements. Following the first quarter of fiscal 2019 dividend payout, Adient has suspended future dividends. See 
below and refer to Note 9, "Debt and Financing Arrangements," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for discussion 
of financing arrangements.

Indebtedness

On July 27, 2016, Adient Global Holdings Ltd ("AGH"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Adient, entered into a credit agreement 
providing for commitments with respect to a $1.5 billion revolving credit facility and a $1.5 billion Term Loan A facility ("Original 
Credit Facilities"). The Original Credit Facilities mature on July 2021. Commencing March 31, 2017 until the Term Loan A 
maturity date, amortization of the funded Term Loan A is required in an amount per quarter equal to 0.625% of the original principal 
amount in the first year following the closing date of the credit facilities on July 27, 2016 ("Closing Date"), 1.25% in each quarter 
of the second and third years following the Closing Date, and 2.5% in each quarter thereafter prior to final maturity. The Original 
Credit Facilities contained covenants that include, among other things and subject to certain significant exceptions, restrictions 
on Adient's ability to declare or pay dividends, make certain payments in respect of the notes, create liens, incur additional 
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indebtedness, make investments, engage in transactions with affiliates, enter into agreements restricting Adient's subsidiaries' 
ability to pay dividends, dispose of assets and merge or consolidate with any other person. In addition, the Original Credit Facilities 
contain a financial maintenance covenant requiring Adient to maintain a total net leverage ratio equal to or less than 3.5x adjusted 
EBITDA calculated on a quarterly basis. The Term Loan A facility also requires mandatory prepayments in connection with certain 
non-ordinary course asset sales and insurance recovery and condemnation events, among other things, and subject in each case 
to certain significant exceptions. During the first quarter of fiscal 2019, Adient entered into an amendment to the Original Credit 
Facilities (“Amended Credit Facilities") whereby the financial maintenance covenant was amended to require Adient to maintain 
a total net leverage ratio equal to or less than 4.5x adjusted EBITDA, effective September 30, 2018 with step down provisions 
starting in the quarter ending December 31, 2020. The amendment also expanded the upper range of interest rate margins such 
that the drawn portion of the Amended Credit Facilities will bear interest based on LIBOR plus a margin between 1.25% - 2.50% 
(previously 1.25% - 2.25%), based on Adient’s total net leverage ratio. No other terms were impacted by the amendment. During 
the second quarter of fiscal 2019, Adient entered into an amendment to the Amended Credit Facilities (“Second Amended Credit 
Facilities") whereby the financial maintenance covenant contained in the Amended Credit Facilities was amended to require Adient 
to maintain a first lien secured net leverage ratio equal to or less than 2.5x adjusted EBITDA as of the last day of each quarter, 
with step down provisions starting on September 30, 2020. The amendment also added a new tier to the pricing schedule that will 
be applicable when the total net leverage ratio exceeds 4.0x adjusted EBITDA and amended certain other definitions, negative 
covenants and other terms within the credit facility. Adient expects to be in compliance with its financial covenants for the 
foreseeable future. Adient is currently exploring financing options that would provide further flexibility for its business including 
the refinancing of its credit facilities.
 
The full amount of the Term Loan A facility was drawn down in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016. These funds were transferred 
to the former Parent at the time of the draw down and were reflected within net transfers to the former Parent in the consolidated 
statement of cash flow during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016. In February 2017, Adient repaid $100 million of the Term Loan 
A facility. In May 2017, Adient repaid another $200 million of the Term Loan A facility. The total amount repaid was treated as 
a prepayment of the quarterly mandatory principle amortization for the period between March 2017 and June 2020 resulting in 
no required principal payment until June 2020. 

AGH will pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the commitments under the revolving credit facility based on the total 
net leverage ratio of Adient, ranging from 0.15% to 0.40%. No amounts were outstanding under the revolving credit facility at 
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

On August 19, 2016, AGH issued $0.9 billion aggregate principal amount of 4.875% USD-denominated unsecured notes due 2026 
and €1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 3.50% unsecured notes due 2024, in a private offering exempt from the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The proceeds of the notes were used, together with the Term Loan A 
facility, to pay a distribution to the former Parent, with the remaining proceeds used for working capital and general corporate 
purposes. 

On May 29, 2017, Adient Germany Ltd. & Co. KG, a wholly owned subsidiary of Adient, borrowed €165 million in an unsecured 
term loan from the European Investment Bank due in 2022. The loan bears interest at the 6-month EURIBOR rate plus 90 basis 
points. Loan proceeds were used to repay $200 million of the Term Loan A. 

Sources of Cash Flows

 
Year Ended

September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 679 $ 746
Cash provided (used) by investing activities $ (487) $ (795)
Cash provided (used) by financing activities $ (213) $ 627
Capital expenditures $ (536) $ (577)

Cash flows from operating activities

The decrease in operating cash flows is primarily attributable to overall lower levels of profitability, partially offset by favorable 
changes in working capital, specifically higher levels of accounts payable, lower levels of accounts receivable and lower year over 
year cash outlays associated with established restructuring plans, partially offset by an increase in inventory. See also the working 
capital section below for further information on changes in working capital.
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Cash flows from investing activities

The decrease in cash used by investing activities is primarily attributable to the prior year net cash outflow of $247 million for 
the acquisition of Futuris and the consolidation of our China affiliate along with lower levels of capital expenditures in the current 
year due to the timing of capital investment needs based primarily on the timing and ramp up of product launches.  See below for 
further discussion of capital expenditures.

Cash flows from financing activities

The decrease in cash provided by financing activities is primarily due to funding by the former Parent during fiscal 2017 to fund 
working capital, capital expenditures and establish opening cash balances for Adient at October 31, 2016 along with increased 
levels of dividends paid to noncontrolling interests.

Capital expenditures

Fiscal 2018 compared to Fiscal 2017:  The decrease in capital expenditures was primarily related to prior year capital investments 
associated with becoming an independent company, current year timing of launches and tightening controls around overall spending.

Working capital

September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017

Current assets $ 4,309 $ 4,499
Current liabilities 4,192 4,328

Working capital $ 117 $ 171

The decrease in working capital of $54 million is primarily attributable to lower levels of accounts receivable and other current 
assets including tooling receivables, along with higher levels of accounts payable, partially offset by lower levels of accrued 
compensation, lower restructuring reserves and increased levels of inventory as of September 30, 2018.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

Adient enters into supply chain financing programs in certain foreign jurisdictions to sell accounts receivable without recourse to 
third-party financial institutions. Sales of accounts receivable are reflected as a reduction of accounts receivable on the consolidated 
statements of financial position and the proceeds are included in cash flows from operating activities in the consolidated statements 
of cash flows. During the third quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient entered into an additional €200 million accounts receivable transfer 
and servicing arrangement. As of September 30, 2018, $142 million has been funded under the program.

A summary of Adient's significant contractual obligations as of September 30, 2018:

(in millions) Total 2019 2020-2021 2022-2023
Beyond

2023
Long-term debt (including capital lease obligations) $ 3,456 $ 2 $ 1,200 $ 192 $ 2,062
Interest on long-term debt (including capital lease
obligations) 742 136 264 170 172
Operating leases 437 123 154 98 62
Purchase obligations 344 344
Pension and postretirement contributions 123 9 20 22 72
Total contractual cash obligations $ 5,102 $ 614 $ 1,638 $ 482 $ 2,368
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

Adient prepares its consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America (U.S. GAAP). This requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and 
related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The following policies are considered by management to be 
the most critical in understanding the judgments that are involved in the preparation of Adient's consolidated financial statements 
and the uncertainties that could impact results of operations, financial position and cash flows. 

Revenue Recognition

Adient records revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery occurs or services are rendered, the sales 
price or fee is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Adient delivers products and records revenue pursuant 
to commercial agreements with its customers generally in the form of an approved purchase order, including the effects of contractual 
customer price productivity. Adient does negotiate discrete price changes with its customers, which are generally the result of 
unique commercial issues between Adient and its customers. Adient records amounts associated with discrete price changes as a 
reduction to revenue when specific facts and circumstances indicate that a price reduction is probable and the amounts are reasonably 
estimable. Adient records amounts associated with discrete price changes as an increase to revenue upon execution of a legally 
enforceable contractual agreement and when collectability is reasonable assured. Refer to Note 1, "Basis of Presentation and 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more information regarding 
Adient's adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)." 

Impairment of Goodwill, Other Long-lived Assets and Investments in Partially Owned Affiliates

Goodwill reflects the cost of an acquisition in excess of the fair values assigned to identifiable net assets acquired. Adient reviews 
goodwill for impairment during the fourth fiscal quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
asset might be impaired. Adient performs impairment reviews for its reporting units, which have been determined to be Adient's 
reportable segments, using a fair value method based on management's judgments and assumptions or third party valuations. The 
fair value of a reporting unit refers to the price that would be received to sell the unit as a whole in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. In estimating the fair value, Adient uses multiples of earnings based on the average 
of historical, published multiples of earnings of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics. In certain 
instances, Adient uses discounted cash flow analyses or estimated sales price to further support the fair value estimates. The inputs 
utilized in the analyses are classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy as defined in ASC 820, "Fair Value 
Measurement." These calculations contain uncertainties as they require management to make assumptions about market 
comparables, future cash flows, the appropriate discount rate (based on weighted average cost of capital) and growth rate to reflect 
the risk inherent in the future cash flows. The estimated future cash flows reflect management's latest assumptions of the financial 
projections based on current and anticipated competitive landscape and product profitability based on historical trends. A change 
in any of these estimates and assumptions could produce a different fair value, which could have a material impact on Adient's 
results of operations. The estimated fair value is then compared with the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including recorded 
goodwill. Adient is subject to financial statement risk to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value. As 
a result of the change in reportable segments during the second quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient conducted a goodwill impairment 
analyses of the newly allocated goodwill balances under the new reportable segment structure and determined that goodwill 
associated with the SS&M reportable segment was fully impaired. Consequently, a pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of $299 
million was recognized in the consolidated statements of income (loss) within the restructuring and impairment costs line item. 
Refer to Note 3, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional 
information.

Adient reviews long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets with definite lives, for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset's carrying amount may not be recoverable. Adient 
conducts its long-lived asset impairment analyses in accordance with ASC 360-10-15, "Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets." ASC 360-10-15 requires Adient to group assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are 
largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities and evaluate the asset group against the sum of the undiscounted 
future cash flows. If the undiscounted cash flows do not indicate the carrying amount of the asset is recoverable, an impairment 
charge is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value based on discounted cash 
flow analysis or appraisals. Intangible assets with indefinite lives continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives and 
are subject to impairment testing if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. A considerable 
amount of management judgment and assumptions are required in performing the impairment tests. In fiscal 2018, Adient concluded 
it had triggering events requiring assessment of impairment for the SS&M long-lived assets. As a result, Adient reviewed the long-
lived assets for impairment and recorded a $787 million impairment charge within restructuring and impairment costs on the 
consolidated statements of income (loss). The impairment charge related to long-lived assets that were in use in North America 
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and Europe asset groups as of September 30, 2018 in support of current programs. The impairment was measured, depending on 
the asset, either under an income approach utilizing forecasted discounted cash flows or a market approach utilizing appraisal 
techniques to determine fair values of the impaired assets. These methods are consistent with the methods Adient employed in 
prior periods to value other long-lived assets. The inputs utilized in the analyses are classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair 
value hierarchy as defined in ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement" and primarily consist of expected future operating margins and 
cash flows, estimated production volumes, weighted average cost of capital rates (13.0%), estimated salable values and third-party 
appraisal techniques such as market comparables. To the extent that profitability on current or future programs decline as compared 
to forecasted profitability or if adverse changes occur to key assumptions or other fair value measurement inputs, further impairment 
of long-lived assets could occur in the future. Refer to Note 19, "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets," of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for additional information. 

Adient monitors its investments in partially-owned affiliates for indicators of other-than-temporary declines in value on an ongoing 
basis. If Adient determines that an other-than-temporary decline in value has occurred, it recognizes an impairment loss, which is 
measured as the difference between the recorded book value and the fair value of the investment. Fair value is generally determined 
using an income approach based on discounted cash flows or negotiated transaction values. During fiscal 2018, Adient concluded 
it had an other-than-temporary decline in value related to its investment in YFAI and recorded a $358 million impairment charge. 
The impairment was measured under an income approach utilizing discounted cash flows to derive a fair value of our investment 
in YFAI. Based on the fair value, the carrying value of the investment in YFAI exceeded fair value by $358 million, and as such 
Adient recorded a non-cash impairment charge within equity income in the consolidated statements of income (loss) for that 
amount in the fourth quarter of 2018. The inputs utilized in the analyses are classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair value 
hierarchy as defined in ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement" and primarily consist of expected future operating margins and cash 
flows of YFAI, estimated production volumes, weighted average cost of capital (12.5%) and noncontrolling interest discounts. To 
the extent that profitability continues to decline as compared to forecasted profitability or if adverse changes occur to key 
assumptions or other fair value measurement inputs, further impairment of Adient's YFAI investment could occur in the future.Refer 
to Note 22, "Nonconsolidated Partially-Owned Affiliates," of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional 
information.

Employee Benefit Plans 

Adient provides a range of benefits to its employees and retired employees, including pensions and postretirement benefits. These 
benefits are Adient's direct obligation and have been recorded within Adient's historical consolidated financial statements. Plan 
assets and obligations are measured annually, or more frequently if there is a remeasurement event, based on Adient's measurement 
date utilizing various actuarial assumptions such as discount rates, assumed rates of return, compensation increases, turnover rates 
and health care cost trend rates as of that date. Adient reviews its actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and makes modifications 
to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when appropriate. 

Adient utilizes a mark-to-market approach for recognizing pension and postretirement benefit expenses, including measuring the 
market related value of plan assets at fair value and recognizing actuarial gains and losses in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year 
or at the date of a remeasurement event. 

U.S. GAAP requires that companies recognize in the statement of financial position a liability for defined benefit pension and 
postretirement plans that are underfunded or unfunded, or an asset for defined benefit pension and postretirement plans that are 
overfunded. U.S. GAAP also requires that companies measure the benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets that determine 
a benefit plan's funded status as of the date of the employer's fiscal year end. 

Adient considers the expected benefit payments on a plan-by-plan basis when setting assumed discount rates. As a result, Adient 
uses different discount rates for each plan depending on the plan jurisdiction, the demographics of participants and the expected 
timing of benefit payments. For the U.S. pension and postretirement plans, Adient uses a discount rate provided by an independent 
third party calculated based on an appropriate mix of high quality bonds. For the non-U.S. pension and postretirement plans, Adient 
consistently uses the relevant country specific benchmark indices for determining the various discount rates. Adient's discount 
rate on U.S. pension plans was 4.29% and 3.85% at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Adient's discount rate on U.S. 
postretirement plans was NA and 3.50% at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Adient's weighted average discount rate 
on non-U.S. plans was 2.63% and 2.60% at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

In estimating the expected return on plan assets, Adient considers the historical returns on plan assets, adjusted for forward-looking 
considerations, inflation assumptions and the impact of the active management of the plans' invested assets. The long-term rates 
of return for prior periods were determined based on former Parent assumptions. Reflecting the relatively long-term nature of the 
plans' obligations, approximately 55% of the plans' assets are invested in fixed income securities and 16% in equity securities, 
with the remainder primarily invested in alternative investments. For fiscal years 2018 and 2017, Adient's expected long-term 
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return on U.S. pension plan assets used to determine net periodic benefit cost was 5.15% and 5.50% respectively. The actual rate 
of return on U.S. pension plans was below 5.15% in fiscal 2018 and above 5.50% in fiscal 2017. For fiscal years 2018 and 2017,
Adient's weighted average expected long-term return on non-U.S. pension plan assets was 4.19% and 3.80%, respectively. The 
actual rate of return on non-U.S. pension plans was below 4.19% in fiscal 2018 and was above 3.80% in fiscal 2017. For fiscal 
years 2018 and 2017, Adient's weighted average expected long-term return on postretirement plan assets was NA and 3.35%, 
respectively. The actual rate of return on postretirement plan assets was above NA in fiscal 2018 and was above 3.35% in fiscal 
2017. 

Beginning in fiscal 2019, Adient estimates the long-term rate of return will approximate 5.15%, 4.19%  and 3.75% for U.S. pension, 
non-U.S. pension and postretirement plans, respectively. Any differences between actual investment results and the expected 
longterm asset returns will be reflected in net periodic benefit costs in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. If Adient's actual 
returns on plan assets are less than Adient's expectations, additional contributions may be required. 

In fiscal 2018, total Adient contributions to the defined benefit pension plans were $12 million. Adient expects to contribute at 
least $19 million in cash to its defined benefit pension plans in fiscal 2019. In fiscal 2018, total Adient contributions to the 
postretirement plans were not significant. Adient does not expect to make significant contributions to its postretirement plans in 
fiscal 2019. 

Based on information provided by its independent actuaries and other relevant sources, Adient believes that the assumptions used 
are reasonable; however, changes in these assumptions could impact Adient's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

Refer to Note 17, "Retirement Plans," of the notes to consolidated audited financial statements for Adient's pension and 
postretirement benefit plans.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and other loss 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Adient records a valuation allowance that 
primarily represents operating and other loss carryforwards for which realization is uncertain. Management judgment is required 
in determining Adient's provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and the valuation allowance recorded against 
Adient's net deferred tax assets.

Adient reviews the realizability of its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis, or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that a review is required. In determining the requirement for a valuation allowance, the historical and projected financial 
results of the legal entity or combined group recording the net deferred tax asset are considered, along with any other positive or 
negative evidence. Since future financial results may differ from previous estimates, periodic adjustments to Adient's valuation 
allowances may be necessary.

Adient is subject to income taxes in Ireland, the U.S. and other non-U.S. jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining its 
worldwide provision for income taxes and recording the related assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of Adient's business, 
there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Adient's income tax returns for 
various fiscal years remain under audit by the respective tax authorities. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, 
management believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax returns and that its annual tax provisions 
included amounts sufficient to pay assessments, if any, which may be proposed by the taxing authorities. Nonetheless, the amounts 
ultimately paid, if any, upon resolution of the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts accrued 
for each year.

Adient does not generally provide for additional income taxes which would become payable upon repatriation of undistributed 
earnings of wholly owned foreign subsidiaries. Adient's intent is for such earnings to be reinvested by the subsidiaries or to be 
repatriated only when it would be tax efficient.
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On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Act") was signed and enacted into law, and is effective for tax years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with the exception of certain provisions. The Act includes a provision to tax global intangible 
low-taxed income ("GILTI") of foreign subsidiaries, which will be effective for Adient beginning in fiscal year 2019. Adient has 
made a policy election to treat taxes due under the GILTI provision as a current period expense in the reporting period in which 
the tax is incurred.

Refer to Note 20, "Income Taxes," of the notes to consolidated audited financial statements for Adient's income tax disclosures.

Restructuring 

Adient accrues costs in connection with its restructuring actions. These accruals include estimates primarily related to employee 
headcount, local statutory benefits, and other employee termination costs. Actual costs may vary from these estimates. These 
accruals are reviewed on a quarterly basis and changes to restructuring actions are appropriately recognized when identified. Refer 
to Note 18, “Restructuring and Impairment Costs,” of the notes to consolidated financial statements for more information. 

Adient committed to a restructuring plan in fiscal 2018 to drive cost efficiencies and to balance our global production against 
demand and recorded $71 million of restructuring costs in the consolidated statement of income that was offset by underspend in 
prior years by $25 million. The restructuring actions related to cost reduction initiatives in the Seating and SS&M segments. The 
costs consist primarily of workforce reductions and plant closures. Adient currently estimates that upon completion of the 
restructuring actions, the fiscal 2018 restructuring plan will reduce annual operating costs by approximately $65 million, which 
is primarily the result of lower costs of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses due to reduced employee-related 
costs, of which approximately 55% will result in net savings. The restructuring actions are expected to be substantially complete 
in fiscal 2019. The restructuring plan reserve balance of $48 million at September 30, 2018 is expected to be paid in cash.

Adient committed to a restructuring plan in fiscal 2017 to drive cost efficiencies and to balance our global production against 
demand and recorded $46 million of restructuring and impairment costs in the consolidated statement of income. The restructuring 
actions related to cost reduction initiatives in the Seating segment. The costs consist primarily of workforce reductions and plant 
closures. Adient currently estimates that upon completion of the restructuring actions, the fiscal 2017 restructuring plan will reduce 
annual operating costs by approximately $40 million, which is primarily the result of lower cost of sales and selling, general and 
administrative expenses due to reduced employee-related costs, of which approximately 55%-60% will result in net savings. Adient 
partially achieved these savings in fiscal years 2017 and 2018. The restructuring actions are expected to be substantially complete 
in fiscal 2019. The restructuring plan reserve balance of $12 million at September 30, 2018 is expected to be paid in cash.

ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH AND SAFETY AND OTHER MATTERS

Adient is involved in various lawsuits, claims and proceedings incidental to the operation of its businesses, including those 
pertaining to product liability, product safety, environmental, safety and health, intellectual property, employment, commercial, 
contractual and various other matters. Although the outcome of any such lawsuit, claim or proceeding cannot be predicted with 
certainty and some may be disposed of unfavorably to Adient, it is management's opinion that none of these will have a material 
adverse effect on Adient's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Adient accrues for potential liabilities in a manner 
consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, that is, when it is probable a liability has been 
incurred and the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable.
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ACQUISITION AND CANCELLATION OF OWN SHARES

On March 13, 2017, Adient’s board of directors authorized Adient to repurchase its ordinary shares up to an aggregate purchase 
price of $250 million until December 31, 2019. Under the share repurchase authorization, Adient’s ordinary shares may be purchased 
either through any one or more of a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan and discretionary purchases on the open market, by block trades or 
privately negotiated transactions. The number of ordinary shares repurchased, if any, and the timing of repurchases will depend 
on a number of factors, including share price, trading volume and general market conditions, as well as on working capital 
requirements, general business conditions and other factors. Repurchased shares were retired immediately upon repurchase.

The Adient share repurchase activities for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (dollars in millions):

Year Ended September 30

2018 2017

(dollars in millions)
Ordinary Shares

of $0.001 Amount
Ordinary Shares 

of $0.001 Amount
Balance at beginning of year — $ — — $ —
Payments to acquire Adient shares — — 573,437 40
Retirement of Adient shares — — (573,437) (40)
Balance at end of year — $ — — $ —

DIVIDENDS

During fiscal 2018 and 2017, Adient declared $77 million and $78 million of dividends, respectively. Adient has suspended its 
cash dividends following the dividend paid in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. Any future dividends will be at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors and will depend upon Adient's financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, alternative uses 
of capital and other factors the Board of Directors may consider at its discretion. In addition, under Irish law, dividends and 
distributions (including the payment of cash dividends or share repurchases) may be made only from "distributable reserves" on 
Adient's unconsolidated balance sheet prepared in accordance with the Irish Companies Act 2014. In addition, no distribution or 
dividend may be paid or made by Adient unless the net assets of Adient are equal to, or exceed, the aggregate of Adient's share 
capital that has been paid up or that is payable in the future plus non-distributable reserves, and the distribution does not reduce 
Adient's net assets below such aggregate.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The directors do not anticipate any significant changes in Adient's strategic activities following the date of this report.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The measures that the directors have taken to secure compliance with the requirements of Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies 
Act 2014 with regards to the keeping of accounting records, are the employment of appropriately qualified accounting personnel 
and the maintenance of computerized accounting systems. In accordance with Section 283 of the Companies Act 2014, sufficient
books of account are maintained in Adient’s registered office in 25-28 North Wall Quay, IFSC, Dublin 1, Ireland and at Adient's 
offices at 833 East Michigan Ave, Milwaukee, WI 53202, USA to disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of 
Adient at intervals not exceeding six months.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE YEAR END

Subsequent events have been evaluated through February 11, 2019, the date this report was approved by the Board of Directors. 
Refer to Note 28, "Subsequent Events," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information.



44

DIRECTORS

The following table lists directors who have served during fiscal 2018. On June 11, 2018, R. Bruce McDonald resigned. On June 
4, 2018, Peter Carlin was appointed as a director. 

On October 1, 2018, Douglas G. Del Grosso was appointed as a director in connection with his appointment as Adient's President 
and Chief Executive Officer. 

DIRECTORS' AND CORPORATE SECRETARY INTERESTS IN SHARES

The interests in the ordinary shares of the Parent Company of the directors and corporate secretary of Adient plc holding office 
at the end of the fiscal year 2018 and fiscal year 2017 were as follows:

September 30, September 30,
2018 2017

Directors
Ordinary

Shares
Exercisable

Stock Options
Ordinary

Shares
Exercisable

Stock Options

John M. Barth 4,066 — 1,715 —

Julie L. Bushman 5,228 — 2,877 —

Peter H. Carlin (1) 2,052 — — —

Raymond L. Conner 7,621 — 5,270 —

Richard Goodman 4,442 — 2,091 —

Frederick A. Henderson 17,863 — 1,715 —

Barb J. Samardzich 4,110 — 1,715 —

R. Bruce McDonald 18,160 17,751 17,434 76,487

Corporate Secretary

Cathleen A. Ebacher 453 — 445 2,584

(1) Peter Carlin became a director on June 4, 2018 and did not hold any interest in Parent Company shares at the time of 
appointment.

POLITICAL DONATIONS

No political donations that require disclosure under Irish law were made during fiscal 2018.
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NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Adient's Business Model

A description of Adient's business model can be found under “Principal Activities” at pages 5 to 9 of this Report.

Adient's Commitment to Environmental, Social, Governance-Related Business Practices

At Adient, we believe that a commitment to positive environmental, social and governance-related business practices strengthens 
our company, increases our connection with our shareholders and helps us better serve our customers and the communities in 
which we operate. We also see in these commitments additional ways of creating value for our shareholders, our employees, our 
customers and the wider world. A description of Adient's risk factors, including those related to environmental, social and 
governance issues can be found under "Principal Risks and Uncertainties" at pages 10 to 28 of this Report.

As part of our enterprise-wide approach to risk management and our strategies for long-term value creation, our Board of Directors 
and our management monitor long-term risks and opportunities that may be impacted by environmental, social and governmental 
issues, set policies relating to these issues, and monitor the results of those policies. We monitor certain key metrics including 
those presented in this report associated with our environmental, social and governance-related business practices. We also expect 
that our suppliers conduct their operations in a socially and environmentally responsible manner. We require our suppliers to 
commit to our global supplier standards, which include certain requirements and expectations regarding:

• Environmental Matters;
• Diversity;
• Ethics and Integrity;
• Labor and Human Rights; and
• Health and Safety

The following is a summary of Adient's key policies and actions in the areas of (i) Environmental Matters, (ii) Social and Employee 
Matters, (iii) Human Rights and (iv) Bribery and Corruption. These policies and actions aim to ensure Adient manages risks in 
these areas and achieves its environmental, social and governmental goals.

Environmental Matters

Adient recognizes that its activities can have an impact on the environment, including as a result of the manner in which Adient 
sources materials and manufactures products, consumes energy and generates waste. In addition, Adient's development, 
performance and position may be affected by global climate change, as noted in the summary of the global climate change risks 
to Adient included at page 16 of this Report. Adient is committed to operating its business in an environmentally responsible 
manner that seeks to minimize environmental risks and impacts and promotes the safe, efficient and responsible use of global 
resources. Adient’s products and services also support our customers’ efforts to make their products more efficient and more 
environmentally friendly. Specifically, it is Adient's policy to:

• Source our materials, provide our products and services, and manage our facilities in an environmentally responsible 
manner.

• Minimize material usage, energy consumption and waste generation in the manufacturing of our products for the good 
of the environment and to minimize overall production costs.

• Research and identify materials and manufacturing methods that minimize impact to the environment through air and 
water emissions, waste generation, and energy consumption.

• Provide our customers with advanced lightweight materials that integrate technology and help minimize the lifetime 
environmental impact of our customers' products.

To support these policy objectives and to ensure that we have consistency in our efforts across the globe in a “one Adient” way, 
Adient has implemented the Adient Manufacturing System ("AMS"). Through our regional manufacturing leaders, we engage 
employees to drive world-class manufacturing and operational excellence and grow our business. AMS includes goals that:

• All wholly-owned Adient production facilities are ISO 14001 certified.
• All Adient manufacturing facilities strive to maintain environmental compliance.
• Each Adient manufacturing facility establishes its own environmental targets for energy conservation, waste minimization 

and regulated emissions.

AMS demonstrates our commitment to continual process and operational improvements in an environmentally friendly and 
sustainable manner.
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More broadly, Adient recognizes the relevance and importance of environmental risks and impacts in our wider supply chain. As 
noted above, we expect that our suppliers conduct their operations in an environmentally responsible manner and require them to 
commit to our global supplier standards.

As Adient is still a relatively new and developing company, it continues to monitor, review and assess its environmental impact 
and the outcomes of its environmental policies to ensure they are having the desired impact.The following table shows the data 
collected for Adient’s first year of operation as a standalone company. Data for fiscal year 2018 is in progress of being gathered 
and analyzed. Key performance indicators covering energy consumption, greenhouse gas emissions and waste generation have 
been included because they represent the key areas of Adient's environmental impact. Adient will continue to monitor the key 
performance indicators below and develop targets for those key performance indicators with the aim of reducing its overall 
environmental impact.

Key Performance Indicator Units Fiscal Year 2017

Energy Consumption Total Megawatt Hour 936,965

Acquired Fuel Megawatt Hour 8,650

Purchased or acquired electricity Megawatt Hour 652,584

Purchased or acquired heat Megawatt Hour 256,112

Purchased or acquired steam Megawatt Hour 19,619

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Direct Total (Scope 1)  Metric Tons CO2e 57,765

Natural Gas  Metric Tons CO2e 46,413

LPG/ Propane  Metric Tons CO2e 1,270

Diesel/ Light Fuel Oil  Metric Tons CO2e 808

Heavy Fuel Oil  Metric Tons CO2e 347

PU Foam Manufacturing  Metric Tons CO2e 6,299

Corporate Jet Fuel  Metric Tons CO2e 2,628

Indirect Total (Scope 2)  Metric Tons CO2e 350,471

Electricity  Metric Tons CO2e 346,026

Steam  Metric Tons CO2e 4,445

Waste

Landfilled Metric Tons 22,757

Incinerated Metric Tons 898

Recycled Metric Tons 214,755

Water Consumption Megaliters 14,205

Social and Employee Matters

Adient’s ability to sustain and grow its business requires it to hire, retain and develop a highly skilled and diverse management 
team and workforce.  Failure to ensure that Adient has the leadership capacity with the necessary skill set and experience could 
impede Adient's ability to deliver its growth objectives and execute its strategic plan. Organizational and reporting changes as a 
result of any future leadership transition and corporate initiatives, including restructuring actions, could result in increased turnover. 
Additionally, any unplanned turnover or inability to attract and retain key employees could have a negative effect on Adient's 
results of operations. The following sections summarize material aspects of Adient's policies relating to social and employee 
matters and management of the risks outlined above.
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Diversity and Inclusion

Adient is committed to advancing diversity and inclusion. A diverse and inclusive workforce is essential to business success and 
is what our customers expect. We value and respect the diversity of our employees, directors, suppliers, customers, and communities.  
We build a culture of diversity and inclusion through our human resource practices and policies, and work to eliminate discrimination 
and harassment in all of its forms, including that related to color, race, gender, sexual orientation and gender identity, age, pregnancy, 
caste, disability, union membership, ethnicity, national origin or religious beliefs.

We are committed to providing equal opportunity in all of our employment and purchasing practices. This applies to hiring, salary, 
benefits, advancement, discipline, termination, and retirement.  

We actively support diversity around the world and work to build a culture of inclusion receptive to diverse ideas, experiences 
and practices. Specifically, we offer training and communication to help employees understand the benefits of workforce diversity, 
and to help managers build an inclusive workplace. Our people also benefit from opportunities to work outside of their home 
countries.

We support our employees in helping to create an inclusive workforce through initiatives like Business Resource Groups, which 
are employee-led, volunteer groups open to all employees with the goal to improve attraction, retention, inclusion, and engagement 
of a diverse and global workforce. Business Resource Groups at Adient are organized by employees and go through an official 
chartering process and must develop programming and initiatives focused in four areas: Career, Commerce, Culture and 
Community. Active Business Resource Groups at Adient today include the Women's Resource Network ("WRN"), African and 
African American Business Resource Group ("AAABRG").

We also commit to having a diverse talent pipeline by ensuring that our workforce and succession planning processes include an 
emphasis on under-represented groups.

Anti-Harassment:  No Tolerance Environment

Adient is committed to providing a workplace that is free of harassment or any other behavior that diminishes a person’s integrity 
and self-esteem. We will not tolerate physical or mental harassment or abuse. Adient requires the line management of each facility 
to ensure implementation of equal opportunity and no harassment policies in accordance with national, state or provincial law. 

Employees, temporary employees, visitors and other non-employees are encouraged to immediately report situations of harassment 
committed by anyone, including visitors and other non-employees. They are asked to report the matter to their department manager, 
plant/facility manager, or local human resources manager. Actions taken as a result of an investigation may include discipline and 
warnings to employees, employee counseling, leadership training, and EEOC/Harassment training.

We also expect our suppliers to treat their employees with dignity and to maintain workplaces free of discrimination and harassment 
in all forms.

Focus on Ethics

Adient’s Ethics Policy governs how Adient operates and how it will achieve its goals through gaining and keeping the trust of our 
customers, suppliers and communities. Doing business with integrity is the only way that Adient does business and we are committed 
to gaining and keeping the trust of our customers, suppliers and communities. The Ethics Policy applies to everyone at Adient - 
including the Board of Directors, officers, employees, agents and contract workers.

Adient makes it easy for our employees to express their ethics concerns. Our Compliance department maintains a 24-hour Integrity 
Helpline that is available in 26 languages, is operated by an independent third-party vendor and allows callers to report concerns 
or ask questions confidentially and anonymously. Employees, suppliers, customers and third parties can report concerns or ask 
questions either by phone or through a website, via our Integrity Helpline.  Concerns reported, or questions asked via the Integrity 
Helpline are triaged and then routed to the appropriate function or business unit for handling and response. Our Integrity Helpline 
statistics are reviewed monthly by our General Counsel, annually by the Audit Committee and periodically by our regional 
compliance committees.
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The Integrity Helpline is only one of several communication vehicles. Most often, employees discuss such issues directly with 
their supervisor. This reflects the fact that most day-to-day questions are handled at the local plant or office level with local 
managers and supervisors. Employees are encouraged to reach out to their Human Resources representative, or our Legal or 
Compliance departments if they do not feel comfortable going to their direct manager or supervisor.

Annually, our salaried, global workforce certify their compliance with our Ethics Policy. This certification is mandatory and is a 
condition of continued employment. Our most recent annual ethics certification resulted in 100% of the certification respondents 
satisfactorily completing the certification. 

Employee Development, Training and Education

At Adient, we believe that attracting, developing, motivating and retaining leaders is key to our sustainable and profitable growth. 
We understand that like customers, our employees and potential employees have choices of where to work, and we must compete 
for the best talent. We ensure that our work environments promote excellent performance, teamwork, inclusion, leadership, safety 
and growth. We encourage community involvement and volunteerism. 

Adient supports the continued development and career management of our people in multiple ways. Talent reviews and succession 
planning occur on a planned cadence annually - globally and across all business areas. Annually, our Chief Executive Officer 
(“CEO”) convenes several meetings with senior company leadership to review top enterprise talent. In these meetings, leaders 
discuss key talent management issues with the CEO and executive team, review critical roles, top talent and strategic talent moves, 
and gain commitment for their talent management focus for the coming year. Talent assessments and career development plans 
are used to drive development of high-potential employees by identifying individual key strengths and areas for improvement, 
and identifying key events and experiences needed for the development of the individual. Across the organization, our leaders 
monitor the progress on representation of diverse talent via our succession planning and talent review processes, which allows for 
pipeline development and career planning for diverse talent. 

High performance at Adient is an outcome of a person’s aspiration and ability to learn, adapt, and grow throughout his or her 
career. At Adient, the emphasis is on the value of on-the-job, real-time learning that enables a person to meet the demands of 
challenging and changing work. Our approach to learning focuses on reinforcing key principles that are designed to support an 
individual’s effectiveness in his or her current job, and in future situations. Throughout the world, Adient employees are encouraged 
to develop by doing, taking charge of their learning and growth, and seeking support along the way. 

In addition, Adient ensures that managers and employees are equipped with the tools necessary to continue to learn, grow and 
develop throughout their careers by providing technical and leadership training in various formats to accommodate the learner’s 
style and pace, location, and technological knowledge and access. 

Our volunteer programs offer employees the opportunity to enhance their leadership development skills by volunteering their time 
and expertise for local non-profit organizations. These activities include taking on board roles for associations and non-profits and 
managing community and environmental projects with a team of volunteers. These activities enable Adient to positively impact 
the communities in which it operates and the skills developed by participants in our volunteer programs are beneficial for the 
workplace and contribute to a lifelong learning outside of the workplace environment. 

Employee Safety & Privacy

We strive to continuously improve a “Total Safety Culture” that ensures the well-being of Adient’s people. Our expectation is to 
achieve an incident-free work environment where every Adient employee and contractor is responsible to prevent unsafe acts and 
conditions. We require protective equipment, comprehensive safety policies and procedures are enforced, and our employees and 
leaders regularly look for ways to improve workplace safety.  Adient does not tolerate violent behavior, threats to people or property, 
physical intimidation or coercion. All Adient employees must remain free at work from the influence of illegal drugs, alcohol or 
any substances that may impair one’s ability to work safely and effectively.
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The following table sets out key performance indicators related to the safety of our employees:

Key Performance Indicator Units Fiscal Year 2017 Fiscal Year 2018

Safety
Injuries (Global) Number of Incidents 674 797
Injury Rate (Global) Per 100 Employees 0.59 0.67
Lost Time Injuries (US Only) Number of Incidents 116 125
Lost Time Injury Rate (US Only) Per 100 Employees 0.99 0.99

We use personal data only to support Adient operations and to provide employee benefits. We inform individuals about the collection 
and processing of their data, as well as their rights regarding their personal data. We have safeguards to protect personal data, and 
we limit data access to employees who need it for business purposes. We follow local data protection and privacy laws.

Ad Adient is still a relatively new and developing company, it continues to monitor, review and assess the outcomes of its policies 
on social and employee matters to ensure they are having the desired impact.

Human Rights

Adient is committed to respecting human rights.  At Adient, we believe that it is our responsibility to respect and uphold the human 
rights of our people and any other individuals we are in contact with across the globe. We believe this is evident in our HR, Safety, 
and Procurement policies and practices. 

Adient enforces the following specific policies with respect to the protection of and respect for our global employee workforce:
• Prohibits the use of forced, bonded, indentured or involuntary prison labor.
• Complies with minimum legal working age requirements. 
• Sets work hours to comply with local law.
• Complies with applicable wage laws, regulations, and relevant collective bargaining agreements, including those relating 

to minimum wages, overtime hours and legally mandated benefits.
• Maintains workplaces free of harassment and abuse.
• Maintains workplaces free of unlawful discrimination and harassment in all of its forms, including related to race, gender, 

sexual orientation, age, pregnancy, caste, disability, union membership, ethnicity, religious beliefs or any other factors 
protected by law.

• Respects employees’ voluntary freedom of association, including the right to organize and bargain collectively.
• Gives workers’ representatives the access necessary to carry out their required function and will not discriminate against 

workers’ representatives.

Our global supplier standards manual also require our suppliers treat workers with dignity and follow similar policies as outlined 
above for the supplier's employee workforce.

As discussed above, Adient employees are trained on our Ethics Policy and educated on how to report potential ethical violations 
or claims of harassment or discrimination without fear of retaliation. All complaints of alleged human rights violations, ethical 
concerns, or claims of harassment or discrimination are investigated and appropriate disciplinary action is taken if warranted.  

Adient also supports the principles behind the United Kingdom’s Modern Slavery Act 2015 and the California Transparency in 
Supply Chains Act. In addition, Adient complies with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s disclosure rules regarding the 
use of conflict minerals in the products that it manufactures or contracts to manufacture.
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Bribery and Corruption

Due to Adient‘s global operations, Adient is subject to many laws governing international relations and its international operations, 
including laws that prohibit improper payments to government officials and commercial customers and that restrict where Adient 
can do business, what information or products Adient can import and export to and from certain countries and what information 
Adient can provide to a non-U.S. government. These laws include but are not limited to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act 
(FCPA), the Irish Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, the U.S. Export Administration Act and U.S. 
and international economic sanctions and money laundering regulations. Violations of these laws, which are complex, may result 
in criminal penalties, sanctions and/or fines that could have an adverse effect on Adient's business, financial condition and results 
of operations and reputation.

Adient has internal policies and procedures relating to compliance with such regulations to protect Adient from risks associated 
with the improper acts of employees, agents, business partners, joint venture partners or representatives, particularly in the case 
of recently acquired operations that may not have significant training in applicable compliance policies and procedures. 

We maintain a zero tolerance position against bribery and corruption that is clearly evidenced by a key statement of principle in 
our Ethics Policy: We do not tolerate, and we actively oppose, corruption in our businesses. Our anti-corruption compliance 
program is part of our global enterprise compliance program.

In addition to our Ethics Policy discussed above, we implement the following compliance program elements to ensure our employees 
conduct business with integrity and make decisions that are legal, ethical and responsible, and that minimize risks related to bribery 
and corruption:

• Our policies and standards provide guidance for our employees related to our key risk areas. For example, we provide 
appropriate anti-corruption guidance by addressing facilitation payments, delineating appropriate government related 
business expenditures, requiring a review process for government related charitable contributions and political donations, 
and  specifying appropriate behavior in respect of gifts, entertainment and travel.

• We collaborate with our senior leaders to identify Adient employees whose job responsibilities have a higher corruption 
risk, which facilitates targeted anti-corruption training and guidance.

• We provide targeted anti-corruption employee training globally in our Integrity workshops.
• We conduct due diligence on all third-party intermediaries with appreciable corruption risk as a precondition for 

onboarding, including our suppliers.
• We embrace a ‘speak-up’ culture where reporting concerns is strongly encouraged by our no-retaliation policy.   
• Our allegation case management system provides alerts and priority ranking for corruption allegations.
• Our internal investigation protocol provides guidance on when to escalate high risk allegations (such as a bribery 

allegation) and which senior executives and board members to notify.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES AND UNDERTAKINGS

Refer to Note 29, "Significant Subsidiaries," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for information regarding significant 
subsidiaries. Refer to Note 22, "Nonconsolidated Partially-Owned Affiliates," of the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for information regarding significant nonconsolidated affiliates.

GOING CONCERN

The directors have a reasonable expectation that Adient has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, Adient continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee as required by the Companies Act 2014, Section 167, has been in place for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2018.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS

The statutory auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have indicated their willingness to continue in office, and a resolution that they 
be re-appointed will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Disclosure of information to auditors

The directors in office at the date of this report have each confirmed that:

As far as he/she is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which Adient’s statutory auditors are unaware; and

He/she has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that Adient’s statutory auditors is aware of that information.

On behalf of the Directors:

/s/ Douglas G. Del Grosso /s/ Richard Goodman
Douglas G. Del Grosso Richard Goodman
President and Chief Executive Officer and
Director Director

February 11, 2019 February 11, 2019
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Adient plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion:

• Adient plc’s consolidated financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view 
of the group’s and the company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at 30 September 2018 and of the group’s loss and cash 
flows for the year then ended;

• the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“US GAAP”), as defined in Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those 
principles in the preparation of group financial statements does not contravene any provision of Part 6 of the Companies Act 2014;

• the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland 
(accounting standards issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” Irish law; and

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise:

• the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 September 2018;

• the Company Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2018;

• the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) for the year then ended;

• the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year then ended;

• the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

• the Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity for the year then ended;

• the Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and

• the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Company Financial Statements, which include a description of the 
significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under ISAs (Ireland) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Ireland, which includes IAASA’s Ethical Standard as applicable to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.
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Our audit approach

Overview

Materiality
$56 million (2017: $53 million) - consolidated financial statements. This represents 5%
of loss before income taxes (2017: income before income taxes).

$74 million (2017:$75 million) - company financial statements. This represents 1% of
total assets. For financial statement line items that do not eliminate on consolidation,
they have been audited to the overall consolidated materiality levels.

Audit scope
The group is structured along three reportable segments being Seating, SS&M and Interiors, 
which comprise a number of reporting components. 
We conducted work on 23 reporting components. We paid particular attention to these 
components due to their size or characteristics and to ensure appropriate audit coverage. 
Taken together the components where we performed our audit work accounted for 88% of 
group loss for before income taxes (excluding equity income) measured on an absolute 
basis, 67% of Adient owned revenue from equity affiliates and 92% of group total assets.

Key audit matters
Goodwill assessment

Long-lived assets impairment assessment

Investment in partially-owned affiliate impairment assessment

The scope of our audit 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, 
we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override 
of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud. 

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the 
auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the 
efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill assessment

As described in Note 1 “Basis of Presentation and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies” and Note 3 “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets” to the consolidated financial statements, the Group 
had a goodwill balance of $2,182 million, representing 20% of the 
Group’s total assets, as of September 30, 2018.  

We tested the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s 
goodwill impairment assessment, including controls over the 
determination of the fair value of the Group’s reporting units.  

We evaluated the fiscal 2018 change in reportable segments, including 
considering the information provided to the Chief Operating Decision 
Maker. The Group conducts an impairment test during the fourth fiscal 

quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value of goodwill might be impaired. We tested management’s process for the allocation of goodwill to 

reporting units and evaluated the methods used by management in 
developing the fair value measurements.As explained in Note 3.to the consolidated financial statements, in 

the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the Group changed its reportable 
segments to Seating, Seat Structures and Mechanisms (SS&M) and 
Interiors. As a result, goodwill of $299 million previously reported 
in the Seating segment was assigned to Seat Structures and 
Mechanisms (SS&M) segment using a relative fair value approach 
and was subsequently determined to be fully impaired. 

We considered the reasonableness of significant assumptions for the 
allocation of goodwill and impairment assessments, including 
projected revenues, operating margins and market multiple used. 

When assessing these assumptions used by the Group, we evaluated 
whether the assumptions used were reasonable considering customer 
contracts, relevant industry data and the market multiple of entities 
with similar operational and economic characteristics to Adient.

Potential impairment is identified by comparing the fair value of a 
reporting unit to its carrying value. The Group estimates fair value of 
its reporting units using a multiple of earnings approach for the 
Seating reporting unit and a discounted cash flow model for the SS&M 
reporting unit.  These methods require management to make 
assumptions, including operating margins, discount rate, projected 
revenues and to select market comparables for use in the multiple of 
earnings approach.

The principal considerations for our determination that the goodwill 
impairment assessment and the re-allocation of goodwill is a key audit 
matter are the significant judgment exercised by management in 
determining key assumptions in estimating the fair value of the 
reporting units. These include assumptions in respect of projected 
revenues, operating margins and market multiple utilised.

Long-Lived Assets Impairment Assessment
As described in Note 1 “Basis of Presentation and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies” and Note 19 “Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets” to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had 
a property, plant and equipment net balance of $1,683 million and 
definite lived intangible asset balance of $460 million, in aggregate 
representing 20% of the Group’s total assets, as of September 30, 
2018.  

We tested the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s long-
lived asset impairment assessment.  

We evaluated the methods used by management in developing the fair 
value measurements and reasonableness of significant assumptions 
including projected revenues and operating margins.  

When assessing the assumptions related to projected revenues and 
operating margins, we evaluated whether the assumptions used were 
reasonable considering existing customer contracts and relevant 
industry data. 

The Group reviews long-lived assets, including property, plant & 
equipment and other intangible assets with definite lives, for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. In fiscal 2018, 
the Group concluded it had a triggering event requiring assessment of 
impairment for the SS&M long-lived assets.

We utilised internal valuation specialists to assist in evaluating the 
Group’s significant assumptions related to the discount rate utilised 
in the discounted cash flow analysis. This included comparing these 
assumptions to external data.  As set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the 

Group performed an impairment review and recorded a $787 million 
impairment charge, including a $19 million charge for definite lived 
intangible assets. The impairment charge related to long-lived assets 
in use in North America and Europe asset groups.  The Group 
aggregates its assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which 
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of 
other assets and liabilities and evaluates the asset group against the 
sum of the undiscounted future cash flows.  If the undiscounted cash 
flows do not indicate the carrying amount of the asset is recoverable, 
an impairment charge is measured as the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value based on a discounted 
cash flow analysis or appraisals. 

We also utilised our internal valuation specialists in assessing whether 
appropriate assumptions and valuation methodologies have been 
applied in respect of the third party appraisals.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The impairment was measured by determining the fair values of the 
impaired assets, depending on the asset, either under an income 
approach utilizing forecasted discounted cash flows or a market 
approach primarily utilizing third-party appraisal techniques, such as 
market comparables. The inputs under the income approach primarily 
consist of projected revenues, expected future operating margins, 
estimated production volumes and weighted average cost of capital 
rate. 

The principal considerations for our determination that the long-lived 
asset impairment assessment for the SS&M asset groups is a key audit 
matter are the significant judgment exercised by management in 
estimating the fair value of the asset groups, including significant 
assumptions related to projected revenues, operating margins and the 
discount rate and market comparables used by third party appraisers. 

Investment in partially-owned affiliate impairment assessment
As described in Note 1 “Basis of Presentation and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies” and Note 22 “Nonconsolidated 
Partially-Owned Affiliates” to the consolidated financial statements, 
the Group had investments in partially-owned affiliates of $1,407 
million, representing 13% of the Group’s total assets, as of September 
30, 2018.  

We tested the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s other 
than temporary impairment assessment, including controls over the 
determination of the fair value of the Company’s investment in YFAI.  

We evaluated the appropriateness of the discounted cash flow model 
and reasonableness of significant assumptions used by management 
in developing the fair value measurements.  We assessed assumptions 
relating to projected revenues by considering market data and 
customer contracts. 

The Group monitors its investments in partially owned affiliates for 
indicators of other-than-temporary declines in the value on an ongoing 
basis.  If an other-than-temporary decline in value has occurred, it 
recognizes an impairment loss, which is measured as the difference 
between the recorded book value and the fair value of the investment.  
During fiscal 2018, the Group concluded it had an other-than-
temporary decline in value related to its investment in Yanfeng 
Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd. (YFAI) and recorded a $358 million 
impairment charge. 

We utilized valuation specialists to assist in evaluating the company’s 
discounted cash flow model and in determining the appropriate 
discount rate to use. 

We compared the weighted average cost of capital used by 
management to external data and the non-controlling interest discount 
to similar industry transactions. 

The Group estimates the fair value of its  investment in YFAI using a 
discounted cash flow model. The inputs utilized in the analyses 
primarily consist of projected revenues, expected future operating 
margins, estimated production volumes, weighted average cost of 
capital and non-controlling interest discounts. 

The principal considerations for our determination that the YFAI 
investment impairment assessment is a key audit matter are the 
significant judgment exercised by management in estimating the fair 
value of the partially owned affiliate particularly the significant 
assumptions used in projecting revenues, and determining the 
appropriate discount rate to use. 

How we tailored the audit scope

The group has operations in 34 countries, including wholly-owned subsidiaries, entities in which it has a controlling interest and joint ventures. 
Reporting components are structured by individual plants, grouping of plants or on a country basis depending on their management team and 
structure and also include joint ventures. The majority of the group’s components are supported by one of two principal shared service centres 
in Bratislava and Dalian. We paid particular attention to 23 components due to their size or characteristics and to ensure appropriate audit coverage.

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, 
taking into account the structure of the group, the accounting processes and controls, including those performed at the group’s shared services 
centres and the industry in which the group operates. 

In determining our audit scope we considered the type of work that needed to be performed by us, as the Irish group engagement team, or 
component auditors within other PwC network firms. Where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of 
involvement we needed to have in the audit work of those reporting components to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
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Overall through full scope audits and specific audit procedures on certain balances the reporting components where we conducted our work, we 
obtained coverage of 88% of group loss before income taxes (excluding equity income) calculated on an absolute basis, 67% of Adient owned 
revenue from equity affiliates and 92% of group total assets. We allocated materiality levels and issued instructions to each component auditor. 
In addition to the audit report from each of the component auditors, we received detailed memoranda of examinations on work performed and 
relevant findings which supplemented our understanding of the component, its results and the audit findings. This, together with additional 
procedures performed at group level, gave us the evidence we needed for our opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together 
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the 
individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the 
financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Overall materiality $56 million (2017: $53 million) $74 million (2017: $75 million)
How we determined it 5% of loss before income taxes (2017: income

before income taxes)
1% of total assets

Rationale for benchmark
applied

We selected the benchmark consistent with the 
benchmark used in the prior year.

As the company is a holding company, it is deemed that 
total assets are the most appropriate benchmark to 
calculate materiality. For financial statement line items 
that do not eliminate on consolidation, they have been 
audited to the overall group materiality levels.

As the Company recorded a loss before income 
taxes we also considered the reasonableness of 
the absolute amount of overall materiality 
calculated to the amount of materiality used in 
the prior year taking into account the movement 
in net sales in the year. 

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group materiality. The range of 
materiality allocated across components was from $6 million to $40 million. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above $3 million (group audit) 
(2017: $4 million) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. For the company 
audit our misstatement threshold for reporting to the Audit Committee was $7 million (2017: $7 million) as well as misstatements below that 
amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (Ireland) require us to report to you where:

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about 
the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s or the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information 

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. 
The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to 
conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Directors’ Report we also considered whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2014 (excluding the 
information included in the "Non Financial Statement" as defined by that Act on which we are not required to report) have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (Ireland) and the Companies Act 2014 
require us to also report certain opinions and matters as described below:

• In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Directors’ Report (excluding 
the information included in the "Non Financial Statement" on which we are not required to report) for the year ended September 30, 
2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements. 

• Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we 
have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors’ Report (excluding the information included in the "Non Financial 
Statement" on which we are not required to report).

Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Group and company and their environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors' Report (excluding Responsibilities for the 
financial statements and the audit)

Responsibilities the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities set out on page 3 and 4, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA website at:

https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf

This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with section 391 of 
the Companies Act 2014 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose 
or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in 
writing. 
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2014 opinions on other matters 

• We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

• In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the company financial statements to be readily and 
properly audited.

• The Company Balance Sheet is in agreement with the accounting records.

Companies Act 2014 exception reporting

Directors’ remuneration and transactions

Under the Companies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions 
specified by sections 305 to 312 of that Act have not been made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

/s/ Anthony Reidy
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Cork, Ireland
February 11, 2019 
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Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions, except per share data) Note 2018 2017
Net sales 21 $ 17,439 $ 16,213
Cost of sales 16,528 14,805

Gross profit 911 1,408
Selling, general and administrative expenses 694 691
Restructuring and impairment costs 18 1,181 46
Equity income 22 (13) 522

Earnings before interest and income taxes (977) 1,193
Net financing charges 9 144 132

(Loss)/income before income taxes (1,121) 1,061
Income tax provision 20 480 99

Net (loss) income (1,601) 962
Income attributable to noncontrolling interests 84 85

Net (loss) income attributable to Adient $ (1,685) $ 877

Earnings per share:
Basic 1 $ (18.06) $ 9.38
Diluted 1 $ (18.06) $ 9.34

Cash dividends declared per share 16 $ 0.825 $ 0.825

Shares used in computing earnings per share:
Basic 1 93.3 93.5
Diluted 1 93.3 93.9
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Year ended September 30
(in millions) Note 2018 2017
Net income (loss) $ (1,601) $ 962

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxation
Foreign currency translation adjustments (117) (133)
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives 13 (10) 17
Pension and postretirement plans 17 1 —

Other comprehensive income (loss) (126) (116)
Total comprehensive income (loss) (1,727) 846
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 16 92 90
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Adient $ (1,819) $ 756
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September 30,
(in millions, except share and per share data) Note 2018 2017
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 $ 687 $ 709
Restricted cash 1 — —
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $20 and $21,

respectively 2,091 2,224
Inventories 6 824 735
Other current assets 5 707 831

Current assets 4,309 4,499
Property, plant and equipment - net 4 1,683 2,502
Goodwill 3 2,182 2,515
Other intangible assets - net 3 460 543
Investments in partially-owned affiliates 22 1,407 1,793
Assets held for sale 37 —
Other noncurrent assets 5 864 1,318
Total assets $ 10,942 $ 13,170
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Short-term debt 9 $ 6 $ 36
Current portion of long-term debt 9 2 2
Accounts payable 10 3,101 2,958
Accrued compensation and benefits 331 444
Restructuring reserve 18 141 236
Other current liabilities 11 611 652

Current liabilities 4,192 4,328
Long-term debt 9 3,422 3,440
Pension and postretirement benefits 17 124 129
Other noncurrent liabilities 11 440 653

Long-term liabilities 3,986 4,222
Commitments and Contingencies 23
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 16 47 28
Preferred shares issued, par value $0.001; 100,000,000 shares authorized
Zero shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2017 — —
Ordinary shares issued, par value $0.001; 500,000,000 shares authorized
93,142,283 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2017 — —
Additional paid-in capital 3,951 3,942
Retained earnings (1,028) 734
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 16 (531) (397)

Shareholders' equity attributable to Adient 2,392 4,279
Noncontrolling interests 325 313

Total shareholders' equity 2,717 4,592
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 10,942 $ 13,170

Approved by the Board of Directors on February 11, 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

/s/ Douglas G. Del Grosso /s/ Richard Goodman
Douglas G. Del Grosso Richard Goodman
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director Director
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(in millions)
Ordinary

Shares

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

Parent's Net
Investment

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Shareholders' 
Equity 

Attributable
 to Adient

Shareholders'
Equity Attributable
to Noncontrolling

Interests Total Equity

Balance at September 30, 2016 $ — $ — $ — $ 4,452 $ (276) $ 4,176 $ 131 $ 4,307
Net income — — 812 65 — 877 60 937
Change in Parent's net investment — — — (880) — (880) — (880)
Transfers from former Parent — 333 — — — 333 — 333
Reclassification of Parent's net
investment and issuance of ordinary
shares in connection with separation — 3,637 — (3,637) — — — —
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — — — — (138) (138) 5 (133)
Realized and unrealized gains
(losses) on derivatives — — — — 17 17 — 17
Dividends declared ($0.825 per
share) — — (78) — — (78) — (78)
Repurchase and retirement of
ordinary shares — (40) — — — (40) — (40)
Dividends attributable to
noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (58) (58)
Change in noncontrolling interest
share — — — — — — 175 175
Share based compensation — 12 — — — 12 — 12

Balance at September 30, 2017 $ — $ 3,942 $ 734 $ — $ (397) $ 4,279 $ 313 $ 4,592
Net income — — (1,685) — — (1,685) 60 (1,625)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — — — — (125) (125) 7 (118)
Realized and unrealized gains
(losses) on derivatives — — — — (10) (10) — (10)
Dividends declared ($0.825 per
share) — — (77) — — (77) — (77)
Dividends attributable to
noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (56) (56)
Change in noncontrolling interest
share — — — — — — 1 1
Share based compensation and other — 9 — — 1 10 — 10

Balance at September 30, 2018 $ — $ 3,951 $ (1,028) $ — $ (531) $ 2,392 $ 325 $ 2,717
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Year ended September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Operating Activities
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after taxation attributable to Adient ordinary shareholders $ (1,685) $ 877
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest 84 85
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after taxation (1,601) 962
Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) on ordinary activities after taxation to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 400 337
Amortization of intangibles 47 21
Pension and postretirement benefit expense (36) (41)
Pension and postretirement contributions 11 (38)
Equity in earnings of partially-owned affiliates, net of dividends received (includes purchase
accounting amortization of $22 and $20, respectively) (55) (91)
Impairment of nonconsolidated partially owned affiliate 358 —
Gain on previously-held interest — (151)
Deferred income taxes 344 (52)
Non-cash restructuring and impairment charges 1,134 —
Equity-based compensation 47 45
Other 11 (6)
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables 73 30
Inventories (106) (10)
Other assets 46 13
Restructuring reserves (135) (179)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 143 (113)
Accrued income taxes (2) 19

Cash provided (used) by operating activities 679 746
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (536) (577)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 53 44
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired — (247)
Changes in long-term investments (4) (11)
Other — (4)

Cash provided (used) by investing activities (487) (795)
Financing Activities
Net transfers from (to) Parent prior to separation — 606
Cash transferred from former Parent post separation — 315
Increase (decrease) in short-term debt (31) (7)
Increase in long-term debt — 183
Repayment of long-term debt (2) (302)
Share repurchases — (40)
Cash dividends (103) (52)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (74) (79)
Other (3) 3

Cash provided (used) by financing activities (213) 627
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1) 26
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (22) 604
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 709 105
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 687 $ 709
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1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements of Adient plc and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred 
to as "Adient") in accordance with Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014 (the "Act"), which provides that a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs and profit or loss may be given by preparing the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), as defined in Section 279 of the Act, to the extent that the use 
of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements does not contravene any provision of the Act or of any regulations 
made thereunder.

On October 31, 2016, Adient plc ("Adient") became an independent company as a result of the separation of the automotive seating 
and interiors businesses (the "separation") of Johnson Controls International plc ("the former Parent"). Adient was incorporated 
under the laws of Ireland on June 24, 2016 for the purpose of holding these businesses. Adient is registered at 25-28 North Wall 
Quay, IFSC, Dublin 1, domiciled in Ireland, and incorporated under the laws of Ireland. Adient's ordinary shares began trading 
"regular-way" under the ticker symbol "ADNT" on the New York Stock Exchange on October 31, 2016. Upon becoming an 
independent company, the capital structure of Adient consisted of 500 million authorized ordinary shares and 100 million authorized 
preferred shares (par value of $0.001 per ordinary and preferred share). The number of Adient ordinary shares issued on October 
31, 2016 was 93,671,810.

Adient is a global leader in the automotive seating supplier industry. Adient has a leading market position in the Americas, Europe 
and China, and has longstanding relationships with the largest global original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, in the automotive 
space. Adient's proprietary technologies extend into virtually every area of automotive seating solutions, including complete seating 
systems, frames, mechanisms, foam, head restraints, armrests, trim covers and fabrics. Adient is an independent seat supplier with 
global scale and the capability to design, develop, engineer, manufacture, and deliver complete seat systems and components in 
every major automotive producing region in the world. Adient also participates in the automotive interiors market primarily through 
its global automotive interiors joint venture in China, Yanfeng Global Automotive Interior Systems Co., Ltd., or YFAI.

The separation was completed pursuant to various agreements with the former Parent related to the separation. These agreements 
govern the relationship between Adient and the former Parent following the separation and provided for the allocation of various 
assets, liabilities, rights and obligations. These agreements also include arrangements for transition services to be provided on a 
temporary basis by both parties.

Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States 
of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The assets and liabilities in the financial statements have been reflected on a historical cost basis, as 
included in the consolidated statements of financial position of the former Parent. The statements of income include allocations 
for certain support functions that were provided on a centralized basis by the former Parent and subsequently recorded at the 
business unit level, such as expenses related to employee benefits, finance, human resources, risk management, information 
technology, facilities, and legal, among others. These expenses have been allocated to Adient on the basis of direct usage when 
identifiable, with the remainder allocated on a proportional basis of combined sales, headcount or other measures of Adient or the 
former Parent. Management believes the assumptions underlying the financial statements, including the assumptions regarding 
allocating general corporate expenses from the former Parent, are reasonable. Nevertheless, the financial statements for periods 
prior to the separation may not include all actual expenses that would have been incurred by Adient and may not reflect the results 
of operations, financial position and cash flows had it been a stand-alone company during the periods presented. Actual costs that 
would have been incurred if Adient had been a stand-alone company would depend on multiple factors, including organizational 
structure and strategic decisions made in various areas, including information technology and infrastructure.

During fiscal 2018, Adient changed its reportable segments to Seating, Seat Structures and Mechanisms ("SS&M"), and Interiors. 
Adient also began using an adjusted EBITDA metric to assess the performance of its segments and ceased allocating certain 
corporate-related costs to its segments. As a result, the prior period presentation of reportable segments has been recast to conform 
to the current segment reporting structure. For periods prior to October 31, 2016, an allocation methodology was used to derive 
corporate-related costs not allocated to the segments to be consistent with current period presentation. Refer to Note 21, "Segment 
Information" for additional information on Adient's reportable segments.
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Irish Company Law contains specific requirements for the classification of any liability uncertain as to the amounts at which it 
will be settled or as to the date on which it will be settled. These liabilities are classified as provisions. Refer to Note 12, "Provisions," 
of the notes to consolidated financial statements for those liabilities which meet the provision classification requirements under 
Irish Company Law.

Principles of Consolidation

Adient consolidates its wholly-owned subsidiaries and those entities in which it has a controlling interest. Investments in partially-
owned affiliates are accounted for by the equity method when Adient's interest exceeds 20% and does not have a controlling 
interest. Refer to Note 29, "Significant Subsidiaries," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for a list of Adient's significant 
subsidiaries.

All significant intercompany transactions and accounts within Adient's businesses have been eliminated. Expense related to 
corporate allocations from the former Parent to Adient are considered to be effectively settled for cash in the financial statements 
at the time the transaction is recorded. In addition, transactions between Adient and the former Parent's other businesses prior the 
separation have been classified as related party, rather than intercompany, in the financial statements. See Note 27, "Related Party 
Transactions," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for further details.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient recorded expense of $8 million for an out of period adjustment, primarily impacting 
cost of goods sold, to correct a prior period error related to an unrecorded obligation. Adient has concluded that this adjustment 
was not material to previously reported financial statements nor to full year fiscal 2018 results.

Consolidated VIEs

Based upon the criteria set forth in the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the FASB) Accounting Standards Codification 
(ASC) 810, "Consolidation," Adient has determined that it was the primary beneficiary in two variable interest entities (VIEs) for 
the reporting periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, as Adient absorbs significant economics of the entities 
and has the power to direct the activities that are considered most significant to the entities.

The two VIEs manufacture seating products in North America for the automotive industry. Adient funds the entities' short-term 
liquidity needs through revolving credit facilities and has the power to direct the activities that are considered most significant to 
the entities through its key customer supply relationships.

The carrying amounts and classification of assets (none of which are restricted) and liabilities included in Adient's consolidated 
statements of financial position for the consolidated VIEs are as follows:

  September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Current assets $ 270 $ 232
Noncurrent assets 43 56

Total assets $ 313 $ 288

Current liabilities $ 252 $ 169
Total liabilities $ 252 $ 169

Adient did not have a significant variable interest in any other combined VIEs for the presented reporting periods.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The 
consolidated financial statements reflect management's estimates as of the reporting date. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term debt and accounts payable approximate their 
carrying values. See Note 13, "Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," and Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," of 
the notes to consolidated financial statements for fair value of financial instruments, including derivative instruments and 
hedging activities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Adient considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 
Cash is managed by legal entity, with cash pooling agreements in place for all participating entities on a global basis, as applicable. 

Receivables

Receivables consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers and revenues that have been recognized for accounting 
purposes but not yet billed to customers. Adient extends credit to customers in the normal course of business and maintains an 
allowance for doubtful accounts resulting from the inability or unwillingness of customers to make required payments. The 
allowance for doubtful accounts is based on historical experience, existing economic conditions and any specific customer collection 
issues Adient has identified. Adient enters into supply chain financing programs in certain foreign jurisdictions to sell accounts 
receivable without recourse to third-party financial institutions. Sales of accounts receivable are reflected as a reduction of accounts 
receivable on the consolidated statements of financial position and the proceeds are included in cash flows from operating activities 
in the consolidated statements of cash flows. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") method. Finished 
goods and work-in-process inventories include material, labor and manufacturing overhead costs.

Pre-Production Costs Related to Long-Term Supply Arrangements

Adient's policy for engineering, research and development, and other design and development costs related to products that will 
be sold under long-term supply arrangements requires such costs to be expensed as incurred or capitalized if reimbursement from 
the customer is contractually assured. Income related to recovery of these costs is recorded within selling, general and administrative 
expense in the consolidated statements of income. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, Adient recorded within the consolidated 
statements of financial position $301 million and $343 million, respectively, of engineering and research and development costs 
for which customer reimbursement is contractually assured. The reimbursable costs are recorded in other current assets if 
reimbursement will occur in less than one year and in other noncurrent assets if reimbursement will occur beyond one year. At 
September 30, 2018, Adient had $135 million and $169 million of reimbursable costs recorded in current and noncurrent assets, 
respectively. At September 30, 2017, Adient had $175 million and $168 million of reimbursable costs recorded in current and 
noncurrent assets, respectively. 

Costs for molds, dies and other tools used to make products that will be sold under long-term supply arrangements are capitalized 
within property, plant and equipment if Adient has title to the assets or has the non-cancelable right to use the assets during the 
term of the supply arrangement. Capitalized items, if specifically designed for a supply arrangement, are amortized over the term 
of the arrangement; otherwise, amounts are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The carrying values of assets 
capitalized in accordance with the foregoing policy are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, approximately $54 
million and $82 million, respectively, of costs for molds, dies and other tools were capitalized within property, plant and equipment 
which represented assets to which Adient had title. In addition, at September 30, 2018, Adient recorded within the consolidated 
statements of financial position in other current and noncurrent assets $208 million and $17 million, respectively, of costs for 
molds, dies and other tools for which customer reimbursement is contractually assured. At September 30, 2017, Adient recorded 
within the consolidated statements of financial position in other current and noncurrent assets $257 million and $28 million, 
respectively, of costs for molds, dies and other tools for which customer reimbursement is contractually assured.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets 
using the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes and accelerated methods for income tax purposes. The estimated 
useful lives range from 3 to 40 years for buildings and improvements and from 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill reflects the cost of an acquisition in excess of the fair values assigned to identifiable net assets acquired. Irish law requires 
the amortization of goodwill, however as permitted under U.S. GAAP, Adient reviews goodwill for impairment during the fourth 
fiscal quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the asset might be impaired. Adient performs 
impairment reviews for its reporting units, which have been determined to be Adient's reportable segments using a fair value 
method based on management's judgments and assumptions or third party valuations. The fair value of a reporting unit refers to 
the price that would be received to sell the unit as a whole in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. In estimating the fair value, Adient uses multiples of earnings based on the average of historical, published multiples of 
earnings of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics. In certain instances, Adient uses discounted 
cash flow analyses or estimated sales price to further support the fair value estimates. The inputs utilized in the analyses are 
classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy as defined in ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement." The estimated fair 
value is then compared with the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including recorded goodwill. An impairment is recorded 
to the extent the estimated fair value exceeds the carrying amount of the reporting unit.

Intangible assets with definite lives continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives and are subject to impairment testing 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Adient reviews long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets with definite lives, for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset's carrying amount may not be recoverable. Adient 
conducts its long-lived asset impairment analyses in accordance with ASC 360-10-15, "Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets." ASC 360-10-15 requires Adient to group assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are 
largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities and evaluate the asset group against the sum of the undiscounted 
future cash flows. If the undiscounted cash flows do not indicate the carrying amount of the asset is recoverable, an impairment 
charge is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value based on discounted cash 
flow analysis or appraisals. Refer to Note 19, "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets," of the  notes to consolidated financial statements 
for information regarding the results of Adient's impairment analysis.

Impairment of Investments in Partially-Owned Affiliates

Adient monitors its investments in partially-owned affiliates for indicators of other-than-temporary declines in value on an ongoing 
basis. If Adient determines that an other-than-temporary decline in value has occurred, it recognizes an impairment loss, which is 
measured as the difference between the recorded book value and the fair value of the investment. Fair value is generally determined 
using an income approach based on discounted cash flows or negotiated transaction values. Refer to Note 22, "Nonconsolidated 
Partially-Owned Affiliates," for information regarding the results of Adient's impairment analysis.

Revenue Recognition

Adient records revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery occurs or services are rendered, the sales 
price or fee is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Adient delivers products and records revenue pursuant 
to commercial agreements with its customers generally in the form of an approved purchase order, including the effects of contractual 
productivity based pricing. Adient negotiates discrete price changes with its customers, which are generally the result of unique 
commercial issues between Adient and its customers. Adient records amounts associated with discrete price changes as a reduction 
to revenue when specific facts and circumstances indicate that a price reduction is probable and the amounts are reasonably 
estimable. Adient records amounts associated with discrete price changes as an increase to revenue upon execution of a legally 
enforceable contractual agreement and when collectability is reasonable assured.

Customers

Essentially all of Adient's sales are to the automotive industry. Adient's most significant customers include Fiat Chrysler 
Automobiles N.V. and Volkswagen Group which comprised 11%  and 10% of consolidated net sales, respectively, in fiscal 2018.  
Volkswagen Group which comprised 11% of consolidated net sales in fiscal 2017.
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Research and Development Costs

Expenditures for research activities relating to product development and improvement (other than those expenditures that are 
contractually guaranteed for reimbursement from the customer) are charged against income as incurred and included within selling, 
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income. Such expenditures for the years ended September 
30, 2018 and 2017 were $513 million and  $488 million, respectively. A portion of these costs associated with these activities are 
reimbursed by customers and, for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were $298 million and $350 million,  
respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation

Substantially all of Adient's international operations use the respective local currency as the functional currency. Assets and 
liabilities of international entities have been translated at period-end exchange rates, and income and expenses have been translated 
using average exchange rates for the period. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies are adjusted 
to reflect period-end exchange rates. The resulting translation adjustments are accumulated as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income. The aggregate transaction gains (losses) included in net income for the years ended September 30, 2018 
and 2017 $(4) million and  $1 million, respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The fair values of all derivatives are recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position. The change in a derivative's 
fair value is recorded each period in current earnings or accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI), depending on whether 
the derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction and if so, the type of hedge transaction. Refer to Note 13, "Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities," and Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," of the notes to consolidated financial statements 
for disclosure of Adient's derivative instruments and hedging activities.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is initially measured at the fair value of the awards on the grant date and is recognized in the financial 
statements over the period the employees are required to provide services in exchange for the awards. The fair value of restricted 
stock awards is based on the number of units granted and the stock price on the grant date. The fair value of performance-based 
share unit, or PSU, awards is based on the stock price at the grant date and the assessed probability of meeting future performance 
targets. The fair value of option awards is measured on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value 
of each stock appreciation right, or SAR, is estimated using a similar method described for stock options. The fair value of cash 
settled awards are recalculated at the end of each reporting period and the liability and expense are adjusted based on the new fair 
value.Refer to Note 15, "Stock-Based Compensation," of the notes to consolidated audited financial statements for Adient's stock 
based compensation disclosures.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits

Adient utilizes a mark-to-market approach for recognizing pension and postretirement benefit expenses, including measuring the 
market related value of plan assets at fair value and recognizing actuarial gains and losses in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year 
or at the date of a remeasurement event. Refer to Note 17, "Retirement Plans," of the notes to consolidated financial statements 
for disclosure of Adient's pension and postretirement benefit plans.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and other loss 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Adient records a valuation allowance that 
primarily represents operating and other loss carryforwards for which realization is uncertain. Management judgment is required 
in determining Adient's provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and the valuation allowance recorded against 
Adient's net deferred tax assets.
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Adient reviews the realizability of its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis, or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that a review is required. In determining the requirement for a valuation allowance, the historical and projected financial 
results of the legal entity or combined group recording the net deferred tax asset are considered, along with any other positive or 
negative evidence. Since future financial results may differ from previous estimates, periodic adjustments to Adient's valuation 
allowances may be necessary.

Adient is subject to income taxes in Ireland, the U.S. and other non-U.S. jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining its 
worldwide provision for income taxes and recording the related assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of Adient's business, 
there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Adient's income tax returns for 
various fiscal years remain under audit by the respective tax authorities. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, 
management believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax returns and that its annual tax provisions 
included amounts sufficient to pay assessments, if any, which may be proposed by the taxing authorities. Nonetheless, the amounts 
ultimately paid, if any, upon resolution of the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts accrued 
for each year.

Adient does not generally provide for additional income taxes which would become payable upon repatriation of undistributed 
earnings of wholly owned foreign subsidiaries. Adient's intent is for such earnings to be reinvested by the subsidiaries or to be 
repatriated only when it would be tax efficient.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Act") was signed and enacted into law, and is effective for tax years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with the exception of certain provisions. The Act includes a provision to tax global intangible 
low-taxed income ("GILTI") of foreign subsidiaries, which will be effective for Adient beginning in fiscal year 2019. Adient has 
made a policy election to treat taxes due under the GILTI provision as a current period expense in the reporting period in which 
the tax is incurred.

Refer to Note 20, "Income Taxes," of the notes to consolidated audited financial statements for Adient's income tax disclosures.

Earnings Per Share

The following table shows the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended
September 30,

in millions, except per share data 2018 2017
Numerator:

Profit (Loss) on ordinary activities attributable to ordinary shareholders $ (1,685) $ 877

Denominator:
Shares outstanding 93.3 93.5
Effect of dilutive securities — 0.4
Diluted shares 93.3 93.9

Earnings per share:
Basic $ (18.06) $ 9.38
Diluted $ (18.06) $ 9.34

Potentially dilutive securities whose effect would have been antidilutive are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings 
per share. The impact of excluding antidilutive securities was insignificant for all periods presented.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, "Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory." ASU No. 2015-11 requires 
inventory that is recorded using the first-in, first-out method to be measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. ASU 
No. 2015-11 was effective retrospectively for Adient for the first quarter of fiscal 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have 
an impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-07, "Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323): Simplifying 
the Transition to the Equity Method of Accounting." ASU No. 2016-07 eliminates the requirement that when an investment qualifies 
for use of the equity method as a result of an increase in the level of ownership interest or degree of influence, an investor must 
adjust the investment, results of operations, and retained earnings retrospectively. ASU No. 2016-07 was effective prospectively 
for Adient for increases in the level of ownership interest or degree of influence that result in the adoption of the equity method 
that occur beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not impact Adient's consolidated financial 
statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-17, "Consolidation (Topic 810): Interests Held through Related Parties That 
Are under Common Control." ASU No. 2016-17 changes the evaluation of whether a reporting entity is the primary beneficiary 
of a Variable Interest Entity (VIE) by changing how a reporting entity that is a single decision maker of a VIE treats indirect 
interests in the entity held through related parties that are under common control with the reporting entity. ASU No. 2016-17 was 
effective for Adient for the first quarter of fiscal 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on Adient's consolidated 
financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for 
Goodwill Impairment. Under ASU No. 2017-04, goodwill impairment testing is done by comparing the fair value of the reporting 
unit to its carrying value. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, Adient would recognize an impairment charge for the 
amount that the reporting unit's carrying value exceeds the fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that 
reporting unit. ASU No. 2017-04 eliminates the requirement to determine the fair value of individual assets and liabilities of a 
reporting unit to measure goodwill impairment. Adient early adopted ASU 2017-04 during the second quarter of fiscal 2018. Refer 
to Note 3, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” for information on the interim goodwill impairment test performed in conjunction 
with the change in segment reporting.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12, Derivatives And Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting 
for Hedge Activities. The new standard amends the hedge accounting recognition and presentation requirements in ASC 815. ASU 
No. 2017-12 amends and simplifies existing guidance in order to allow companies to more accurately present the economic effects 
of risk management activities in the financial statements. As permitted by ASU 2017-12, Adient early adopted this standard in the 
second quarter of fiscal 2018 on a prospective basis. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on Adient's consolidated 
financial statements. Refer to Note 13, "Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for Adient's derivative and hedging disclosures.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02, "Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): 
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income." ASU No. 2018-02 gives entities the 
option to reclassify the stranded tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Act") on items within accumulated other 
comprehensive income to retained earnings. The standard was early adopted by Adient in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 
retrospectively. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.

In March 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-05, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to 
SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("SAB 118")." ASU 
2018-05 expands income tax accounting and disclosure guidance to include SAB 118 issued by the SEC in December 2017. SAB 
118 provides guidance on accounting for the income tax effects of the Act and allows for a measurement period not to exceed one 
year for companies to finalize the provisional amounts recorded as of December 31, 2017. This standard was adopted in the second 
quarter of fiscal 2018. Refer to Note 20, "Income Taxes" of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for Adient's income 
tax disclosures.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, "Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): 
Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract." The 
amendments in ASU 2018-15 require implementation costs incurred by customers in cloud computing arrangements to be deferred 
and recognized over the term of the arrangement, if those costs would be capitalized by the customer in a software licensing 
arrangement under the internal-use software guidance. The amendments also require an entity to disclose the nature of its hosting 
arrangements and adhere to certain presentation requirements in its balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash flows. 
ASU No. 2018-15 is effective for Adient for the quarter ending December 31, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The guidance 
can be applied either prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption. Adient is currently assessing 
the potential impact of adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-14, "Compensation - Retirement Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans - General 
(Subtopic 715-20): Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans." The amendments 
in ASU 2018-14 eliminate, add, and modify certain disclosure requirements for employers that sponsor defined benefit pension 
or other postretirement plans. ASU No. 2018-14 will be effective for Adient for the quarter ending December 31, 2020, with early 
adoption permitted. The guidance is to be applied on a retrospective basis to all periods presented. Adient is currently assessing 
the potential impact of adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, "Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to 
the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement." The amendments in ASU No. 2018-13 eliminate, add, and modify 
certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. ASU No 2018-13 will be effective for Adient for the quarter ending 
December 31, 2019, with early adoption permitted for either the entire ASU or only the provisions that eliminate or modify 
requirements. The amendments with respect to changes in unrealized gains and losses, the range and weighted average of significant 
unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements, and the narrative description of measurement uncertainty 
are to be applied prospectively. All other amendments are to be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. Adient is currently 
assessing the potential impact of adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-08, "Not-For-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting 
Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made", which is intended to clarify and improve the scope and the 
accounting guidance for contributions received and contributions made. The amendments in ASU No. 2018-08 should assist entities 
in (1) evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as contributions (nonreciprocal transaction) within the scope of 
Topic 958, Not-for-Profit Entities, or as exchange (reciprocal) transactions subject to other guidance and (2) determining whether 
a contribution is conditional. This amendment applies to all entities that make or receive grants or contributions.  ASU No. 2018-08 
will be effective for Adient for the quarter ending December 31, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance 
for the quarter ending December 31, 2018 is not expected to have a significant impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, “Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to 
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting”, which expands the scope of Topic 718 to include all share-based payment 
transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. ASU No. 2018-07 specifies that Topic 718 applies to all share-
based payment transactions in which the grantor acquires goods and services to be used or consumed in its own operations by 
issuing share-based payment awards. ASU No. 2018-07 also clarifies that Topic 718 does not apply to share-based payments used 
to effectively provide (1) financing to the issuer or (2) awards granted in conjunction with selling goods or services to customers 
as part of a contract accounted for under ASC 606. ASU No. 2018-07 will be effective for Adient for the quarter ending December 
31, 2019, with early adoption permitted, but no earlier than Adient's adoption of ASC 606. Adient is currently assessing the potential 
impact of adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial statements. 

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, "Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification 
Accounting." ASU No. 2017-09 provides guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment 
award require an entity to apply modification accounting in Topic 718. ASU No. 2017-09 will be effective for Adient for the 
quarter ending December 31, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The impact of this guidance for Adient is dependent on any 
future modifications to Adient's share-based payment awards.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-07, "Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation 
of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost." ASU No. 2017-07 amends certain aspects of 
presentation of pension cost and postretirement benefit cost. ASU No. 2017-07 will be effective for Adient for the ending 
December 31, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The update will result in the retrospective reclassification of the non-service 
cost components of net benefit cost from cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses to other (income) expense, 
net. There will be no impact on consolidated net income.
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In February 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-05, "Other Income—Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial 
Assets (Subtopic 610-20): Clarifying the Scope of Asset Derecognition Guidance and Accounting for Partial Sales of Nonfinancial 
Assets." ASU No. 2017-05 will follow the same implementation guidelines as ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606)."  Adient is currently assessing the impact adoption of this guidance will have on its consolidated financial 
statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, "Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business." 
ASU No. 2017-01 clarifies the definition of a business as it relates to the acquisition or sale of assets or businesses. ASU No. 2017-01 
will be effective for Adient for the quarter ending December 31, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance 
for the quarter ending December 31, 2018 is not expected to have a significant impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash." ASU No. 2016-18 
clarifies the classification and presentation of restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. ASU No. 2016-18 will be effective 
for Adient for the quarter ending December 31, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance for the quarter 
ending December 31, 2018 is not expected to have a significant impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts 
and Cash Payments." ASU No. 2016-15 clarifies how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the 
statement of cash flows. ASU No. 2016-15 will be effective for Adient for the quarter ended December 31, 2018, with early 
adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance for the quarter ending December 31, 2018 is not expected to have a significant 
impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, "Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments." ASU No. 2016-13 changes the impairment model for financial assets measured at amortized 
cost, requiring presentation at the net amount expected to be collected. The measurement of expected credit losses is based upon 
historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Available-for-sale debt securities with 
unrealized losses will now be recorded through an allowance for credit losses. ASU No. 2016-13 will be effective for Adient for 
the quarter ended December 31, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a 
significant impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)." ASU No. 2016-02 requires recognition of operating 
leases as right of use assets and lease obligations on the balance sheet and disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements. 
In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-10, “Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases” and ASU No. 2018-11, 
“Targeted Improvements,” providing clarifications as well as optional transition relief for applying certain aspects of the new 
leases standard. The standard will be effective for Adient for the quarter ending December 31, 2019, with early adoption permitted. 
Adient is currently assessing the impact this standard will have on its balance sheet and statement of income (loss).

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, "Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and 
Measurement of Financial Assets and Liabilities." ASU No. 2016-01 amends certain aspects of recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. ASU No. 2016-01 will be effective prospectively for Adient for the quarter 
ending December 31, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance for the quarter ending December 31, 
2018 is not expected to have a significant impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.
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In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)." ASU No. 2014-09 
clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue when an entity either enters into a contract with customers to transfer goods or 
services or enters into a contract for the transfer of non-financial assets. In March 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, 
"Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus 
Net)," in April 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying 
Performance Obligations and Licensing," and in May 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, ‘‘Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients,’’ each of which provide additional clarification 
on certain topics addressed in ASU No. 2014-09. ASU No. 2016-08, ASU No. 2016-10 and ASU No. 2016-12 follow the same 
implementation guidelines as ASU No. 2014-09 and ASU No. 2015-14. Adient intends to adopt this guidance effective October 
1, 2018 using the modified retrospective method, recognizing the cumulative effect of the adoption as an adjustment to opening 
retained earnings. While Adient is continuing to assess the potential impacts of adopting the standard, our current analysis indicates 
any adjustment to the adoption date financial statements would not be significant. Under current guidance, Adient generally 
recognizes revenue when products are shipped and risk of loss has transferred to the customer. The amount of revenue recognized 
reflects customer purchase orders as well as ongoing price adjustments and commitments, some of which is estimated. Under the 
new standard, revenue is to be recognized when control of the product is transferred to the customer and Adient obtains an 
enforceable right to payment. The amount of revenue recognized should reflect consideration that Adient expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those products. The new guidance also requires additional disclosures related to the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. Adient is currently assessing the enhanced disclosure 
requirements of the new guidance.  

2. Acquisitions and Divestitures

During the first quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient announced its joint venture with The Boeing Company ("Boeing") called Adient 
Aerospace, LLC ("Adient Aerospace") and formally became operational on October 11, 2018 after securing regulatory approvals. 
Adient's ownership position in Adient Aerospace is 50.01%. Adient Aerospace will develop, manufacture, and sell a portfolio of 
seating products to airlines and aircraft leasing companies for installation on Boeing and other OEM commercial airplanes, for 
both production line-fit and retrofit configurations. Adient Aerospace's results will be included within the Seating segment.

On September 22, 2017, Adient completed the acquisition of Futuris Global Holdings LLC ("Futuris"), a manufacturer of full 
seating systems, seat frames, seat trim, headrests, armrests and seat bolsters. The acquisition provides substantial synergies through 
vertical integration, purchasing and logistics improvements. The acquisition also provided for an immediate manufacturing 
presence on the west coast of the U.S. to service customers such as Tesla as well as strategic locations in China and Southeast 
Asia.

The net purchase consideration of $353 million consisted of net cash consideration of $349 million (net of $34 million acquired) 
and the assumption of $4 million of debt (consisting of $2 million of short-term debt and $2 million of current portion of longterm 
debt). The acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method and the operating results and cash flows of Futuris are 
included in Adient's consolidated financial statements from September 22, 2017. During fiscal 2018, Adient recorded certain 
measurement period adjustments related to Futuris which resulted in a net decrease to goodwill of $18 million.
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Adient recorded a purchase price allocation for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as 
of the September 22, 2017 acquisition date. The final purchase price adjustments and allocation is as follow: 

(in millions) Fair Value Allocation
Cash $ 34
Accounts receivable 93
Inventory 41
Property, plant and equipment 53
Other assets 22
Goodwill 184
Intangible assets 160
Accounts payable (86)
Other liabilities (118)
Total purchase consideration 383
Less: cash acquired 34
Net cash paid 349
Plus: acquired debt 4
Net purchase consideration $ 353

The values allocated to intangible assets of $160 million primarily consist of customer relationships which are being amortized 
on a straight line basis over an estimated useful life of approximately 10 years. The assets were valued using an income approach, 
specifically the “multi-period excess earnings” method, which identifies an estimated stream of revenue and expenses for a 
particular group of assets from which deductions of portions of the projected economic benefits, attributable to assets other than 
the subject asset (contributory assets), are deducted in order to isolate the prospective earnings of the subject asset. This value is 
considered a level 3 measurement under the U.S. GAAP fair value hierarchy. Key assumptions used in the valuation of customer 
relationships include: (1) a rate of return of 16.5% and (2) the life of the relationship of approximately 10 years.

The allocation of the purchase price is based on the valuations performed to determine the fair value of the net assets as of the 
acquisition date. The amounts allocated to goodwill and intangible assets along with fair value adjustments on property, plant and 
equipment and inventory reflect the final valuations. 

Adient expensed $3 million of acquisition-related costs in the year ended September 30, 2017. Pro forma historical results of 
operations related to the acquisition of Futuris have not been presented as they are not material to Adient’s consolidated statements 
of operations.
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During July 2017, Guangzhou Adient Automotive Seating Co., Ltd. ("GAAS"), one of Adient's non-consolidated partially-owned 
affiliates in China became a consolidated entity as a result of an amendment to the rights agreement. This transaction was accounted 
for as a step acquisition and fair value accounting was applied. A fair value of $354 million was determined through a valuation 
using the income approach. A gain of $151 million was recorded on Adient's previously held interest and is included in equity 
income in the consolidated statements of operations. During fiscal 2018, Adient recorded certain measurement period adjustments 
related to GAAS which resulted in an increase to goodwill of $3 million. Adient has recorded the fair value allocation for the 
assets and liabilities of the entity based on the final fair values, as follows:

(in millions) Fair Value Allocation
Cash and cash equivalents $ 102
Accounts receivable 46
Inventory - net 2
Other assets 3
Property, plant and equipment 17
Goodwill 79
Identifiable intangibles 276
Accounts payable (83)
Other liabilities (88)
Fair value of the entity 354
Noncontrolling interest (170)
Adient's interest $ 184

The values allocated to other intangible assets of $276 million primarily consist of customer relationships, which are being amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 20 years. The assets were valued using an income approach, specifically 
the “multi-period excess earnings” method, which identifies an estimated stream of revenue and expenses for a particular group 
of assets from which deductions of portions of the projected economic benefits, attributable to assets other than the subject asset 
(contributory assets), are deducted in order to isolate the prospective earnings of the subject asset. This value is considered a level 
3 measurement under the U.S. GAAP fair value hierarchy. Key assumptions used in the valuation of customer relationships include: 
(1) a rate of return of 14.7% and (2) the life of the relationship of approximately 20 years. 

The purchase price was based on the valuations performed to determine the fair value of the net assets as of the acquisition date. 
The amounts allocated to goodwill and intangible assets reflect the final valuations. Pro forma historical results of operations 
related to this transaction have not been presented as they are not material to Adient’s consolidated statements of operations.

The impact of the Futuris acquisition on consolidated results include $497 million of incremental net sales and an immaterial 
impact on net income during fiscal 2018, respectively. The impact of the Guangzhou Adient Automotive Seating Co., Ltd. ("GAAS") 
consolidation in July 2017 on consolidated results include $341 million of incremental net sales and an immaterial impact on net 
income during fiscal 2018, respectively. 

Assets held for sale

During fiscal 2018, Adient committed to a plan to sell its Detroit, Michigan properties and its airplanes and actively marketed the 
sale of these assets. As a result, these assets were classified as assets held for sale and were required to be adjusted to the lower 
of fair value less cost to sell or carrying value. This resulted in an impairment charge of $49 million which was recorded within 
restructuring and impairment costs on the consolidated statement of income (loss) during fiscal 2018, of which $39 million related 
to Seating assets and $10 million related to corporate assets. The impairment was measured using third party sales pricing to 
determine fair values of the assets. The inputs utilized in the analyses are classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy 
as defined in ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement." During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, one airplane was sold for $36 million. 
During the first quarter of fiscal 2019, both the Detroit, Michigan properties and remaining airplane were sold for approximately 
$35 million.
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3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill in each of Adient's reporting segments is as follows:

(in millions) Seating SS&M Total
Balance at September 30, 2017 $ 2,515 $ — $ 2,515

Business acquisitions (15) — (15)
Realignment of goodwill (299) 299 —
Impairment — (299) (299)
Currency translation and other (19) — (19)

Balance at September 30, 2018 $ 2,182 $ — $ 2,182

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient began reporting three segments: Seating, SS&M and Interiors. Accordingly, 
goodwill previously reported in the Seating segment was reallocated to the SS&M segment using a relative fair value approach 
and subsequently determined to be fully impaired. Refer to Note 21, "Segment Information" for more information on Adient's 
reportable segments. The Interiors segment maintained no goodwill as of September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Adient evaluates its goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, or as facts and circumstances warrant. As a result of the change 
in reportable segments during the second quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient conducted goodwill impairment analyses of the newly 
allocated goodwill balances under the new reportable segment structure. Adient performs impairment reviews for its reporting 
units, which have been determined to be Adient's reportable segments, using a fair value method based on management's judgments 
and assumptions or third party valuations. The fair value of a reporting unit refers to the price that would be received to sell the 
unit as a whole in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Adient estimated the fair value of 
its reportable segments using both a multiple of earnings approach for the Seating segment and a discounted cash flow analysis 
approach for SS&M, both of which utilized Level 3 unobservable inputs. These calculations contain uncertainties as they require 
management to make assumptions about market comparables, future cash flows, the appropriate discount rate (based on weighted 
average cost of capital) and growth rate to reflect the risk inherent in the future cash flows. The estimated future cash flows reflect 
management's latest assumptions of the financial projections based on current and anticipated competitive landscape and product 
profitability based on historical trends. A change in any of these estimates and assumptions could produce a different fair value, 
which could have a material impact on Adient's results of operations. As a result of the analyses, Adient determined that goodwill 
associated with the SS&M reportable segment was fully impaired. Consequently, a pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of $299 
million was recognized in the three months ended March 31, 2018 in the consolidated statements of income (loss) within the 
restructuring and impairment costs line item. The goodwill impairment charge represented a triggering event for additional 
impairment considerations of other long-lived assets, including an analysis of the recoverability of long-lived assets as of March 
31, 2018. No further goodwill or other long-lived asset impairments were identified during the second quarter of fiscal 2018. No 
goodwill impairments were identified as of September 30, 2018. 

Adient's other intangible assets, primarily from business acquisitions valued based on independent appraisals, consisted of: 

  September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017

(in millions)

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Intangible assets
Patented technology $ 21 $ (14) $ 7 $ 30 $ (15) $ 15
Customer relationships 509 (101) 408 545 (64) 481
Trademarks 58 (30) 28 59 (26) 33
Miscellaneous 29 (12) 17 22 (8) 14

Total intangible assets $ 617 $ (157) $ 460 $ 656 $ (113) $ 543
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Adient evaluates its other intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis, or as facts and circumstances warrant. Of the $787 
million long lived asset impairment charge recognized during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, $19 million was attributable to a 
customer relationship impairment charge related to SS&M, representing the excess of the net book value over the fair value of 
the assets. Refer to Note 19, "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets" of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional 
information.

Amortization of other intangible assets for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $47 million and $21 million, 
respectively. Adient anticipates amortization for fiscal 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 will be approximately $41 million, $39 
million, $39 million, $37 million and $37 million, respectively.

4. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

(in millions)

Buildings
and

Improvement
s

Machinery
and

Equipment
Construction
in Progress Land

Total
Tangible

Assets
Cost:
At September 30, 2017 $ 1,357 $ 4,827 $ 521 $ 149 $ 6,854
Capital expenditures — 13 523 — 536
Acquisitions 3 6 — — 9
Disposals (48) (214) (58) (7) (327)
Impairment (95) (571) (102) — (768)
Transfers 76 506 (583) 1 —
Currency translation (16) (66) (3) (4) (89)
At September 30, 2018 $ 1,277 $ 4,501 $ 298 $ 139 $ 6,215

Accumulated depreciation:
At September 30, 2017 $ (684) $ (3,668) $ — $ — $ (4,352)
Depreciation expense (50) (350) — — (400)
Disposals 8 160 — — 168
Currency translation 7 45 — — 52
At September 30, 2018 $ (719) $ (3,813) $ — $ — $ (4,532)

Net book value:
At September 30, 2017 $ 673 $ 1,159 $ 521 $ 149 $ 2,502
At September 30, 2018 $ 558 $ 688 $ 298 $ 139 $ 1,683

Refer to Note 19, "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information 
related to the SS&M fixed asset impairment charge.

There were no material leased capital assets included in net property, plant and equipment at September 30, 2018 and 2017.

As of September 30, 2018, Adient is the lessor of properties included in land for $5 million, gross building and improvements for 
$110 million and accumulated depreciation of $80 million.  As of September 30, 2017, Adient is the lessor of properties included 
in land for $7 million, gross building and improvements for $162 million and accumulated depreciation of $123 million.
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5. Other Financial Assets

As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, other current assets were comprised of:

September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Customer tooling $ 208 $ 285
VAT receivable 178 132
Capitalized engineering 135 175
Prepaid expenses 100 145
All other 86 94
Other current assets $ 707 $ 831

As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, other noncurrent assets were comprised of:

September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Deferred tax asset $ 506 $ 1,025
Capitalized engineering 169 168
All other 189 125
Other noncurrent assets $ 864 $ 1,318

6. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

  September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Raw materials and supplies $ 626 $ 552
Work-in-process 38 37
Finished goods 160 146
Inventories $ 824 $ 735
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7. Product Warranties

Adient offers warranties to its customers depending upon the specific product and terms of the customer purchase agreement. A 
typical warranty program requires that Adient replace defective products within a specified time period from the date of sale. 
Adient records an estimate for future warranty-related costs based on actual historical return rates and other known factors. Based 
on analysis of return rates and other factors, Adient's warranty provisions are adjusted as necessary. Adient monitors its warranty 
activity and adjusts its reserve estimates when it is probable that future warranty costs will be different than those estimates. 
Adient's product warranty liability is recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position in other current liabilities.

The changes in Adient's total product warranty liability are as follows:

September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Balance at beginning of period $ 19 $ 13
Accruals for warranties issued during the period 7 3
Changes in accruals related to pre-existing warranties (including changes in estimates) (4) 4
Accruals from acquisitions — 9
Settlements made (in cash or in kind) during the period (11) (10)
Balance at end of period $ 11 $ 19

8. Leases

Certain administrative and production facilities and equipment are leased under long-term agreements. Most leases contain renewal 
options for varying periods, and certain leases include options to purchase the leased property during or at the end of the lease 
term. Leases generally require Adient to pay for insurance, taxes and maintenance of the property.

Certain facilities and equipment are leased under arrangements that are accounted for as operating leases. Total rental expense for 
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $149 million and $126 million, respectively.

Future minimum operating lease payments at September 30, 2018 are as follows:

(in millions)
Operating

Leases
2018 $ 123
2019 87
2020 67
2021 53
2022 45
After 2022 62
Total minimum lease payments $ 437
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9. Debt and Financing Arrangements

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Term Loan A - LIBOR plus 1.75% due in 2021 $ 1,200 $ 1,200
4.875% Notes due in 2026 900 900
3.50% Notes due in 2024 1,162 1,180
European Investment Bank Loan - EURIBOR plus 0.90% due in 2022 192 195
Capital lease obligations 2 4
Other — 1
Less: debt issuance costs (32) (38)
Gross long-term debt 3,424 3,442
Less: current portion 2 2
Net long-term debt $ 3,422 $ 3,440

On July 27, 2016, Adient Global Holdings Ltd ("AGH"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Adient, entered into a credit agreement 
providing for commitments with respect to a $1.5 billion revolving credit facility and a $1.5 billion Term Loan A facility ("Original 
Credit Facilities"). The Original Credit Facilities mature on July 2021. Commencing March 31, 2017 until the Term Loan A 
maturity date, amortization of the funded Term Loan A is required in an amount per quarter equal to 0.625% of the original principal 
amount in the first year following the closing date of the credit facilities on July 27, 2016 ("Closing Date"), 1.25% in each quarter 
of the second and third years following the Closing Date, and 2.5% in each quarter thereafter prior to final maturity. The Original 
Credit Facilities contained covenants that include, among other things and subject to certain significant exceptions, restrictions 
on Adient's ability to declare or pay dividends, make certain payments in respect of the notes, create liens, incur additional 
indebtedness, make investments, engage in transactions with affiliates, enter into agreements restricting Adient's subsidiaries' 
ability to pay dividends, dispose of assets and merge or consolidate with any other person. In addition, the Original Credit Facilities 
contain a financial maintenance covenant requiring Adient to maintain a total net leverage ratio equal to or less than 3.5x adjusted 
EBITDA calculated on a quarterly basis. The Term Loan A facility also requires mandatory prepayments in connection with certain 
non-ordinary course asset sales and insurance recovery and condemnation events, among other things, and subject in each case 
to certain significant exceptions. During the first quarter of fiscal 2019, Adient entered into an amendment to the Original Credit 
Facilities (“Amended Credit Facilities") whereby the financial maintenance covenant was amended to require Adient to maintain 
a total net leverage ratio equal to or less than 4.5x adjusted EBITDA, with step down provisions starting in the quarter ending 
December 31, 2020. The amendment also expanded the upper range of interest rate margins such that the drawn portion of the 
Amended Credit Facilities will bear interest based on LIBOR plus a margin between 1.25% - 2.50% (previously 1.25% - 2.25%), 
based on Adient’s total net leverage ratio. No other terms were impacted by the amendment.

The full amount of the Term Loan A facility was drawn down in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016. These funds were transferred 
to the former Parent at the time of the draw down and were reflected within net transfers to the former Parent in the consolidated 
statement of cash flow during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016. In February 2017, Adient repaid $100 million of the Term Loan 
A facility. In May 2017, Adient repaid another $200 million of the Term Loan A facility. The total amount repaid was treated as 
a prepayment of the quarterly mandatory principle amortization for the period between March 2017 and June 2020 resulting in 
no required principal payment until June 2020. 

AGH will pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the commitments under the revolving credit facility based on the total 
net leverage ratio of Adient, ranging from 0.15% to 0.40%. No amounts were outstanding under the revolving credit facility at 
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

On August 19, 2016, AGH issued $0.9 billion aggregate principal amount of 4.875% USD-denominated unsecured notes due 2026 
and €1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 3.50% unsecured notes due 2024, in a private offering exempt from the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The proceeds of the notes were used, together with the Term Loan A 
facility, to pay a distribution to the former Parent, with the remaining proceeds used for working capital and general corporate 
purposes. 
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On May 29, 2017, Adient Germany Ltd. & Co. KG, a wholly owned subsidiary of Adient, borrowed €165 million in an unsecured 
term loan from the European Investment Bank due in 2022. The loan bears interest at the 6-month EURIBOR rate plus 90 basis 
points. Loan proceeds were used to repay $200 million of the Term Loan A. 

Principal payments required on long-term debt during the next five years are as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Principal payments $ — $ 56 $ 1,144 $ 192 $ —

Short-term debt consisted of the following:

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Bank borrowings $ 6 $ 36
Weighted average interest rate on short-term debt outstanding (1) 4.8% 3.0%

(1) The weighted average interest rates on short-term debt varies based on levels of debt maintained in various jurisdictions.

Net Financing Charges

Adient's net financing charges line item in the consolidated statements of income contained the following components:

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Interest expense, net of capitalized interest costs $ 142 $ 126
Banking fees and debt issuance cost amortization 7 10
Interest income (5) (4)
Net financing charges $ 144 $ 132

Total interest paid on both short and long-term debt for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $143 million and 
$129 million, respectively.

10. Accounts Payable

Accounts payable consisted of the following:

  September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Trade accounts payable $ 2,468 $ 2,381
Accrued payables 633 577
Accounts payable $ 3,101 $ 2,958

Amounts are payable at various dates within a year after the end of the fiscal year in accordance with the creditors usual and 
customary credit terms.
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11. Other Liabilities

As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, other current liabilities were comprised of:

Year ended September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Customer tooling $ 154 $ 174
VAT Liability 148 101
Accrued income tax 50 77
Dividends payable — 26
All other 259 274
Other current liabilities $ 611 $ 652

As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, other noncurrent liabilities were comprised of:

Year ended September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Deferred tax liability $ 217 $ 389
Uncertain tax position liability 90 106
All other 133 158
Other noncurrent liabilities $ 440 $ 653

Creditors for tax and social insurances are payable in the time frame set forth in the relevant legislation. 

12. Provisions

Irish law defines provisions as amounts that are uncertain in respect of the amount or the date they will be settled. 

As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, provisions within the consolidated statement of financial position are shown below:

September 30,
2017 Charges Utilization Other

September 30
2018

Warranty accrual $ 19 $ 3 $ (11) $ — $ 11
Environmental 9 — (1) — 8
Insurance 51 17 (19) (1) 48
Legal 3 — — — 3
Commercial reserves 225 188 (181) 1 233
Restructuring liabilities 236 46 (133) (8) 141

$ 543 $ 254 $ (345) $ (8) $ 444

Refer to Note 20, "Income Taxes" of the notes to consolidated financial statements for further disclosure related to Adient's income 
tax provision.
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13. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Adient selectively uses derivative instruments to reduce Adient's market risk associated with changes in foreign currency. Under 
Adient's policy, the use of derivatives is restricted to those intended for hedging purposes; the use of any derivative instrument 
for speculative purposes is strictly prohibited. A description of each type of derivative utilized to manage Adient's risk is included 
in the following paragraphs. In addition, refer to Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," of the notes to consolidated financial 
statements for information related to the fair value measurements and valuation methods utilized by Adient for each derivative 
type. 

Adient has global operations and participates in the foreign exchange markets to minimize its risk of loss from fluctuations in 
foreign currency exchange rates. Adient primarily uses foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge certain foreign exchange 
rate exposures. Adient hedges 70% to 90% of the nominal amount of each of its known foreign exchange transactional exposures. 
Gains and losses on derivative contracts offset gains and losses on underlying foreign currency exposures. These contracts have 
been designated as cash flow hedges under ASC 815, "Derivatives and Hedging," and the effective portion of the hedge gains or 
losses due to changes in fair value are initially recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) and 
are subsequently reclassified into earnings when the hedged transactions occur and affect earnings. Any ineffective portion of the 
hedge is reflected in the consolidated statements of income. These contracts were highly effective in hedging the variability in 
future cash flows attributable to changes in currency exchange rates at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Adient selectively uses equity swaps to reduce market risk associated with certain of its stock-based compensation plans, such as 
its deferred compensation plans. The equity swaps are recorded at fair value. Changes in fair value of the equity swaps are reflected 
in the consolidated statements of income within selling, general and administrative expenses. 

As of September 30, 2018, the €1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 3.50% euro-denominated unsecured notes due 2024 was 
designated as a net investment hedge to selectively hedge portions of Adient's net investment in Europe. The currency effects of 
Adient's euro-denominated bonds are reflected in AOCI account within shareholders' equity attributable to Adient where they 
offset gains and losses recorded on Adient's net investment in Europe. 

Adient entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps during fiscal 2018 to selectively hedge portions of its net investment in 
Europe. The currency effects of the cross-currency interest rate swaps are reflected in the AOCI account within shareholders’ 
equity attributable to Adient, where they offset gains and losses recorded on Adient’s net investment in Europe. As of September 
30, 2018, Adient had two cross-currency interest rate swaps outstanding totaling approximately €160 million designated as net 
investment hedges in Adient’s net investment in Europe. 
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The following table presents the location and fair values of derivative instruments and other amounts used in hedging activities 
included in Adient's consolidated statements of financial position:

 

Derivatives and Hedging
Activities Designated as

Hedging Instruments
under ASC 815

Derivatives and Hedging
Activities Not Designated as

Hedging Instruments
under ASC 815

(in millions)
September 30,

2018
September 30,

2017
September 30,

2018
September 30,

2017
Other current assets

Foreign currency exchange derivatives $ 4 $ 4 $ 4 $ —
Other noncurrent assets

Foreign currency exchange derivatives — 1 2 —
Equity swaps — — — 3
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 13 — — —

Total assets $ 17 $ 5 $ 6 $ 3

Other current liabilities
Foreign currency exchange derivatives $ 11 $ 6 $ — $ 2

Other noncurrent liabilities
       Foreign currency exchange derivatives 2 3 — —

Equity swaps — — 2 —
Long-term debt

Foreign currency denominated debt 1,162 1,180 — —
Total liabilities $ 1,175 $ 1,189 $ 2 $ 2

Adient enters into International Swaps and Derivatives Associations (ISDA) master netting agreements with counterparties that 
permit the net settlement of amounts owed under the derivative contracts. The master netting agreements generally provide for 
net settlement of all outstanding contracts with a counterparty in the case of an event of default or a termination event. Adient has 
not elected to offset the fair value positions of the derivative contracts recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
Collateral is generally not required of Adient or the counterparties under the master netting agreements. As of both September 30, 
2018 and September 30, 2017, no cash collateral was received or pledged under the master netting agreements.

The gross and net amounts of derivative instruments and other amounts used in hedging activities are as follows: 

  Assets Liabilities

(in millions)
September 30,

2018
September 30,

2017
September 30,

2018
September 30,

2017
Gross amount recognized $ 23 $ 8 $ 1,177 $ 1,191
Gross amount eligible for offsetting (5) (2) (5) (2)
Net amount $ 18 $ 6 $ 1,172 $ 1,189

The following table presents the effective portion of pretax gains (losses) recorded in other comprehensive income related to 
cash flow hedges:

(in millions)

Year Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Foreign currency exchange derivatives $ (9) $ 3
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The following table presents the location and amount of the effective portion of pretax gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 
reclassified from AOCI into Adient's consolidated statements of income: 

(in millions)

Year Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Foreign currency exchange derivatives Cost of sales $ (3) $ (13)

The following table presents the location and amount of pretax gains (losses) on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments 
recognized in Adient's consolidated statements of income:

(in millions)

Year Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Foreign currency exchange derivatives Cost of sales $ 4 $ (20)
Equity swap Selling, general and administrative (25) 3
Foreign currency exchange derivatives Net financing charges (5) 36
Total $ (26) $ 19

The effective portion of pretax gains (losses) recorded in currency translation adjustment (CTA) within other comprehensive 
income (loss) related to net investment hedges was $31 million, $(61) million and $(24) million for the fiscal years ended September 
30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. For the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, no gains or losses were 
reclassified from CTA into income for Adient's outstanding net investment hedges, and no gains or losses were recognized in 
income for the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges.

14. Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement," defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a three-level fair 
value hierarchy that prioritizes information used in developing assumptions when pricing an asset or liability as follows:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;

Level 2: Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs where there is little or no market data, which requires the reporting entity to develop its 
own assumptions.

ASC 820 requires the use of observable market data, when available, in making fair value measurements. When inputs used to 
measure fair value fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the level within which the fair value measurement is categorized 
is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present Adient's fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

  Fair Value Measurements Using:

(in millions)

Total as of
September 30,

2018

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Other current assets
Foreign currency exchange derivatives $ 8 $ — $ 8 $ —

Other noncurrent assets
Foreign currency exchange derivatives 2 — 2 —
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 13 — 13 —

Total assets $ 23 $ — $ 23 $ —
Other current liabilities

Foreign currency exchange derivatives $ 11 $ — $ 11 $ —
Other noncurrent liabilities

Foreign currency exchange derivatives 2 — 2 —
Equity swaps 2 2

Total liabilities $ 15 $ — $ 15 $ —

  Fair Value Measurements Using:

(in millions)

Total as of
September 30, 

2017

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Other current assets
Foreign currency exchange derivatives $ 4 $ — $ 4 $ —

Other noncurrent assets
Foreign currency exchange derivatives 1 — 1 —
Equity swaps 3 — 3 —

Total assets $ 8 $ — $ 8 $ —
Other current liabilities

Foreign currency exchange derivatives $ 8 $ — $ 8 $ —
Other noncurrent liabilities

Foreign currency exchange derivatives 3 — 3 —
Total liabilities $ 11 $ — $ 11 $ —

Valuation Methods

Foreign currency exchange derivatives  Adient selectively hedges anticipated transactions that are subject to foreign exchange 
rate risk primarily using foreign currency exchange hedge contracts. The foreign currency exchange derivatives are valued under 
a market approach using publicized spot and forward prices. Changes in fair value on foreign exchange derivatives accounted for 
as hedging instruments under ASC 815 are initially recorded as a component of AOCI and are subsequently reclassified into 
earnings when the hedged transactions occur and affect earnings. These contracts were highly effective in hedging the variability 
in future cash flows attributable to changes in currency exchange rates at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respetively. The changes 
in fair value of foreign currency exchange derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815 are recorded in the 
consolidated statements of income. 
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Equity swaps  Adient selectively uses equity swaps to reduce market risk associated with certain of its stock-based compensation 
plans, such as its deferred compensation plans. The equity swaps are recorded at fair value. Changes in fair value of the equity 
swaps are reflected in the consolidated statements of income within selling, general and administrative expenses. 

Cross-currency interest rate swaps  Adient selectively uses cross-currency interest rate swaps to hedge portions of its net investment 
in Europe. During fiscal 2018, Adient entered into two floating to floating cross-currency interest rate swaps totaling approximately 
€160 million designated as net investment hedges in Adient's net investment in Europe. 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term debt and accounts payable approximate their carrying 
values. The fair value of long-term debt, which was $3.3 billion and $3.5 billion at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, 
was determined primarily using market quotes classified as Level 1 inputs within the ASC 820 fair value hierarchy.

15. Stock-Based Compensation

Adient provides certain key employees equity awards in the form of performance share units (PSUs) and restricted stock units 
(RSUs) under the Adient plc 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the Plan) and provides directors with share awards under the Adient 
plc 2016 Director Share Plan. These plans were adopted in conjunction with the separation. 

Total stock-based compensation cost included in the consolidated statements of income was $47 million, $45 million and $28 
million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The total income tax benefit recognized in 
the consolidated statements of income for the share-based compensation arrangements was $0 million (due to tax valuation 
allowances), $21 million and $11 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Stock-based 
compensation expense prior to the separation was allocated to Adient based on the portion of Adient's equity compensation programs 
in which Adient employees participated. 

In conjunction with the separation, previously outstanding stock-based compensation awards granted under the former Parent's 
equity compensation programs prior to the separation and held by certain executives and employees of Adient were adjusted and 
converted into new Adient equity awards using a formula designated to preserve the intrinsic value of the awards. Upon the 
separation on October 31, 2016, holders of former Parent stock options, RSUs, and SARs generally received one ordinary share 
of Adient for every ten ordinary shares of the former parent held at the close of business on October 19, 2016, the record date of 
the distribution, and cash in lieu of fractional shares (if any) of Adient. Accordingly, certain executives and employees of Adient 
hold converted awards in both the former Parent and Adient shares subsequent to the separation. Converted awards retained the 
vesting schedule and expiration date of the original awards. Outstanding stock awards related to the former Parent stock are not 
included in Adient's dilutive share calculation. 

The following tables present activity related to the conversion and granting of awards during the twelve months ended September 
30, 2018 along with the composition of outstanding and exercisable awards at September 30, 2018 for remaining former Parent 
and new Adient awards.

Restricted Stock

The Plan provides for the award of restricted stock or restricted stock units to certain employees. These awards are typically share 
settled except for certain non-U.S. employees or those who elect to defer settlement until retirement at which point the award 
would be settled in cash. Cash settled awards are recorded in Adient's consolidated statements of financial position as a liability 
and adjusted each reporting period for changes in share value until the settlement of the award. Restricted awards typically vest 
after three years from the grant date. The Plan allows for different vesting terms on specific grants with approval by Adient's Board 
of Directors. 
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A summary of the status of nonvested restricted stock awards at September 30, 2018, and changes for the fiscal year then ended, 
for Adient employees is presented below:

Weighted
Average

Price

Shares/Units
Subject to
Restriction

Nonvested, September 30, 2017 $ 45.49 2,252,438
Granted 76.91 287,590
Vested 47.25 (883,048)
Forfeited 59.31 (214,969)
Nonvested, September 30, 2018 $ 48.62 1,442,011

Former Parent nonvested, September 30, 2018 $ 44.12 545,463
Adient nonvested, September 30, 2018 51.81 896,548
Total nonvested, September 30, 2018 $ 48.62 1,442,011

At September 30, 2018, Adient had approximately $22 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested 
restricted stock arrangements granted. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Performance Share Awards

The Plan permits the grant of PSU awards. The number of PSUs granted is equal to the PSU award value divided by the closing 
price of a Adient ordinary share at the grant date. The PSUs are generally contingent on the achievement of predetermined 
performance goals over a three-year performance period as well as on the award holder's continuous employment until the vesting 
date. Each PSU that is earned will be settled with an ordinary share of Adient following the completion of the performance period, 
unless the award holder elected to defer a portion or all of the award until retirement, which would then be settled in cash. Cash 
settled awards are recorded in Adient's consolidated statements of financial position as a liability and adjusted each reporting 
period for changes in share value until the settlement of the award.

A summary of the status of Adient's nonvested PSUs at September 30, 2018, and changes for the fiscal year then ended, for Adient 
employees is presented below:

Weighted
Average

Price

Shares/Units
Subject to

PSU
Nonvested, September 30, 2017 $ 44.60 236,034
Granted 84.97 176,100
Vested — —
Forfeited 71.14 (146,071)
Nonvested, September 30, 2018 $ 56.75 266,063

At September 30, 2018, Adient had approximately $5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested 
performance share units granted. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

Stock Options

No new stock options have been granted under the Plan. Stock options were previously granted to eligible employees prior to the 
separation from the former Parent. Stock option awards typically vest between two and three years after the grant date and expire 
ten years from the grant date. The fair value of each option was estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option 
valuation model. 
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A summary of stock option activity at September 30, 2018, and changes for the year then ended, is presented below:

Weighted
Average

Option Price

Shares
Subject to

Option

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in millions)

Outstanding, September 30, 2017 $ 32.04 1,422,133
Granted $ — —
Exercised $ 27.10 (305,492)
Forfeited, expired or converted $ 30.71 (28,660)
Outstanding, September 30, 2018 $ 34.51 1,087,981 4.2 $ 6

Exercisable, September 30, 2018 $ 33.91 1,022,716 4.0 $ 6

Former Parent outstanding, September 30, 2018 $ 34.27 983,406 4.2 $ 5
Adient outstanding, September 30, 2018 $ 36.81 104,575 4.2 $ 1
Total outstanding, September 30, 2018 $ 34.51 1,087,981 4.2 $ 6

Former Parent exercisable, September 30, 2018 $ 33.60 919,440 4.0 $ 5
Adient exercisable, September 30, 2018 $ 36.70 103,276 4.2 $ 1
Total exercisable, September 30, 2018 $ 33.91 1,022,716 4.0 $ 6

There were no stock options granted in fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised by 
Adient employees during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was approximately $7 million and $18 million, 
respectively, primarily consisting of former Parent awards.

Stock Appreciation Rights

SARs vest under the same terms and conditions as stock option awards; however, they are settled in cash for the difference between 
the market price on the date of exercise and the exercise price. As a result, SARs are recorded in Adient's consolidated statements 
of financial position as a liability until the date of exercise. 

The fair value of each SAR award is estimated using a similar method described for stock options. The fair value of each SAR 
award is recalculated at the end of each reporting period and the liability and expense are adjusted based on the new fair value.
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A summary of SAR activity at September 30, 2018, and changes for the year then ended, is presented below:

Weighted
Average

SAR Price

Shares
Subject to

SAR

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in millions)

Outstanding, September 30, 2017 $ 28.12 549,158
Converted $ 26.09 10,467
Exercised $ 26.59 (164,604)
Forfeited or expired $ 25.92 (3,751)
Outstanding, September 30, 2018 $ 29.12 391,270 3.5 $ 3

Exercisable, September 30, 2018 $ 28.53 376,583 3.4 $ 3

Former Parent outstanding, September 30, 2018 $ 28.81 363,361 3.5 $ 3
Adient outstanding, September 30, 2018 $ 33.10 27,909 3.5 $ —
Total outstanding, September 30, 2018 $ 29.12 391,270 3.5 $ 3

Former Parent exercisable, September 30, 2018 $ 28.24 350,010 3.4 $ 3
Adient exercisable, September 30, 2018 $ 32.47 26,573 3.4 $ —
Total exercisable, September 30, 2018 $ 28.53 376,583 3.4 $ 3

In conjunction with the exercise of SARs, Adient made payments of $3 million, $1 million and $4 million during the fiscal years 
ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively

16. Equity and Noncontrolling Interests

The following table presents changes in AOCI attributable to Adient:

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions, net of tax) 2018 2017
Foreign currency translation adjustments

Balance at beginning of period $ (398) $ (260)
Aggregate adjustment for the period, net of tax (125) (138)
Balance at end of period (523) (398)

Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives
Balance at beginning of period 3 (14)
Current period changes in fair value, net of tax (13) 6
Reclassification to income, net of tax* 3 11
Balance at end of period (7) 3

Pension and postretirement plans
Balance at beginning of period (2) (2)
Net reclassifications to AOCI 1 —
Balance at end of period (1) (2)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), end of period $ (531) $ (397)

*  Refer to Note 13, "Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for disclosure 
of the line items on the consolidated statements of income affected by reclassifications from AOCI into income related to derivatives.
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Adient consolidates certain subsidiaries in which the noncontrolling interest party has within their control the right to require 
Adient to redeem all or a portion of its interest in the subsidiary. These redeemable noncontrolling interests are reported at their 
estimated redemption value. Any adjustment to the redemption value impacts retained earnings but does not impact net income. 
Redeemable noncontrolling interests which are redeemable only upon future events, the occurrence of which is not currently 
probable, are recorded at carrying value. The following table presents changes in the redeemable noncontrolling interests:

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Beginning balance $ 28 $ 34

Net income 24 25
Foreign currency translation adjustments 1 —
Dividends (7) (31)
Change in noncontrolling interest share 1 —

Ending balance $ 47 $ 28

The change in Parent's net investment includes all intercompany activity with the former Parent prior to separation, including a 
$1.5 billion non-cash settlement during fiscal 2017. 

During March 2017, Adient declared a dividend of $0.275 per ordinary share, which was paid in April 2017. In July 2017, Adient 
declared a dividend of $0.275 per ordinary share, which was paid in August 2017. In September 2017, Adient declared a dividend 
of $0.275 per ordinary share, which was paid in November 2017. In November 2017, Adient declared a dividend of $0.275 per 
ordinary share, which was paid in February 2018. In March 2018, Adient declared a dividend of $0.275 per ordinary share, which 
was paid in May 2018. In June 2018, Adient declared a dividend of $0.275 per ordinary share, which was paid in August 2018. 
In October 2018, Adient declared a dividend of $0.275 per ordinary share, which was paid in November 2018.

During fiscal 2017, Adient repurchased 573,437 ordinary shares for $40 million. Repurchased shares were retired immediately 
upon repurchase. No shares were repurchased during fiscal 2018.

17. Retirement Plans

Pension Benefits

Adient maintains non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering primarily non-U.S. employees and a limited number 
of U.S. employees. The benefits provided are primarily based on years of service and average compensation or a monthly retirement 
benefit amount. Funding for non-U.S. plans observes the local legal and regulatory limits. Funding for U.S. pension plans equals 
or exceeds the minimum requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

For pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations (ABO) that exceed plan assets, the projected benefit obligation (PBO), 
ABO and fair value of plan assets of those plans were $208 million, $188 million and $82 million, respectively, as of September 
30, 2018 and $472 million, $450 million and $342 million, respectively, as of September 30, 2017. 

Total former Parent benefit plan net expense allocated to Adient amounted to $21 million for fiscal year 2016. These costs are 
reflected in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses and were funded through intercompany transactions 
with the former Parent which are now reflected within the net parent investment equity balance. 

In fiscal 2018, Adient paid contributions to the defined benefit pension plans of $4 million and also received reimbursements of 
$15 million from the plans for benefits paid directly to plan participants for prior periods. Contributions of at least $9 million in 
cash to its defined benefit pension plans are expected in fiscal 2019. 
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Projected benefit payments from the plans as of September 30, 2018 are estimated as follows (in millions):

2019 $ 22
2020 21
2021 21
2022 27
2023 23
2024-2028 155

Savings and Investment Plans

Adient sponsors various defined contribution savings plans that allow employees to contribute a portion of their pre-tax and/or 
after-tax income in accordance with plan specified guidelines. Under specified conditions, Adient will contribute to certain savings 
plans based on the employees' eligible pay and/or will match a percentage of the employee contributions up to certain limits. 
Matching contributions expense in connection with these plans amounted to $37 million and $58 million for fiscal years 2018 and 
2017, respectively.

Plan Assets

Adient's investment policies employ an approach whereby a mix of equities, fixed income and alternative investments are used 
to maximize the long-term return of plan assets for a prudent level of risk. The investment portfolio primarily contains a diversified 
blend of equity and fixed income investments. Equity investments are diversified across domestic and non-domestic stocks, as 
well as growth, value and small to large capitalizations. Fixed income investments include corporate and government issues, with 
short-, mid- and long-term maturities, with a focus on investment grade when purchased and a target duration close to that of the 
plan liability. Investment and market risks are measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through regular investment portfolio 
reviews, annual liability measurements and periodic asset/liability studies. The majority of the real estate component of the portfolio 
is invested in a diversified portfolio of high-quality, operating properties with cash yields greater than the targeted appreciation. 
Investments in other alternative asset classes, including hedge funds and commodities, diversify the expected investment returns 
relative to the equity and fixed income investments. As a result of Adient's diversification strategies, there are no significant 
concentrations of risk within the portfolio of investments.

Adient's actual asset allocations are in line with target allocations. Adient rebalances asset allocations as appropriate, in order to 
stay within a range of allocation for each asset category.

The expected return on plan assets is based on Adient's expectation of the long-term average rate of return of the capital markets 
in which the plans invest. The average market returns are adjusted, where appropriate, for active asset management returns. 
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The expected return reflects the investment policy target asset mix and considers the historical returns earned for each asset 
category. Adient's plan assets by asset category, are as follows:

Adient's plan assets by asset category, are as follows:

  Fair Value Measurements Using:

(in millions)

Total as of
September 30,

2018

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Net Asset
Value (NAV)

Pension
Cash $ 31 $ 31 $ — $ — $ —
Equity Securities

Domestic 17 3 — — 14
International - Developed 51 36 — — 15
International - Emerging 5 2 — — 3

Fixed Income Securities
Government 185 83 67 — 35
Corporate/Other 61 49 2 — 10

Hedge Fund 77 — 77 — —
Real Estate 22 — — 6 16
Total $ 449 $ 204 $ 146 $ 6 $ 93

  Fair Value Measurements Using:

(in millions)

Total as of
September 30,

2017

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Net Asset
Value (NAV)

Pension
Cash $ 10 $ 10 $ — $ — $ —
Equity Securities

Domestic 23 4 — — 19
International - Developed 74 52 — — 22
International - Emerging 10 6 — — 4

Fixed Income Securities
Government 195 76 87 — 32
Corporate/Other 80 52 13 — 15

Hedge Fund 73 — 73 — —
Real Estate 26 — — 11 15
Total $ 491 $ 200 $ 173 $ 11 $ 107
Postretirement:
Equity Securities

Domestic $ 4 $ 4 $ — $ — $ —
International - Developed 5 5 — — —

Fixed Income Securities
Government 3 3 — — —
Corporate/Other 3 3 — — —

Total $ 15 $ 15 $ — $ — $ —
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The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value. 

Cash: The fair value of cash is valued at cost. 

Equity Securities: The fair value of equity securities is determined by direct quoted market prices. The underlying holdings are 
direct quoted market prices on regulated financial exchanges. 

Fixed Income Securities: The fair value of fixed income securities is determined by direct or indirect quoted market prices. If 
indirect quoted market prices are utilized, the value of assets held in separate accounts is not published, but the investment managers 
report daily the underlying holdings. The underlying holdings are direct quoted market prices on regulated financial exchanges.

Hedge Funds: The fair value of hedge funds is determined for by the custodian. The custodian obtains valuations from underlying 
managers based on market quotes for the most liquid assets and alternative methods for assets that do not have sufficient trading 
activity to derive prices. Adient and custodian review the methods used by the underlying managers to value the assets. Adient 
believes this is an appropriate methodology to obtain the fair value of these assets. 

Real Estate: The fair value of certain investments in real estate is deemed Level 3 since these investments do not have a readily 
determinable fair value and requires the fund managers independently to arrive at fair value by calculating NAV per share. In order 
to calculate NAV per share, the fund managers value the real estate investments using any one, or a combination of, the following 
methods: independent third party appraisals, discounted cash flow analysis of net cash flows projected to be generated by the 
investment and recent sales of comparable investments. Assumptions used to revalue the properties are updated every quarter. 
Adient believes this is an appropriate methodology to obtain the fair value of these assets. 

Investments at NAV: For mutual or collective funds where a NAV is not publicly quoted, the NAV per share is used as a practical 
expedient and is based on the quoted market prices of the underlying net assets of the fund as reported daily by the fund managers. 
Funds valued based on NAV per share as a practical expedient are not categorized within the fair value hierarchy. 

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective 
of future fair values. Furthermore, while Adient believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market 
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could 
result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 

The following sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of pension assets measured using significant unobservable inputs 
(Level 3):

(in millions) Real Estate
Pension
Asset value as of September 30, 2017 $ 11
Redemptions (5)
Asset value as of September 30, 2018 $ 6
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Funded Status

The table that follows contains the ABO and reconciliations of the changes in the PBO, the changes in plan assets and the 
funded status:

  Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
(in millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Accumulated Benefit Obligation $ 526 $ 577 $ 16 $ —
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 600 $ 637 $ 16 $ 16
Service cost 8 8 — —
Interest cost 14 12 — 1
Plan participant contributions — — — 1
Actuarial (gain) loss (33) (51) — —
Benefits and settlements paid (28) (29) (1) (1)
Settlement (gain) — — (15) —
Currency translation adjustment (14) 23 — (1)
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 547 $ 600 $ — $ 16
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 491 $ 457 $ 15 $ 12
Actual return on plan assets 9 9 1 2
Employer contributions/(distributions) (11) 37 — 2
Benefits and settlements paid (28) (29) (1) (1)
Reallocation of plan assets — — (15) —
Currency translation adjustment (12) 17 — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 449 $ 491 $ — $ 15
Funded status $ (98) $ (109) $ — $ (1)
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position consist
of:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 29 $ 22 $ — $ —
Accrued benefit liability (127) (131) — (1)

Net amount recognized $ (98) $ (109) $ — $ (1)

(1) The postretirement benefit plan was terminated during fiscal 2018. As a result, a $15 million settlement gain was recorded, 
reflecting immediate recognition of prior service credits. 

  Pension Benefits Postretirement
Benefits  U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Weighted Average Assumptions (1):
Discount rate (2) 4.29% 3.85% 2.63% 2.60% NA 3.50%
Rate of compensation increase NA NA 3.53% 3.55% NA NA

(1)  Plan assets and obligations are determined based on a September 30 measurement date.

(2)  Adient considers the expected benefit payments on a plan-by-plan basis when setting assumed discount rates. As a result, Adient 
uses different discount rates for each plan depending on the plan jurisdiction, the demographics of participants and the expected 
timing of benefit payments. For the U.S. pension and postretirement plans, Adient uses a discount rate provided by an independent 
third party calculated based on an appropriate mix of high quality bonds. For the non-U.S. pension and postretirement plans, Adient 
consistently uses the relevant country specific benchmark indices for determining the various discount rates.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The amounts in AOCI on the consolidated statements of financial position, exclusive of tax impacts, that have not yet been 
recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost at September 30, 2018 and 2017 were $1 million and $2 million, respectively, 
related to pension benefits. 

The amounts in AOCI expected to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year for pension 
and postretirement benefits are not significant.

Net Periodic Benefit Cost

The tables that follow contain the components and key assumptions of net periodic benefit cost:

 
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

(in millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Credit):
Service cost $ 8 $ 8 $ — $ —
Interest cost 14 12 — 1
Expected return on plan assets (18) (17) — —
Net actuarial (gain) (24) (43) — (2)
Settlement (gain) — — (15) —
Net periodic benefit (credit) $ (20) $ (40) $ (15) $ (1)

  Pension Benefits Postretirement
Benefits  U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Expense Assumptions:
Discount rate 3.85% 3.70% 2.62% 2.10% NA 3.25%
Expected return on plan assets 5.15% 5.50% 4.19% 3.80% NA 3.35%
Rate of compensation increase NA NA 3.53% 4.00% NA NA

18. Restructuring and Impairment Costs

To better align its resources with its overall strategies and reduce the cost structure of its global operations to address the softness 
in certain underlying markets, Adient commits to restructuring plans as necessary. 

In fiscal 2018, Adient committed to a restructuring plan ("2018 Plan") of $71 million that was offset by $20 million of underspend 
in the 2016 Plan and $7 million of underspend related to other plan years. Of the restructuring costs recorded, $23 million relates 
to the SS&M segment and $48 million relates to the Seating segment. This is the total amount expected to be incurred for this 
restructuring plan. The restructuring actions relate to cost reduction initiatives and consist primarily of workforce reductions. The 
restructuring actions are expected to be substantially completed by fiscal 2019. 

The following table summarizes the changes in Adient's 2018 Plan reserve:

(in millions)

Employee
Severance and
Termination

Benefits Other
Currency

Translation Total
Original Reserve $ 68 $ 3 $ — $ 71

Utilized—cash (19) — — (19)
Utilized—noncash — (2) (2) (4)

Balance at September 30, 2018 $ 49 $ 1 $ (2) $ 48
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In fiscal 2017, Adient committed to a restructuring plan ("2017 Plan") within the Seating segment and recorded $46 million of 
restructuring and impairment costs in the consolidated statements of income. This is the total amount expected to be incurred for 
this restructuring plan. The restructuring actions relate to cost reduction initiatives and consist primarily of workforce reductions 
and plant closures. The restructuring actions are expected to be substantially complete in fiscal 2019. Adient maintained $11 
million of Futuris restructuring reserves as of September 30, 2017, all of which was paid during fiscal 2018. 

The following table summarizes the changes in Adient's 2017 Plan reserve:

(in millions)

Employee
Severance and
Termination

Benefits Other
Currency

Translation Total
Original Reserve $ 42 $ 4 $ — $ 46

Utilized—cash (4) (4) — (8)
Balance at September 30, 2017 38 — — 38

Utilized—cash (26) — — (26)
Balance at September 30, 2018 $ 12 $ — $ — $ 12

Adient's fiscal 2018 and 2017 restructuring plans included workforce reductions of approximately 6,200. Restructuring charges 
associated with employee severance and termination benefits are paid over the severance period granted to each employee or on 
a lump sum basis in accordance with individual severance agreements. As of September 30, 2018, approximately 3,700 of the 
employees have been separated from Adient pursuant to the restructuring plans. In addition, the restructuring plans included twelve 
plant closures. As of September 30, 2018, nine of the twelve plants have been closed.

Adient's management closely monitors its overall cost structure and continually analyzes each of its businesses for opportunities 
to consolidate current operations, improve operating efficiencies and locate facilities in low cost countries in close proximity to 
customers. This ongoing analysis includes a review of its manufacturing, engineering, purchasing and administrative functions, 
as well as the overall global footprint for all its businesses. Because of the importance of new vehicle sales by major automotive 
manufacturers to operations, Adient is affected by the general business conditions in the automotive industry. Future adverse 
developments in the automotive industry could impact Adient's liquidity position, lead to impairment charges and/or require 
additional restructuring of its operations.

19. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Adient reviews long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets with definite lives, for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset's carrying amount may not be recoverable. Adient 
conducts its long-lived asset impairment analyses in accordance with ASC 360-10-15, "Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets." ASC 360-10-15 requires Adient to group assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are 
largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities and evaluate the asset group against the sum of the undiscounted 
future cash flows. If the undiscounted cash flows do not indicate the carrying amount of the asset is recoverable, an impairment 
charge is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value based on discounted cash 
flow analysis or appraisals. 

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient concluded it had a triggering event requiring assessment of impairment for certain of 
its long-lived assets within SS&M due to the significant performance issues that persisted in fiscal 2018 and the resulting actions 
to turn around the SS&M business identified during the fiscal 2019 planning process. As a result, Adient reviewed the long-lived 
assets for impairment and recorded a $787 million non-cash pre-tax impairment charge within restructuring and impairment costs 
on the consolidated statements of income (loss). The impairment charge related to long-lived assets that were in use in North 
America and Europe asset groups as of September 30, 2018 in support of current programs. Of the $787 million impairment charge, 
$768 million relates to fixed assets and $19 million relates to customer relationships. The impairment was measured, depending 
on the asset, either under an income approach utilizing forecasted discounted cash flows or a market approach utilizing appraisal 
techniques to determine fair values of the impaired assets. These methods are consistent with the methods Adient employed in 
prior periods to value other long-lived assets. The inputs utilized in the analyses are classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair 
value hierarchy as defined in ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement" and primarily consist of expected future operating margins and 
cash flows, estimated production volumes, weighted average cost of capital rates (13.0%), estimated salable values and third-party 
appraisal techniques such as market comparables. To the extent that profitability on current or future programs decline as compared 
to forecasted profitability or if adverse changes occur to key assumptions or other fair value measurement inputs, further impairment 
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of long-lived assets could occur in the future. Refer to Note 3, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" and Note 4 "Property, Plant 
and Equipment" of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information. 

At September 30, 2017, Adient concluded it did not have any triggering events requiring assessment of impairment of its long-
lived assets. See Note 22, "Nonconsolidated Partially-Owned Affiliates" for information on the fiscal 2018 impairment of 
investments in partially owned affiliates.

20. Income Taxes

For fiscal 2018 and 2017, the income tax provision (benefit) reflects Adient as an independent company incorporated under the 
laws of Ireland. For fiscal 2016, prior to the separation, the income tax provision (benefit) was calculated as if Adient filed separate 
income tax returns and was operating as a stand-alone business. Therefore, cash tax payments and items of current and deferred 
taxes may not be reflective of the actual tax balances of Adient subsequent to the separation. Adient's operations have historically 
been included in the former Parent’s U.S. federal and state tax returns and non-U.S. tax returns. 

Consolidated income (loss) before income taxes and noncontrolling interests for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 
is as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Ireland $ 4 $ (6)
United States (324) 122
Other Foreign (801) 945

Income before income taxes and noncontrolling interests $ (1,121) $ 1,061

The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows:

 
Year Ended

September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Current

Ireland $ 1 $ —
US - Federal and State 7 14
Other Foreign 128 137

136 151
Deferred

Ireland — (2)
US - Federal and State 417 13
Other Foreign (73) (63)

344 (52)

Income tax provision $ 480 $ 99

The significant components of Adient's income tax provision are summarized in the following tables. These amounts do not include 
the impact of income tax expense related to our nonconsolidated partially-owned affiliates, which is netted against equity income 
on the consolidated statements of income.
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The reconciliation between the Irish statutory income tax rate, and Adient’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Tax expense at Ireland statutory rate $ (140) $ 133
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit (60) (10)
Foreign tax rate differential (146) (67)
Notional interest deduction (66) (28)
Credits and incentives (13) (13)
Gain on previously-held interest — (19)
Impairment (21) —
Repatriation of foreign earnings 36 30
Foreign exchange 3 (11)
Impact of enacted tax rate changes 23 10
Impact of U.S. tax reform 210 —
Change in uncertain tax positions 97 50
Change in valuation allowance 554 21
Other 3 3
Income tax provision $ 480 $ 99

The income tax expense was higher than the Irish statutory rate of 12.5% for fiscal 2018 primarily due to the charge to recognize 
the impact of U.S. tax reform legislation, repatriation of foreign earnings, and changes in uncertain tax positions and valuation 
allowances, partially offset by benefits from global tax planning, losses in jurisdictions subject to state and local taxation, notional 
interest deductions, foreign tax rate differentials, and impairment deductions. No items included in the other category are 
individually, or when appropriately aggregated, significant. 

The effective rate was lower than the Irish statutory rate of 12.5% for fiscal 2017 primarily due to benefits from global tax planning, 
notional interest deductions, foreign tax rate differentials, and foreign exchange, partially offset with a first quarter fiscal 2017 
tax law change in Hungary, repatriation of foreign earnings, and changes in uncertain tax positions and valuation allowances. No 
items included in the other category are individually, or when appropriately aggregated, significant. 

The foreign tax rate differential benefit for fiscal 2018 is primarily driven by losses earned in jurisdictions where the statutory rate 
is greater than 12.5%. The foreign tax rate differential benefit for fiscal 2017 was primarily driven by the pretax book income of 
nonconsolidated partially-owned affiliates whose corresponding income tax expense is netted against equity income on the 
consolidated statements of income. Excluding nonconsolidated partially-owned affiliates, foreign tax rate differentials had a $21 
million favorable impact on the effective tax rate as a result of losses earned in jurisdictions where the statutory rate was greater 
than 12.5%. 

Deferred taxes are classified in the consolidated statements of financial position as follows:

September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Other noncurrent assets $ 506 $ 1,025
Other noncurrent liabilities (217) (389)
Net deferred tax asset $ 289 $ 636
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Temporary differences and carryforwards which gave rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities included:

  September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses and reserves $ 64 $ 83
Employee and retiree benefits 35 58
Net operating loss and other credit carryforwards 527 340
Property, plant and equipment 163 3
Intangible assets 361 463
Research and development 16 9
Joint ventures and partnerships 4 —
Other 23 13

1,193 969
Valuation allowances (846) (223)

347 746
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries 58 95
Joint ventures and partnerships — 15

58 110
Net deferred tax asset $ 289 $ 636

At September 30, 2018, Adient had available net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $2,265 million which are available 
to reduce future tax liabilities. Net operating loss carryforwards of $1,174 million will expire at various dates between 2019 and 
2038, with the remainder having an indefinite carryforward period, and $947 million are offset by a valuation allowance. 

Adient reviews the realizability of its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis, or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that a review is required. In determining the requirement for a valuation allowance, the historical and projected financial 
results of the legal entity or combined group recording the net deferred tax asset are considered, along with any other positive or 
negative evidence. Since future financial results may differ from previous estimates, periodic adjustments to Adient's valuation 
allowances may be necessary. If Adient's operating performance continues to be negatively impacted and actual results differ 
significantly from current or prior estimates, Adient may conclude that it is more likely than not that a material portion of our 
deferred tax assets will not be realized. As such, it is possible that a change to valuation allowances in certain jurisdictions may 
result in a material increase to income tax expense during the next twelve months. In addition, the effective tax rate in subsequent 
periods would also increase. 

As a result of Adient's fiscal 2018 analysis of the realizability of its worldwide deferred tax assets, and after considering tax 
planning initiatives and other positive and negative evidence (including the SS&M long-lived asset impairment recorded in the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2018), Adient determined that it was more likely than not that deferred tax assets within the following 
jurisdictions would not be realized and recorded net valuation allowances as income tax expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal 
2018: Belgium ($12 million), Canada ($6 million), Germany ($175 million), Hungary ($14 million), Mexico ($117 million), Poland 
($8 million), Romania ($9 million), and the U.S. ($281 million). Germany, Hungary, Mexico, Poland, Romania, and the U.S. 
cumulative loss positions were all adversely impacted by the SS&M performance issues and resulting long-lived asset impairment. 

In addition, as a result of Adient's fiscal 2018 analysis, Adient determined that it was more likely than not that deferred tax assets 
within Brazil would be realized. Therefore, Adient released $76 million of valuation allowance as an income tax benefit in the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. Adient continues to record valuation allowances on certain deferred tax assets in Australia, Czech 
Republic, Mexico, Poland, Spain and other jurisdictions as it remains more likely than not that they will not be realized. 

As a result of Adient's fiscal 2017 analysis of the realizability of its worldwide deferred tax assets, and after considering tax 
planning initiatives and other positive and negative evidence, Adient determined that no material changes to valuation allowances 
were required. 
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Adient is subject to income taxes in Ireland, the U.S. and other foreign jurisdictions. The following table provides the earliest open 
tax year by major jurisdiction for which Adient could be subject to income tax examination by the tax authorities:

Tax Jurisdiction Earliest Year Open
Brazil 2013
China 2011
Czech Republic 2011
France 2015
Germany 2013
Hong Kong 2012
Japan 2013
Luxembourg 2013
Mexico 2013
Poland 2008
Spain 2012
United Kingdom 2012
United States 2017

Adient regularly assesses the likelihood of an adverse outcome resulting from examinations to determine the adequacy of its tax 
reserves. For the year ended September 30, 2018, Adient believes that it is more likely than not that the tax positions it has taken 
will be sustained upon the resolution of its audits resulting in no material impact on its consolidated financial statements. However, 
the final determination with respect to tax audits and any related litigation could be materially different from Adient’s estimates.

For the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, Adient had gross tax effected unrecognized tax benefits of $288 million and  
$193 million, respectively. If recognized, $133 million of Adient's unrecognized tax benefits would impact the effective tax rate. 
Total net accrued interest for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was approximately $5 million and $3 million, 
respectively (net of tax benefit). Adient recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of 
income tax expense.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Year Ended September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Beginning balance $ 193 $ 596

Additions for tax positions related to the current year 110 76
Additions for tax positions of prior years 12 5
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (21) (471)
Settlements with taxing authorities — (7)
Statute closings (6) (6)

Ending balance $ 288 $ 193

During the next twelve months, it is reasonably possible that tax audit resolutions or applicable statute of limitation lapses could 
reduce the unrecognized tax benefits and income tax expense. Adient does not anticipate that this will result in a material impact 
to its consolidated financial statements. 

Adient has $13.5 billion of undistributed foreign earnings of which $685 million is deemed permanently reinvested and no deferred 
taxes have been provided on such earnings. It is not practicable to determine the unrecognized deferred tax liability on these 
earnings because the actual tax liability, if any, is dependent on circumstances existing when remittance occurs. 

Income taxes paid for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 were $139 million. Income taxes paid for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2017 were $148 million, of which $16 million were paid prior to the separation by the former Parent. 
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Impacts of Tax Legislation and Change in Statutory Tax Rates 

On December 22, 2017, the Act was signed and enacted into law, and is effective for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 
2018, with the exception of certain provisions. As a fiscal year taxpayer, Adient will not be subject to the majority of the provisions 
until fiscal year 2019, however the statutory tax rate reduction is effective January 1, 2018. 

The Act reduces the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%. Adient’s fiscal 2018 income tax expense reflects the benefit from 
the reduced rate of 24.5% resulting from the application of Internal Revenue Code, Section 15 which provides for a proration of 
the newly enacted rate during this fiscal year. This benefit is offset by a non-cash tax expense of $106 million related to the 
remeasurement of Adient’s net deferred tax assets at the lower statutory rate, a non-cash estimated tax expense of $100 million 
related to recording a valuation allowance to reflect the reduced benefit Adient expects to realize as a result of being subject to 
the Base Erosion and Anti-avoidance Tax ("BEAT"), and tax expense of $4 million related to the transition tax imposed on previously 
untaxed earnings and profits. Adient is projecting that it will be subject to BEAT, a parallel tax system, for the foreseeable future.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient refined its estimate of the impact of the income tax effects of the Act from the 
previously disclosed $258 million to $210 million as discussed above, based on new information, including the full year fiscal 
2018 results. Adient has completed its accounting for the deferred remeasurement and transition tax aspects of the Act. In accordance 
with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Adient is disclosing the estimated income tax impact for the BEAT valuation allowance. 
Although the $100 million tax expense represents what Adient believes is a reasonable estimate of the impact of the income tax 
effects of the Act on its consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2018, it is a provisional amount and will be impacted 
by the forthcoming BEAT regulatory guidance and Adient’s on-going analysis of the legislation. Adient will continue to assess 
the provisions of the Act and the anticipated impact to income tax expense and will disclose the impact on its consolidated financial 
statements in future financial filings. Any adjustment to the provisional amount will be offset by the U.S. valuation allowance 
resulting in no net impact to income tax expense (benefit) in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. 

In fiscal 2017, Hungary passed the 2017 tax bill which reduced the corporate income tax rate to a flat 9% rate. As a result of the 
law change, Adient recorded income tax expense of $5 million related to the write down of deferred tax assets. 

In fiscal 2017, the US Treasury and the IRS released final and temporary Section 385 regulations. These regulations address 
whether certain instruments between related parties are treated as debt or equity. Adient does not expect that the regulations will 
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, other tax legislation was adopted in various jurisdictions. These law changes did not have a 
material impact on Adient's consolidated financial statements.

Other Tax Matters 

During July 2017, one of Adient's non-consolidated partially-owned affiliates, GAAS, became a consolidated entity. Refer to Note 
2, "Acquisitions and Divestitures," of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information. Adient recorded 
a preliminary fair value allocation for the assets and liabilities of the entity based on their fair values, which included a $276 
million intangible asset for customer relationships that has an estimate useful life of 20 years. Accordingly, Adient recorded a 
deferred tax liability of $69 million related to the intangible asset. 

On September 22, 2017, Adient completed the acquisition of Futuris. Refer to Note 2, "Acquisitions and Divestitures," of the notes 
to consolidated financial statements for additional information. Adient recorded a final allocation of the purchase price for assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values as of the acquisition date, which included a $160 million intangible 
asset for customer relationships that has an estimated useful life of 10 years. Accordingly, Adient recorded a deferred tax liability 
of $57 million related to the intangible asset. Adient also recognized $3 million of acquisition-related costs. The tax benefit 
associated with the acquisition-related costs was not material. 

In fiscal 2018, Adient committed to a significant restructuring plan (2018 Plan) and recorded a net $46 million of restructuring 
and impairment costs in the consolidated statements of income. Refer to Note 18, "Restructuring and Impairment Costs," of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information. The restructuring costs generated a $6 million tax benefit, 
which was negatively impacted by geographic mix and Adient’s current tax position in these jurisdictions. The disclosed tax benefit 
is prior to valuation allowances recorded during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. 
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient recognized a pre-tax impairment charge on long-lived assets of $787 million within 
the SS&M reportable segment. Refer to Note 19, "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets," of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for additional information. The tax benefit associated with the impairment charge was $185 million, which was 
negatively impacted by geographic mix and Adient’s current tax position in these jurisdictions. The disclosed tax benefit is prior 
to valuation allowances recorded during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. 

In addition during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient recognized a pre-tax non-cash impairment charge of $358 million in 
equity income related to Adient’s YFAI investment balance within the Interiors segment. Refer to Note 22, "Nonconsolidated 
Partially-Owned Affiliates," of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information. The tax benefit 
associated with the impairment charge was $36 million. 

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2018, Adient recognized a net pre-tax impairment charge of $49 million related to 
assets classified as held for sale. Refer to Note 2, "Acquisitions and Divestitures," of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for additional information. The tax benefit associated with the impairment charge was $14 million. The disclosed tax 
benefit is prior to valuation allowances recorded during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. 

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient recognized a pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of $299 million related to the 
SS&M reportable segment. Refer to Note 3, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for additional information. The tax benefit associated with the goodwill impairment charge was $20 million. 

In fiscal 2017, Adient committed to a significant restructuring plan (2017 Plan) and recorded $46 million of restructuring and 
impairment costs in the consolidated statements of income. Refer to Note 18, "Restructuring and Impairment Costs," of the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements for additional information. The restructuring costs generated a $7 million tax benefit, 
which was negatively impacted by geographic mix and Adient’s current tax position in these jurisdictions. 

21. Segment Information

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient restructured certain of its management organization in response to the challenges 
faced in the seat structures and mechanisms business, resulting in a realignment of its reportable segments. Adient also began 
using an adjusted EBITDA metric to assess the performance of its segments and ceased allocating certain corporate-related costs 
to its segments. Prior period segment information has been recast to align with this change in organizational structure, the use of 
a new performance metric and to reflect unallocated corporate-related costs. Pursuant to this change, Adient operates in the 
following three reportable segments for financial reporting purposes:

• Seating: This segment produces complete seat systems for automotive and other mobility applications, as well as certain 
components of complete seat systems, such as foam, trim and fabric.

• Seat Structures & Mechanisms (SS&M): This segment produces seat structures and mechanisms for inclusion in complete 
seat systems that are produced by Adient or others.

• Interiors: This segment, derived from Adient's global automotive interiors joint ventures, produces instrument panels, 
floor consoles, door panels, overhead consoles, cockpit systems, decorative trim and other products.

Adient evaluates the performance of its reportable segments using an adjusted EBITDA metric defined as income before income 
taxes and noncontrolling interests, excluding net financing charges, qualified restructuring and impairment costs, restructuring 
related-costs, incremental "Becoming Adient" costs, separation costs, net mark-to-market adjustments on pension and 
postretirement plans, transaction gains/losses, purchase accounting amortization, depreciation, stock-based compensation and 
other non-recurring items ("Adjusted EBITDA"). Also, certain corporate-related costs are not allocated to the segments. The 
reportable segments are consistent with how management views the markets served by Adient and reflect the financial information 
that is reviewed by its chief operating decision maker. 
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Financial information relating to Adient's reportable segments is as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Net Sales

Seating $ 15,704 $ 14,742
SS&M 3,003 2,810
Eliminations (1,268) (1,339)

Total net sales $ 17,439 $ 16,213

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Adjusted EBITDA

Seating $ 1,411 $ 1,578
SS&M (168) 82
Interiors 62 93

Corporate-related costs (1) (105) (148)
Becoming Adient costs (2) (62) (95)
Separation costs (3) — (10)
Restructuring and impairment costs (4) (1,181) (46)
Purchase accounting amortization (5) (69) (43)
Restructuring related charges (6) (61) (37)
Pension mark-to-market (7) 24 45
Impairment of nonconsolidated partially owned affiliate (8) (358) —
Gain on previously-held interest (9) — 151
Depreciation (10) (393) (332)
Stock based compensation (11) (37) (29)
Other items (12) (40) (16)

Earnings (loss) before interest and income taxes (977) 1,193
Net financing charges (144) (132)

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (1,121) $ 1,061
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Notes:

(1) Corporate-related costs not allocated to the segments include executive office, communications, corporate development, 
legal, finance and marketing. 

(2) Reflects incremental expenses associated with becoming an independent company.
(3) Reflects expenses associated with and incurred prior to the separation from the former Parent. 
(4) Reflects qualified restructuring charges for costs that are directly attributable to restructuring activities and meet the 

definition of restructuring under ASC 420 and non-recurring impairment charges. Fiscal 2018 restructuring and 
impairment costs includes a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $1,086 in the SS&M business ($787 million related 
to long-lived assets $299 million related to goodwill), a $49 million non-cash impairment charge related to assets held 
for sale and a $46 million qualified restructuring charge. Refer to Note 3, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," Note 
4, "Property, Plant and Equipment,"  Note 18, "Restructuring and Impairment Costs," and Note 19, "Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets," of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more information. Amounts in prior fiscal years 
relate primarily to qualified restructuring.

(5) Reflects amortization of intangible assets including those related to partially owned affiliates recorded within equity 
income.

(6) Reflects restructuring related charges for costs that are directly attributable to restructuring activities, but do not meet 
the definition of restructuring under ASC 420. 

(7) Reflects net mark-to-market adjustments on pension and postretirement plans.
(8) Reflects a non-cash impairment charge related to Adient's YFAI investment balance, which has been recorded within 

the  equity income line in the consolidated statements of income.  See  Note 22, "Nonconsolidated Partially-Owned 
Affiliates," for more information.

(9) An amendment to the rights agreement of a seating affiliate in China was finalized in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017 
giving Adient control of the previously non-consolidated affiliate. Adient began consolidating the entity in July 2017 
and was required to apply purchase accounting, including recognizing a gain on our previously held interest, which has 
been recorded in equity income.

(10) For the twelve months ended September 30, 2018, depreciation excludes $7 million, which is included in restructuring 
related charges discussed above. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2017, depreciation excludes $5 million 
which is included in Becoming Adient costs discussed above. 

(11) For the twelve months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, stock based compensation excludes $10 million and $16 
million, respectively. These amounts are included in Becoming Adient costs discussed above.

(12) The twelve months ended September 30, 2018 primarily includes $22 million integration costs associated with the 
acquisition of Futuris, $11 million of non-recurring consulting fees related to SS&M, and a $8 million charge related to 
the impact of the U.S. tax reform on YFAI. The twelve months ended September 30, 2017 primarily includes $3 million 
of transaction costs associated with the acquisition of Futuris and $12 million of initial funding of the Adient foundation. 
The twelve months ended September 30, 2016 includes a $24 million multi-employer pension credit associated with the 
removal of costs for pension plans that remained with the former Parent, $22 million of favorable settlements from prior 
year business divestitures, a $20 million favorable legal settlement and a $13 million favorable commercial settlement.
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Year Ended September 30, 2018
Reportable Segments Reconciling 

Items(1) Consolidated(in millions) Seating SS&M Interiors
Net Sales $ 15,704 $ 3,003 $ — $ (1,268) $ 17,439
Equity Income 279 44 62 (398) (13)
Total Assets 7,631 1,380 672 1,259 10,942
Depreciation 211 179 — 10 400
Amortization 36 8 — 3 47
Capital Expenditures 281 255 — — 536

(1) Reconciling items include the elimination of intercompany transactions, corporate-related assets, depreciation and 
amortization and amounts to reconcile to consolidated totals. Specific reconciling items included in equity income are a 
$358 million non-cash impairment charge related to Adient's YFAI investment balance, $22 million of purchase accounting 
amortization related to the YFAI joint venture, $10 million of restructuring related charges and a $8 million charge related 
to the impact of the U.S. tax reform on YFAI. Corporate-related assets primarily include cash, deferred income tax assets, 
and Adient's aviation assets.

Year Ended September 30, 2017
Reportable Segments Reconciling 

Items(1) Consolidated(in millions) Seating SS&M Interiors
Net Sales $ 14,742 $ 2,810 $ — $ (1,339) $ 16,213
Equity Income 264 37 93 128 522
Total Assets 8,096 2,115 1,109 1,850 13,170
Depreciation 183 145 — 9 337
Amortization 10 7 — 4 21
Capital Expenditures 291 259 — 27 577

(1) Reconciling items include the elimination of intercompany transactions, corporate-related assets, depreciation and 
amortization and amounts to reconcile to consolidated totals. Included in equity income is a $151 million gain on a previously 
held interest in a China Seating affiliate that Adient began consolidating in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017 as a result of 
an amendment to the related rights agreement, offset by $22 million of purchase accounting amortization related to the 
YFAI joint venture and $1 million of restructuring related costs related to the YFAI joint venture. Corporate-related assets 
primarily include cash, deferred income tax assets, and Adient's aviation assets

Geographic Information

Financial information relating to Adient's operations by geographic area is as follows:

Net Sales
  Year Ended September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017

United States $ 6,118 $ 5,798
Germany 1,464 1,584
Mexico 1,177 1,079
Other European countries 5,519 5,012
Other foreign 3,161 2,740

Total $ 17,439 $ 16,213
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Long-Lived Assets
  Year Ended September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017

United States $ 474 $ 685
Germany 197 380
Mexico 161 277
Other European countries 556 873
Other foreign 295 287

Total $ 1,683 $ 2,502

Net sales attributed to geographic locations are based on the location of the assets producing the sales. Long-lived assets by 
geographic location consist of net property, plant and equipment.

22. Nonconsolidated Partially-Owned Affiliates

Investments in the net assets of nonconsolidated partially-owned affiliates are reported in the "Investments in partially-owned 
affiliates" line in the consolidated statements of financial position as of September 30, 2018 and 2017. Equity in the net income 
of nonconsolidated partially-owned affiliates are reported in the "Equity income" line in the consolidated statements of income 
(loss) for the years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016. Adient maintains total investments in partially-owned affiliates of 
$1.4 billion and $1.8 billion at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Operating information for nonconsolidated partially-
owned affiliates is as follows:

% ownership
Name of partially-owned affiliate 2018 2017
Seating

Changchun FAWAY Adient Automotive Systems Co. Ltd. (CFAA) 49.0% 49.0%
Yanfeng Adient Seating Co., Ltd. (YFAS) 49.9% 49.9%

SS&M
Adient Yanfeng Seating Mechanism Co., Ltd. (AYM) 50.0% 50.0%

Interiors
Yanfeng Global Automotive Interiors Systems Co., Ltd. (YFAI) 30.0% 30.0%

Year Ended
September 30,

(in millions) 2018 2017
Income statement data:

Net sales $ 18,258 $ 17,262
Gross profit 2,214 1,994
Net income 823 1,039
Net income attributable to the entity 773 974
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September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Balance sheet data:

Current assets $ 7,716 $ 7,720
Noncurrent assets 3,455 3,157
Current liabilities 7,579 7,362
Noncurrent liabilities 433 380
Noncontrolling interests 120 139

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, Adient concluded that indicators of potential impairment were present related to the 
investment in YFAI based on the declines in operating performance during fiscal 2018 along with declines in projections of the 
YFAI business for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, Adient deemed such issues to represent an other-than-temporary decline 
and undertook an impairment analysis to determine the fair value of the investment in YFAI, which was completed under an 
income approach utilizing discounted cash flows to derive a fair value of the investment in YFAI. Based on the fair value, the 
carrying value of the investment in YFAI exceeded fair value by $358 million, and as such Adient recorded a non-cash impairment 
charge within equity income in the consolidated statements of income (loss) for that amount in the fourth quarter of 2018. The 
inputs utilized in the analyses are classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy as defined in ASC 820, "Fair Value 
Measurement" and primarily consist of expected future operating margins and cash flows of YFAI, estimated production volumes, 
weighted average cost of capital (12.5%) and noncontrolling interest discounts. To the extent that profitability continues to decline 
as compared to forecasted profitability or if adverse changes occur to key assumptions or other fair value measurement inputs, 
further impairment of Adient's YFAI investment could occur in the future.

23. Commitments and Contingencies

Adient accrues for potential environmental liabilities when it is probable a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability 
is reasonably estimable. Reserves for environmental liabilities totaled $8 million and $9 million at September 30, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. Adient reviews the status of its environmental sites on a quarterly basis and adjusts its reserves accordingly. Such 
potential liabilities accrued by Adient do not take into consideration possible recoveries of future insurance proceeds. They do, 
however, take into account the likely share other parties will bear at remediation sites. It is difficult to estimate Adient's ultimate 
level of liability at many remediation sites due to the large number of other parties that may be involved, the complexity of 
determining the relative liability among those parties, the uncertainty as to the nature and scope of the investigations and remediation 
to be conducted, the uncertainty in the application of law and risk assessment, the various choices and costs associated with diverse 
technologies that may be used in corrective actions at the sites, and the often quite lengthy periods over which eventual remediation 
may occur. Nevertheless, Adient does not currently believe that any claims, penalties or costs in connection with known 
environmental matters will have a material adverse effect on Adient's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

Adient is involved in various lawsuits, claims and proceedings incident to the operation of its businesses, including those pertaining 
to product liability, casualty environmental, safety and health, intellectual property, employment, commercial and contractual 
matters, and various other matters. Although the outcome of any such lawsuit, claim or proceeding cannot be predicted with 
certainty and some may be disposed of unfavorably to Adient, it is management's opinion that none of these will have a material 
adverse effect on Adient's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Costs related to such matters were not material 
to the periods presented.
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24. Directors' Remuneration

Adient's directors' remuneration for fiscal years 2018 and 2017 is set forth in the table below. R. Bruce McDonald stepped down 
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") effective June 11, 2018 and continued employment in a non-executive officer 
role until retirement on September 30, 2018. Mr. McDonald has not been compensated for services performed as a director.   

Frederick A. Henderson was appointed interim CEO effective June 11, 2018 through September 30, 2018. On October 1, 2018 
Douglas G. Del Grosso become President and CEO. 
 
The amounts below include compensation for Mr. McDonald's service as CEO until June 11, 2018 and Mr Henderson's service 
as interim CEO between June 11 and September 30, 2018, as well as compensation for all non-employee directors in their capacities 
as such:

Year ended September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Salary for managerial and directors' services $ 5 $ 5
Gain on stock option exercises — 5
Value realized on stock award vesting 11 17
Non-qualified defined benefit plan distribution 2 1

$ 18 $ 28

25. Auditors' Remuneration

Auditors' remuneration paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Ireland included $0.3 million and $0.4 million of audit fees for fiscal 
2018 and 2017, respectively.

Auditors' remuneration to affiliates of PricewaterhouseCoopers Ireland for fiscal years 2018 and 2017 are presented in the table 
below. 

Year ended September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Audit fees (1) $ 12 $ 11
Audit related fees (2) — 1
Tax fees (3) 1 1
All other fees (4) 1 —

$ 14 $ 13

(1) In 2018 and 2017, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP billed Adient for professional services rendered for the audit of Adient’s 
annual financial statements, the audits of Adient’s internal control over financial reporting, statutory and subsidiary audits, 
the review of documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and certain accounting consultations in 
connection with the audits.

(2) Audit related fees include: accounting consultations and audits in connection with proposed acquisitions and divestitures, 
and adoption of new accounting standards.

(3) Tax fees consist principally of professional services rendered by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for tax compliance and tax 
planning and advice including assistance with tax audits and appeals, and tax advice related to mergers and acquisitions.

(4) All other fees primarily represent fees associated with advisory services, training seminars related to accounting, finance 
and tax matters, and information technology consulting.
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26. Employees

The average number of persons employed by Adient during the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was 85,000.

Total employee costs consist of the following:

Year ended September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Wages and salaries $ 2,861 $ 2,427
Social insurance costs 530 493
Stock based compensation 46 44
Retirement benefit costs 28 40
Other compensation costs 24 13

$ 3,489 $ 3,017

27. Related Party Transactions

In the ordinary course of business, Adient enters into transactions with related parties, such as equity affiliates. Such transactions 
consist of facility management services, the sale or purchase of goods and other arrangements. Subsequent to the separation, 
transactions with the former Parent and its businesses represent third-party transactions.

The following table sets forth the turnover to and purchases from related parties included in the combined statements of operations:

Year Ended September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Sales to related parties $ 389 $ 409
Purchases from related parties 614 511

The following table sets forth the amount of accounts receivable due from and payable to related parties in the combined statements 
of financial position:

Year Ended September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Receivable from related parties $ 91 $ 129
Payable to related parties 102 104

Average receivable and payable balances with related parties remained consistent with the period end balances shown above.
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Allocations from Former Parent 

Prior to the separation, the consolidated statements of income included allocations for certain support functions that were provided 
on a centralized basis by the former Parent and subsequently recorded at the business unit level, such as expenses related to 
employee benefits, finance, human resources, risk management, information technology, facilities, and legal, among others. 
Included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expense during the year ended September 30, 2016 was $294 
million of corporate expenses incurred by the former Parent. In addition to these allocations, approximately $458 million of costs 
related to the separation of Adient were incurred by the former Parent for the year ended September 30, 2016. Of these amounts, 
$369 million was deemed to directly benefit Adient as a stand-alone company, for the year ended September 30, 2016. Accordingly, 
these costs were allocated to Adient and are reflected within selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statements of income. Additionally, certain intercompany transactions prior to the separation between Adient and the former Parent 
have not been recorded as related party transactions. These transactions were considered to be effectively settled for cash at the 
time the transaction was recorded. The total net effect of the settlement of these intercompany transactions was reflected in the 
consolidated statements of cash flows as a financing activity and in the consolidated statements of financial position as Parent's 
net investment. During fiscal 2017, allocations from the former Parent were insignificant. During fiscal 2017, Adient and the 
former Parent finalized the reconciliation of working capital and other accounts and the net amount due from the former Parent 
of $87 million was settled in accordance with the separation agreement. The impact of the settlement is reflected within additional 
paid-in capital.

28. Subsequent Events

On February 6, 2019, Adient entered into an amendment to the Amended Credit Facilities (“Second Amended Credit Facilities") 
whereby the financial maintenance covenant contained in the Amended Credit Facilities was amended to require Adient to maintain 
a first lien secured net leverage ratio equal to or less than 2.5x adjusted EBITDA as of the last day of each quarter, with step down 
provisions starting on September 30, 2020. The amendment also added a new tier to the pricing schedule that will be applicable 
when the total net leverage ratio exceeds 4.0x adjusted EBITDA and amended certain other definitions, negative covenants and 
other terms within the credit facility. 
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29. Significant Subsidiaries

In accordance with section 316(1) of the Act, the subsidiaries that have been included below are restricted to significant subsidiaries 
of Adient, as defined by Section 1.02(w) of the Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-X, as of September 30, 2018:

Name
Nature of
Business

Group
Ordinary

Share
Registered Office and

Country of Incorporation
Adient & Summit Corporation Ltd. Seating 68.0% Thailand
Adient (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Seating 68.0% Thailand
Adient Asia Holdings Co., Limited Seating 100.0% Hong Kong
Adient Automotive Argentina S.R.L. Seating 100.0% Argentina
Adient Automotive Components (M) Sdn. Bhd. Seating 89.0% Malaysia
Adient Automotive Interior Investment Co., Limited Seating 100.0% Hong Kong
Adient Automotive Romania S.R.L. Seating 100.0% Romania
Adient Automotive Seating (M) Sdn. Bhd. Seating 89.0% Malaysia
Adient Automotive S.L. Seating 100.0% Spain
Adient Belgium BVBA Seating 100.0% Belgium
Adient Beteiligungs GmbH Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient Bor s.r.o. Seating 100.0% Czech Republic
Adient Clanton Inc. SS&M 100.0% US
Adient Components Ltd. & Co. KG Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient Czech Republic k.s. Seating 100.0% Czech Republic
Adient do Brasil Bancos Automotivos Ltda. Seating 100.0% Brazil
Adient DongSung Inc Seating 60.0% Korea
Adient Eldon Inc. Seating 100.0% US
Adient Engineering and IP GmbH Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient Fabrics France SAS Seating 100.0% France
Adient Fabrics Spain, S.A. Seating 100.0% Spain
Adient Financial Luxembourg S.a r.l. Seating 100.0% Luxembourg
Adient France SAS Seating 100.0% France
Adient Germany Ltd. & Co. KG. Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient GK Seating 100.0% Japan
Adient Global Holdings Ltd Seating 100.0% Jersey
Adient Holding Czech Republic s.r.o. Seating 100.0% Czech Republic
Adient Hungary Kft. Seating 100.0% Hungary
Adient IM Mexico Properties, S. de R.L. de C.V. Seating 100.0% Mexico
Adient India Private Limited Seating 100.0% India
Adient Interior Hong Kong Limited Seating 100.0% Hong Kong
Adient Interiors Ltd. & Co. KG Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient Interiors Management GmbH Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient Korea Inc Seating 100.0% Korea
Adient Ltd. & Co. KG Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient Mexico Automotriz S. de R.L. de C.V. Seating 100.0% Mexico
Adient Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. Seating 100.0% Mexico

Seating 100.0% Hungary
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Adient Novo mesto, proizvodnja avtomobilskih sedežev, d.o.o. Seating 100.0% Slovenia
Adient Poland Sp. z o.o. Seating 100.0% Poland
Adient Properties UK Ltd Seating 100.0% UK
Adient Real Estate Holding Germany GmbH Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient Saarlouis Ltd. & Co. KG Seating 100.0% Germany
Adient Seating Canada LP Seating 100.0% Canada
Adient Seating d.o.o. Seating 100.0% Serbia

Seating 100.0% Poland
Adient Seating Slovakia s.r.o. Seating 100.0% Slovakia
Adient Real Estate Holding Spain S.L. Seating 100.0% Spain
Adient Seating Holding Spain S.L. Seating 100.0% Spain
Adient Seating Spain S.L. Seating 100.0% Spain
Adient Seating UK Ltd Seating 100.0% UK
Adient Slovenj Gradec, proizvodnja sestavnih delov za
avtomobilske sedeze, d.o.o. Seating 100.0% Slovenia
Adient South Africa (Pty) Ltd. Seating 100.0% South Africa
Adient Strakonice s.r.o. Seating 100.0% Czech Republic
Adient Strasbourg Seating 100.0% France
Adient Sweden AB Seating 100.0% Sweden
Adient US LLC Seating 100.0% US
Avanzar Interior Technologies, Ltd. Seating 49.0% US
Beijing Adient Automotive Components Co., Ltd. Seating 51.0% China
Bridgewater Interiors, LLC Seating 49.0% US
Ensamble de Interiores Automotrices, S. de R.L. de C.V. Seating 100.0% Mexico
Futuris Automotive (CA) LLC Seating 100.0% US
Guangzhou Adient Automotive Seating Co. Ltd. Seating 52.0% China
PT Adient Automotive Indonesia Seating 75.0% Indonesia
Recaro Japan Co., Ltd. Seating 100.0% Japan
Recaro North America, Inc. Seating 100.0% US
TechnoTrim de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. Seating 51.0% Mexico
TechnoTrim, Inc. Seating 51.0% US
Trim Leader, a.s Seating 51.0% Slovakia
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30. Audit Exemptions

The following United Kingdom domiciled companies within the Adient Plc group will adopt the Department for Business, 
Innovation and Skills audit exemption for the year ended 30 September 2018 as the ultimate parent company, Adient Plc will 
guarantee the various debts and liabilities held within these companies as required under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006.

Company Company Registration Number
Adient Financing International Ltd 10404318
Adient Financing Ltd 10403926
Adient Holding Europe Ltd 9882999
Adient Holding Germany Ltd 9945404
Adient Holding Ltd 9975841
Adient Ltd 9921320
Adient UK Financing International Ltd 10443371
Adient UK Financing Ltd 10443283
Adient UK Global Financing Ltd 10481459
Michel Thierry UK Ltd 6715114
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(in millions) Note
September 30,

2018
September 30,

2017
Fixed assets

Financial assets 2 $ 2 $ 1,392

Other assets
Cash at bank and in hand — 62
Debtors (amounts falling due within one year) 6 — 11
Debtors (amounts falling due after one year) 6 3,700 5,993

3,700 6,066
Current liabilities

Creditors 7 30 27
Net assets $ 3,672 $ 7,431

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital presented as equity 9 $ — $ —
Share premium account 500 500
Other reserves 32 13
Profit and loss account 3,140 6,918

Shareholders' equity $ 3,672 $ 7,431

Approved by the Board of Directors on February 11, 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

/s/ Douglas G. Del Grosso
Douglas G. Del Grosso
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

/s/ Richard Goodman
Richard Goodman
Director

February 11, 2019 
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Called-up Share Capital
Ordinary Shares Deferred Shares

(dollars in millions) Number Amount Number Amount
Share

Premium
Profit and

Loss Account
Other

Reserves Total
Balance as of September 30, 2016 — $ — 25,000 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —

Issuance of ordinary shares 93,671,810 $ — — $ — $ 4,263 $ — $ — $ 4,263
Cancellation of deferred shares — — (25,000) — — — — —
Transfer of share premium to profit and loss account — — — — (3,763) 3,763 — —
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — — 3,273 — 3,273
Dividends — — — — — (78) — (78)
Repurchase and retirement of ordinary shares (573,437) — — — — (40) — (40)
Share based compensation 43,910 — — — — — 13 13
Balance as of September 30, 2017 93,142,283 $ — — $ — $ 500 $ 6,918 $ 13 $ 7,431

Total comprehensive income for the year — $ — — $ — $ — $ (3,701) $ — $ (3,701)
Dividends — — — — — (77) — (77)
Share based compensation 253,379 — — — — — 19 19
Balance as of September 30, 2018 93,395,662 $ — — $ — $ 500 $ 3,140 $ 32 $ 3,672
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1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Adient was incorporated on June 24, 2016 as a private limited company incorporated in Ireland (registered number 584907) and 
was re-registered as a public limited company on October 3, 2016. Adient was capitalized with €25,000 at the end of September 
2016 in conjunction with re-registering as a public limited company.

The principal activity of Adient is investment holding. Its registered office is located at 25-28 North Wall Quay, IFSC, Dublin 1, 
Ireland.

On July 24, 2015, Johnson Controls, Inc. announced its intent to separate its automotive seating and interiors businesses into an 
independent, publicly traded company—Adient. To implement the separation, on October 31, 2016 Adient acquired the shares of 
Johnson Controls, Inc.'s automotive seating and interiors businesses, and in return, Adient distributed its ordinary shares as described 
in the following paragraph. This resulted in the Company recording an investment in a subsidiary and a corresponding increase 
in equity of $4.26 billion.

On September 2, 2016, Johnson Controls, Inc. and Tyco International plc completed their previously announced combination 
pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger"). Following the Merger, the combined entity was renamed Johnson 
Controls International plc. The distribution of Adient ordinary shares occurred after the consummation of this merger, and the 
record date for the distribution and the distribution date were set by the board of directors of Johnson Controls International plc 
following the Merger. As a result, former shareholders of both Johnson Controls, Inc. and Tyco International plc who held shares 
of the combined company as of the record date received Adient ordinary shares in the distribution.

Johnson Controls International plc completed the separation of its automotive seating and interiors businesses on October 31, 
2016, after which Adient has operated as an independent company. Adient ordinary shares are listed on the NYSE under the symbol 
"ADNT" and began "regular-way" trading on October 31, 2016.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been properly prepared in conformity with Financial Accounting Standard 102, 'The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland' (FRS 102).

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in United States dollars and reflect the operations of Adient ("we," 
"us," or "our").

Statement of compliance
The entity financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with accounting standards issued 
by the UK Financial Reporting Council and the Companies Act 2014. The entity financial statements comply with Financial 
Reporting Standard 102, the financial reporting standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102).

Going concern
After making inquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that Adient has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Therefore these entity financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Financial year
Adient's financial year ends on September 30. Any reference to 2016 is to the period from June 24, 2016, the date of incorporation, 
through September 30, 2016.
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Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with the basis of preparation outlined above requires management to 
make use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The significant 
estimates used by Adient are those included in the impairment assessment of investments in subsidiaries.

Adient plc's investment in subsidiaries was initially recorded at fair value on October 31, 2016. The fair value of investment in 
subsidiary was initially based on Adient's market capitalization using the closing share price at that date and became Adient plc's 
cost basis for its investment. During the year ended September 30, 2017, Adient entered into a transaction whereby the initial 
investment in subsidiaries was transferred to Adient's Luxembourg entity at fair value, as determined based on Adient's market 
capitalization using the closing share price on the transaction date. 

The investments are tested for impairment if circumstances or indicators suggest that impairment may exist. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In the fourth quarter 
of fiscal 2018, Adient concluded its financial assets and debtors balances have been impaired due to the significant performance 
issues with the subsidiaries primarily belonging to the Seating Structures & Mechanisms (SS&M) and Interiors segments that 
persisted in fiscal 2018. Refer to Note 2, "Financial Assets," and Note 6, "Debtors."   

Financial Assets
Basic financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits, are initially recognized at transaction price 
(including transaction costs). Cash and cash equivalents and financial assets from arrangements which constitute financing 
transactions are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. At the end of each financial year, 
financial assets measured at amortized costs are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset measured at amortized cost is impaired, an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. The impairment loss 
is the difference between the financial asset's carrying amount and the present value of the financial asset's estimated cash inflows 
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. If, in a subsequent financial year, the amount of an impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would 
have been had the impairment loss not previously been recognized. The impairment reversal is recognized in profit or loss. Financial 
assets are derecognized when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (b) substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to another party or (c) control of the financial asset 
has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the financial asset to an unrelated third party 
without imposing additional restrictions.

Cash at bank and in hand
Adient considers all highly liquid investments purchased with maturities of three months or less from the time of purchase to be 
cash equivalents.

Financial Liabilities
Basic financial liabilities, including amounts due to subsidiary undertakings, are initially recognized at transaction price, unless 
the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, the resulting 
financial liability is initially measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a 
similar debt instrument. Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings and financial liabilities from arrangements which constitute 
financing transactions are subsequently carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are 
derecognized when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged, canceled or expires.

Share Based Compensation Accounting
Adient has applied the requirements of FRS 102 Section 26 Share-Based Payment in accounting for all share based compensation, 
consequently the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees 
and directors is based on estimated fair values.

Adient issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees of its subsidiaries. Equity-settled share based payments 
are measured at fair value at the date of grant and recognized over the vesting period, based on Adient's estimate of the shares that 
will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. These awards are typically share settled 
unless the employee is a non-US employee or elects to defer settlement until retirement, at which point the award would be settled 
in cash. The fair value of cash settled awards are recalculated at the end of each reporting period and the liability and expense are 
adjusted based on the new fair value. All related share-based compensation expense  for employees is recharged by Adient to its 
subsidiaries and shown as a reduction to the financial asset on the balance sheet.
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Dividends
Dividends may only be declared and paid out of the profits available for distribution ("distributable reserves") in accordance with 
accounting practice generally accepted in Ireland and applicable Irish company law. Dividends are declared and paid in U.S. 
dollars.

The initial share premium upon the issuance of shares on October 31, 2016 was calculated by reference to the fair value of Adient 
on that date based on Adient's market capitalization using the closing share price at that date less the par value of shares issued.

The creation of distributable reserves of Adient was accomplished by transferring a portion of share premium to the profit and 
loss account in the amount of $3,763 million, which the Irish High Court approved on December 5, 2016. See the Statement of 
Changes in Equity.

Share capital presented as equity
Equity shares issued are recognized at the proceeds received or the fair value of services provided. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new equity shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Functional and presentation currency
The currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates is the US dollar ($). These financial statements 
are presented in US dollars.

Foreign currencies
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into US dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the transaction date. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date.

Exemptions
Disclosure Exemptions for Qualifying Entities under FRS 102 - FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity to avail of certain disclosure 
exemptions. The company has taken advantage of the below exemptions for qualifying entities. These exemptions are:

(i) the requirement to prepare a statement of cash flows. [Section 7 of FRS 102 and paragraph 3 17(d)]
(ii) certain financial instrument disclosures providing equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group in which the entity is consolidated. [FRS 102 paragraph 11.39-11 48A, 12.26 - 12.29]
(iii) certain disclosure requirements of Section 26 in respect of share based payments provided that (a) for a subsidiary, 
the share based payment concerns equity instruments of another group entity; or (b) for an ultimate parent, the share 
based payment concerns its own equity instruments and its separate financial statements are presented alongside the 
consolidated financial statements of the group; and in both cases, the equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated 
financial statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated. [ FRS 102 paragraph 26.18(b), 26.19 - 26.21, 26.23]
(iv) related party disclosures related to key management services provided by a separate management entity. [paragraph 
18A of ISA24]

2. Financial Assets 

Financial assets included on the Company Balance Sheet are as follows:

(in millions) Financial Assets
As of September 30, 2017 $ 1,392
Additions 18
Impairment (1,408)
As of September 30, 2018 $ 2

The additions during fiscal 2017 arose from the separation of Johnson Controls International plc's automotive seating and interiors 
businesses to Adient plc through direct and indirect investments in subsidiaries and the transaction to transfer the investment in 
subsidiary. The additions during fiscal 2018 consisted primarily of share based compensation that the Company paid on behalf of 
its subsidiaries.  
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The initial valuation of the businesses, based on the closing share price on October 31, 2016, became Adient's initial cost basis 
for its investment in subsidiaries. The value of the financial asset was updated at the date of the transfer of the investment in 
subsidiaries based in total on the closing share price on the transaction date. As of September 30, 2017, the balance consisted 
primarily of investments in subsidiaries of $1.39 billion. A note receivable of $6.0 billion was also generated as part of the transfer 
of the investment in subsidiaries as presented in Note 6, "Debtors." 

As of September 30, 2018, Adient assessed whether there is objective evidence that impairment of the financial assets balance has 
occurred. Due to declining operating results of its subsidiaries and affiliates, especially those belonging to the SS&M and Interiors 
segments, Adient concluded that the financial assets balance was fully impaired and recorded $1.408 billion of impairment charge. 
The impairment was measured, depending on the asset, either under value-in-use approach utilizing forecasted future cash flows 
or a market approach utilizing appraisal techniques to determine fair values of the impaired assets. The methods are consistent 
with the methods Adient employed in prior periods to value other long-lived assets.  

Adient plc directly owns the following financial investments as of September 30, 2018:

Ownership %

Company Country Type
September 30,

2018
Date of

Acquisition
Adient Global Holdings Sarl Luxembourg Holding co. 100% April 26, 2017
Adient Holding Ireland Limited Ireland Holding co. 100% June 20, 2017
Adient International Ltd. Jersey Holding co. 6% June 18, 2017

3. Guarantees and Contingencies 

As of September 30, 2018, Adient was the guarantor of a term loan in the aggregate amount of $1.5 billion, a term loan from 
European Investment Bank in the aggregate amount of €165 million, a revolving facility in the aggregate amount of $1.5 billion, 
$0.9 billion aggregate principal amount of 4.875% dollar-denominated senior unsecured notes due 2026 and €1 billion aggregate 
principal amount of 3.50% euro-denominated senior unsecured notes due 2024. In addition, as of September 30, 2018, Adient was 
the guarantor of approximately $263 million of trade related guarantees.

4. Directors' Remuneration 

Adient's directors received approximately $1.5 million of emoluments in each of the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. 
The directors were also compensated through the issuance of shares, which vested immediately, that amounted to $1.5 million in 
each of the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. 

5. Auditors' Remuneration 

Adient's auditor received approximately $0.3 million and $0.4 million of remuneration during the years ended September 30, 
2018 and 2017, respectively, for the audit of the consolidated financial statements. The auditor received $0.1 million of 
remuneration for the audit of the company financial statements for each of the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.  
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6. Debtors 

Debtors included on the Company Balance Sheet are as follows:

Year ended September 30,
(in millions) 2018 2017
Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings $ — $ 11

Amounts falling due after one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 3,700 5,993

$ 3,700 $ 6,004

Amounts owed by parent undertakings and fellow subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of 
repayment and are repayable on demand.

As of September 30, 2018, Adient assessed whether there is objective evidence that impairment of the debtors balance has occurred. 
Due to declining operating results of its subsidiaries and affiliates, especially those belonging to the SS&M and Interiors segments, 
Adient recorded $2,293 million of impairment loss in fiscal 2018. The impairment was measured, depending on the asset, either 
under value-in-use approach utilizing forecasted future cash flows or a market approach utilizing appraisal techniques to determine 
fair values of the impaired assets. These methods are consistent with the methods Adient employed in prior periods to value other 
long-lived assets.
  

7. Creditors 

Creditors included on the Company Balance Sheet are as follows:

Year ended September 30
(in millions) 2018 2017
Amounts falling due within one year:
Accrued dividends $ — $ 26
Bank borrowings 29 —
Other accruals 1 1

$ 30 $ 27

8. Related Party Transactions 

Adient has availed of the exemption provided in FRS 102 Section 33, for disclosure of transactions with subsidiary undertakings, 
100% of whose voting rights are controlled within Adient. Consequently, the financial statements do not contain disclosures of 
transactions with other related entities in Adient. During financial years 2018 and 2017, only transactions with subsidiaries which 
are fully owned have occurred.
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9. Capital & Reserves

Share Capital

(dollars in thousands)
September 30,

2018
September 30,

2017
Authorised
500,000,000 ordinary shares of $0.001 each $ 500 $ 500
100,000,000 preferred shares of $0.001 each 100 100
25,000 deferred shares of €1.00 each — —

$ 600 $ 600
Allotted and Called-up share capital
93,395,662 and 93,142,283 ordinary shares, respectively, of $0.001 $ 93 $ 93
0 and 25,000 deferred shares, respectively, of €1.00 each (€1 = $1.1184) — —
Total called-up share capital $ 93 $ 93

All proceeds from the issuance of shares were used to facilitate the establishment of Adient. Contemporaneously with the issuance 
by Adient of ordinary shares on October 31, 2016 (as described in Note 1) the 1 ordinary share of $0.001 and 25,000 euro deferred 
shares of €1.00 each as of September 30, 2016 were redeemed and canceled.

Share Premium
Share Premium comprises of a premium arising on the issue of shares. (See Note 1 for details on the transfer of share premium 
to the profit and loss account.)

Profit and Loss Account
Profit and Loss Account represents accumulated comprehensive income for the financial year and prior year financial years plus 
share-based payment adjustments.

Other Reserves
Other Reserves represents the ordinary and deferred shares redeemed and canceled contemporaneously with the issuance by Adient 
of ordinary shares on October 31, 2016 and also includes share based compensation activity (as described in Note 1).

10. Controlling Parties 

As of September 30, 2016, the Company was wholly owned by Cafico Trust Company Limited, an Irish incorporated company 
that provides corporate services. As outlined in Note 1, upon the completion of the separation on October 31, 2016, Adient became 
the ultimate controlling party of the automotive seating and interiors businesses transferred from Johnson Controls International 
plc.

11. Profit Attributable to Adient plc 

In accordance with Section 304(2) of the Companies Act of 2014, the Company is availing of the exemption provided from 
presenting and filing its individual Profit and Loss Account. Adient's loss for the year ended September 30, 2018 as determined 
in accordance with FRS 102 was $3,701 million. Adient's profit for the year ended September 30, 2017 as determined in accordance 
with FRS 102 was $3,273 million. 

12. Subsequent Events 

See Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements for details of subsequent events.

13. Approval of the Balance Sheet 

The financial statements were approved by the directors on February 11, 2019.
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